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Dominion Resources is one of the

nation’s leading energy companies.

We’re traded under the symbol “D”on the New York Stock Exchange and 

are proud to have the confidence of more than 350,000 shareholders. 

We’re also privileged to serve 5 million retail energy customers in nine states.

As one of the nation’s largest producers of natural gas and electric power,

we’re an established wholesale energy marketer.

Integrated
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Our $37.9 billion asset base includes

24,000 megawatts of electric

generation, 6.1 trillion cubic feet equivalent of proved gas and oil reserves,

and nearly 7,900 miles of natural gas transmission pipeline. We also operate 

a natural gas storage system with 960 billion cubic feet of capacity, the

nation’s largest.

Resources
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D id we have a good year? Absolutely. 

In 2002, we produced our highest-ever operating earnings—$4.83

per share—nearly 16 percent better than the year before.* Yet, our share price

closed at $54.90, down from $60.10 a year earlier. Even with our steady $2.58

annual dividend, that’s a total negative return of about 4.6 percent. But we fared

better than most energy companies. The Dow Jones utilities index produced a

total negative return of more than 23 percent while S&P indexes tracking 

the natural gas and power industries produced total negative returns of about 

42 percent and 15 percent, respectively. The S&P 500 sank more than 

22 percent under the weight of lingering economic uncertainty, accounting scan-

dals and a resulting loss of faith by investors.

Still, beating the indexes is cold comfort. Taking a slightly longer

view, I’m proud that our operating earnings per share are 60 percent higher than

before our merger with Consolidated Natural Gas in early 2000. At the end 

of 2002, we’d delivered a 3-year total return of more than 60 percent.

Yet, if you follow Dominion’s share price on a regular basis, you

probably feel as though you stepped off a locomotive onto a roller coaster. Last

year, our shares traded as high as $67.06 and as low as $35.40—a wider range

than we’ve ever seen. We missed our target to deliver a 15 percent total return—

the combination of share price increase and dividend.

Dear Shareholders,
Customers,
Employees—
and Short-term
Traders, Too:

*See page 23 for 

a reconciliation of 

our non-GAAP 

operating earnings to 

our GAAP earnings.
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Our natural gas and electric

power utilities serve a 

growing base of 4 million

retail customers and about 

1 million others in 

deregulated retail markets.
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Volatility in National Energy Markets  Difficult energy market and stock

market conditions played a key role in yet another volatile year.

As wholesale power markets collapsed, margins earned from energy

trading compressed substantially. More than 160,000 megawatts of new electric

generation nationally and more than 50,000 new megawatts being built in our

own markets were cancelled. Energy markets weakened further under the weight

of allegations of fraud and manipulation in California. As a result, some compa-

nies that specialize in building new generation and in energy trading now face

possible bankruptcy.

Through it all, though, we never got distracted from our core 

businesses. 

Vision, Fundamental Strengths Remain the Same  Our vision is the same:

we continue to operate—and will grow to an even more substantial position—

as a profitable natural gas and electric power company serving customers in

America’s most energy-intensive market: the Mid-Atlantic, Northeast and

Midwest. This market is home to our ever-growing base of 4 million retail utility

customers, and about 1 million others served by Dominion in the deregulated

marketplace. Roughly speaking, the region comprises about a quarter of the

nation’s land mass, but it accounts for 40 percent of the energy consumed. 

Our strategy is the same: With $37.9 billion in assets, we have the

opportunity to earn profits at all points along what academics call the “value

chain” of the natural gas and electric power industries—wholesale production,

natural gas storage, regulated transportation and regulated retail utilities. 

Through it all, we never
got distracted from our
core businesses.



Service Areas

Electric Franchise Area

Natural Gas Franchise Area

Corporate Headquarters
Richmond, Virginia

If I ran a corner grocery store, I’d say our shop 
is in the right location. It carries products that 
consumers want and need, and it employs great
people who are doing right by their customers.

Commercial and large 

industrial customers benefit

from our competitively priced

energy created by our effi-

cient production facilities.
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Our commitment to safety, efficiency, productivity and ethical 

behavior remains unchanged.

If I ran a corner grocery store, I’d say our shop is in the right location.

It carries products that consumers want and need, and it employs great people

who are doing right by their customers.

Integrated Resources Stabilize Earnings in Uncertain Times  Our product

lines yield revenues from regulated retail natural gas and electric utilities in

Virginia, North Carolina, West Virginia, Ohio and Pennsylvania. In a normal year,

these franchises produce about 25 percent of our operating segment earnings. 
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Our commitment 
to safety, efficiency,
productivity and 
ethical behavior 
remains unchanged.
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Our natural gas and oil exploration and production also contribute

about 25 percent to operating segment earnings—our biggest stake in unregulat-

ed commodity markets.

About half of operating segment earnings comes from Dominion

Energy, which oversees our gas and electric power transmission systems, energy

marketing, and 24,000 megawatts of electric generation. About 18,000

megawatts are dedicated to Dominion Virginia Power’s 2 million retail cus-

tomers. They are served under a sound restructuring law enacted in 1999 that

caps customer base electric rates until July 2007. The cap provides consumers

with years of rate stability and Dominion with a stable revenue stream that 

we can use to improve our business. The balance of our generation is merchant

power serving wholesale customers, most under long-term supply contracts.

Operating Earnings Increase  But even in tough times, our integrated assets

are reliable sources of earnings, as our 16 percent increase in 2002 operating

earnings illustrates.



Dominion drilled more than

875 onshore gas and oil

wells during 2002, adding 

to its long-lived natural gas

base in North America.

7
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By classifying these numbers as operating earnings, we show how

much our businesses earned before certain charges, such as restructuring costs.

This provides a useful snapshot for investors interested in ongoing earnings

power. Earnings excluding certain charges are sometimes called “pro-forma” 

earnings. If you read the business pages, you saw some companies draw fire for

pushing the pro-forma envelope beyond reasonable bounds. The rule makers are

rightly working to set up more standardized rules. In the meantime, I see this as

a revealing window on the heart, soul and intent of a corporate management, as

well as its underlying earnings power. Judgments have to be made about how to

characterize revenues and expenses. At Dominion, our internal and external

accountants are fully empowered to speak their minds to me or the audit com-

mittee of our board of directors.

As an investor, you should evaluate companies based not only on

their pro-forma earnings, but also on their reported earnings to the Securities 

& Exchange Commission under Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, or

GAAP. Our GAAP earnings in 2002 amounted to $4.82 per share, up from

GAAP earnings of $2.15 per share a year earlier. In 2002, our pro-forma and 



Baseload 53.0%

Intermediate 26.3%

Peaking 20.7%

Coal 27.8%

Gas/Other 24.3%

Nuclear 21.8%

Purchases 16.4%

Oil 9.7%

Generation: Unit Mix Generation: Fuel MixCurrent Current

In 2003 we’re targeting operating earnings 
in the range of $4.60 to $4.80 per share, slightly
lower than 2002.
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GAAP earnings almost matched because we had only two adjustments that net-

ted out to a penny a share. When our GAAP and pro-forma earnings are 

different, we’ll tell you what caused the difference, as we do on page 23.

In 2003, we’re targeting operating earnings in the range of $4.60 to

$4.80 per share, slightly lower than 2002. Looking farther out, we expect average

annual operating earnings per share growth of 5 to 7 percent, a lower range than

our previous target of 10 percent. This reflects our industry’s more challenging

outlook.

Swift, Hard Decisions Position Dominion as Industry Leader  Flip on any

of the cable business networks and you’ll see that cash flows and balance sheets

also have become mainstream business issues. But per-share earnings remains 

the most popular way pundits like to separate winners from losers in the stock

market. So you may wonder why we diluted our earnings by issuing 38 million

new shares in two public offerings to raise $1.7 billion in new equity in 2002. 

The answer is that Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s, the agencies that

rate the quality of our debt, toughened their grading system for all players.

Looking at the battered energy industry from their vantage point, I’d probably 
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have done the same. No matter how excited we are about our work, no matter

how bullish we are in the long-term, good leadership is not founded in delusion.

In our case, the agencies wanted us to run our businesses with a more conserva-

tively financed balance sheet.

Fundamental to Dominion’s advantage is our investment-grade rat-

ing—“BBB-plus”—an asset that tells lenders what rate to expect on the money

we borrow. This isn’t mysterious. Think of it as you would your own household

credit rating. Being able to borrow reasonably priced money when we need it is

critical to our ability to grow revenues and profits. It gives us a competitive

advantage when so many others are falling below investment grade.

Last year, we told you we were working to achieve a 55 percent 

debt-to-capital ratio. We’re now close to our goal—at 56.4 percent when 2002

ended. We’re even closer—55.6 percent—when you count $500 million we had

escrowed for debt repayment in January 2003. Over time, credit-rating agencies

want us to achieve an even lower ratio. We plan to meet this or any other reason-

able goal and sustain your dividend, because our high investment-grade rating is

our target, not a numeric ratio. First, we’ll expect to retain more earnings. And 

we expect to boost our equity account by more than $160 million annually from

customers and employees who increase their investment in Dominion through

dividend reinvestment, employee-matching stock and direct-stock purchase plans.

Our world-class nuclear opera-

tions are a critical competitive

advantage. Dominion’s North

Anna Unit 1 and Surry Unit 1

in 2002 were among the top

12 commercial reactors

world-wide as measured by

their capacity factors, accord-

ing to Nucleonics Week, a

division of the McGraw-Hill

Companies. Out of 436

nuclear units reporting, North

Anna Unit 1 and Surry Unit 1

ranked in 9th and 11th place,

respectively.



Dominion Energy installed 

a new crack-resistant vessel

head on North Anna Unit 2

as the year ended. Based 

on the project’s success,

Dominion will accelerate

vessel head replacements at

its remaining three Virginia

reactors and complete 

the work during refueling

outages in 2003.
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Measure Us by the Quality of Our Investments  However we raise our cash,

we ask you to judge us by how well we invest it. Let’s start with the investment

that generated the most news in 2002:

With demand for natural gas expected to grow at least 20 percent by

the end of the decade, we purchased the Cove Point liquefied natural gas (LNG)

facility on the Chesapeake Bay in Maryland for $225 million in cash. Cove Point’s

assets include an LNG import and storage terminal linked to an 85-mile natural

gas pipeline. Think of it as a big warehouse for gas in liquid form.

Already, Cove Point is fully booked. Companies paying to import,

store and move LNG through Cove Point will have access to high-growth energy

markets throughout the Mid-Atlantic.

We ask you to judge us by how well we invest 
our free cash and the cash we raise from issuing
securities.

Jim Cramp, senior LNG 

technician at Dominion’s 

Cove Point LNG facility,

installs a conduit as part of

the reactivation project.



We completed our purchase

of the Cove Point liquefied

natural gas facility in 

southern Maryland in late

2002. When it resumes

operations this year it will

serve important regional 

gas markets.

12



The 515-megawatt State

Line Power Station joined

our merchant fleet of 

generators beyond Virginia

in 2002. It serves

Commonwealth Edison of

Chicago through 2012.

We made environmental

upgrades at our 

Chesterfield Power Station

near Richmond.
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Our “merchant fleet” of generators beyond Virginia welcomed a 

top-flight Midwestern coal station last year. Merchant plants typically sell into

spot markets or are under contract to large customers or utilities. We bought 

the 515-megawatt State Line Power Station near the Illinois /Indiana border for

about $185 million, boosting the output of our existing merchant fleet to nearly

6,000 megawatts. Along with the plant, we got a contract to supply power to

Commonwealth Edison of Chicago through 2012.

Construction was completed on three natural gas-fired merchant gen-

erators in 2002 in Pennsylvania, Ohio and West Virginia. Unfortunately, they

entered markets that softened substantially after construction started and aren’t

currently producing the returns we’d initially hoped for. As a result, we’ve eased

up on the accelerator, slowed our construction on other units and cut $2 billion

from our original spending plan and budget through 2005. 

Building Smart for the Long Haul  The problem the energy industry faces 

is this: Power generation is essentially a long-haul business seeking to attract

long-haul investors. But the markets for power constantly change. To build big 
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Our 682-megawatt Elwood

Power Station near Chicago

serves long-term supply 

contracts.

power units, you need big chunks of up-front capital that won’t yield money

overnight. Predicting demand for these plants is not for the faint of heart.

Unlike stations that are often sited great distances from where 

power is needed, we are prudently building units near gas pipelines and large

population centers. That gives them a logistical cost advantage to sell power

cheaper than our competitors. 

Near Major Population Centers  One of these facilities is the 1,100-

megawatt, natural gas-fired Fairless Works project in Pennsylvania. It’s scheduled

for service in 2004 and will supply customers near populous Philadelphia.

Another new gas-fired generating unit will begin operating this year at our

Possum Point Power Station in northern Virginia. It will provide about 545 

additional megawatts of generating capacity to serve Dominion Virginia Power 

customers in the bustling suburbs of our nation’s capital.



Dominion Exploration & Production

Canada
Proved Reserves (Bcfe): 822
Daily Production (Mmcfe / day): 162

Gulf Coast
Proved Reserves (Bcfe): 765
Daily Production (Mmcfe / day): 222

Gulf of Mexico
Proved Reserves (Bcfe): 1,104
Daily Production (Mmcfe / day): 297

Appalachian, Michigan Basin
Proved Reserves (Bcfe): 1,001
Daily Production (Mmcfe / day): 159

Mid-Continent
Proved Reserves (Bcfe): 564
Daily Production (Mmcfe / day): 110

Permian
Proved Reserves (Bcfe): 1,328
Daily Production (Mmcfe / day): 182

Rocky Mountain / Other
Proved Reserves (Bcfe): 529
Daily Production (Mmcfe / day): 123

Reserves (Bcfe) 
 As of December 31st 2002:
 6,113

Daily Production (Mmcfe / day) 
Year-to-date December 31st 2002:
1,255

Dominion Exploration & Production completed 
an active drilling year with more than 6.1 trillion
cubic feet equivalent in proved reserves.

15D o m i n i o n ’ 0 2  A n n u a l  R e p o r t

Bullish on Natural Gas  We remain bullish on natural gas and expect long-

term demand to settle in around 26 to 27 trillion cubic feet (TCF) by 2010,

compared to current demand of about 22 TCF. We’re pleased that our Dominion

Exploration & Production unit is one of America’s most prominent producers. It

operates active drilling programs in seven major North American basins, including

the Gulf of Mexico, west Texas and Appalachian regions, among others.

We believe that declining production in the lower 48 states will con-

strict supplies and boost gas prices. Unplanned events—nuclear outages, drought,

higher oil prices, colder-than-normal weather—could reduce gas-storage 

inventories.
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Offshore project manager

Steve Richardson briefs

Desiree Delacruz in the hall-

way at Dominion’s offices in

New Orleans. Our Gulf of

Mexico shelf and deepwater

programs are important 

contributors to our gas and

oil operations.

Last year, Dominion E&P’s proved reserves topped 6 trillion cubic

feet equivalent, an increase from the previous year of nearly 25 percent. 

Our strong drilling program hit ambitious production targets. And we achieved 

a 350 percent reserve replacement ratio for the year. In fact, in mid-2002, the

respected industry magazine, Oil & Gas Journal, published a survey of the

nation’s top corporate drilling programs. The survey ranked Dominion E&P as

America’s top operator. Rankings change, but I’m optimistic that our momentum

will keep us at or near the top.

Another cause for optimism is the scheduled production in 

2004 from our Devils Tower and Front Runner discoveries in the deepwater Gulf

of Mexico.



Gas Transmission Pipelines and Storage / Electric Transmission Lines

Natural Gas Transmission Pipelines

Natural Gas Transmission Pipelines 
(Planned)

Natural Gas Transmission Pipelines 
(Partnership)

Natural Gas Underground Storage Pools

Cove Point LNG Facility

Electric Transmission Lines
(Bulk delivery)
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Big Pipes and Wires  We’re also in the business of transporting energy through

nearly 7,900 miles of natural gas transmission pipelines and 6,000 miles of elec-

tric transmission lines. This past year, federal regulators granted us conditional

approval for a $497 million, 279-mile pipeline we’re planning to build with

Piedmont Natural Gas. When it enters service, the Greenbrier Pipeline will link

Mid-Atlantic and Southeast natural gas markets with major gas supplies in

Canada, Appalachia and potentially the Gulf of Mexico.

Six Sigma Savings  Last year, we told you how we’re introducing Six Sigma

process improvements into our operations to boost efficiency and cut costs. 

More than 125 highly trained “black belt” efficiency experts fanned out into 

our system. By year’s end, they had discovered what we estimate to be nearly

$115 million in ongoing savings.

Overall, our team worked more than 350 projects last year. For 

example, at two of those new merchant facilities in the Midwest, black belt Craig

Standlick and his team shaved nearly three weeks off the construction schedule.

As a result, we realized about $11 million of savings through reduced costs for

construction, capital spending and interest expenses.
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Safety is the Highest Priority  Safety trumps everything in our business.

Last year, reportable companywide accidents went down 4 percent

from the previous year. I was delighted when the U.S. Interior Department 

recognized our outstanding safety and environmental results at Dominion E&P.

The department awarded us its prestigious National Safety Award for Excellence.

The people at Dominion Transmission made us proud by earning an Industry

Leader Accident Prevention Certificate from the American Gas Association.

In my view, respect for safety mirrors our focus on the environment.

We’ve made big reductions in emissions—with more than $770 million in new

controls invested over the past three years and more planned. We support the 

general approach taken by the Bush administration’s “Clear Skies” initiative for

achieving significant future reductions. We also support the administration’s 

proposal to reduce carbon emissions rates. This proposal features voluntary 

compliance mechanisms: individual companies in all market sectors would have

the flexibility to tailor programs that work best for them. Given a chance, both

of these programs will work.

In the field, safe, reliable and efficient operations are critical to our

financial goals. In the corporate office, we work hard to mitigate financial risks. 

A Normal Shakeout in Trading  You saw how market and price volatility

affected our stock price. You probably also read quite a bit about the risks of

energy trading and may ask whether we should continue in that business. The

fact is, our Dominion Energy Clearinghouse helps us minimize risks.

Overall, a majority of our operating segment 
earnings come from regulated utilities or 
unregulated gas and electric businesses that 
we’ve hedged through contracts.
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Top: Karen Legrant, senior

LNG technician, closes a

valve in the process area of

the Cove Point LNG facility.

Bottom: Charles Horn, Jr.,

chemist III, performs an 

environmental test in the 

gas chromatography lab at

our System Lab.

By carrying out hedging agreements that limit our exposure to

volatile swings in commodity prices, the Dominion Energy Clearinghouse pro-

tects cash flows and earnings at our generation and natural gas units. We call this

“risk management.”Overall, a majority of our operating segment earnings come

from regulated utilities or unregulated gas and electric businesses that we’ve

hedged through contracts. I think of our professionals at Clearinghouse more as

contract negotiators or wholesale energy production sales managers, than traders.

A good example is a deal inked by Clearinghouse in 2001 to supply power over

27 years to North Carolina Electric Membership Corporation, one of the

nation’s largest electric cooperatives.

Our Clearinghouse professionals also sell our excess electric produc-

tion in spot markets.

Unlike Clearinghouse, several key industry players at other compa-

nies that focused exclusively on trading went bust last year or exited the business.

Some are in trouble because they inflated the publicized volumes of their transac-

tions by selling and buying the same amount of power. That sleight-of-hand got

dubbed “round tripping” in the press. As I wrote you earlier, we haven’t made

“round trips,” don’t plan on making any and are genuinely puzzled why others

cooked up such a process. At Clearinghouse, our metrics for success are risk

management and profitability, not volume.

On balance, I think the recent shakeout in energy trading and mar-

keting is healthy. Any young industry undergoes the process. In energy trading

and marketing, a smaller, stronger field of reliable players will emerge. We intend

to be among that field, with trading operations backed by our own generation

stations, oil and natural gas wells, and pipe and power line networks.

As I have emphasized in past letters, there’s really nothing like good

old-fashioned iron in the ground.
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Top: Employees staffing

Dominion Virginia Power

Storm Center work around 

the clock to restore service.

Bottom: Cleon Dickson,

auxiliary operator at 

State Line Power Station,

operates a valve to place 

the boiler water treatment

system in service.

Engaged and Aligned  Earlier I compared owning Dominion stock in 2002 

to riding a roller coaster. One thing’s for sure—you had lots of Dominion

employees in the seats around you. Together, at the end of 2002, we owned more

than $856 million in Dominion shares. In fact, I’m the company’s largest indi-

vidual shareholder, and I’m pleased that our employees are deeply invested.

While we all could have used a strong dose of Dramamine® last year, I’m still a

big believer in employee stock ownership. It aligns management’s interest with our

shareholders’ financial well being and promotes careful, smart decision making.

We Take It Personally  Many of us were personally angered when it 

appeared that a part of last year’s share price volatility came from the work of 

“short-sellers.” This became a household word last year as market observers 

and analysts took to the airwaves and business pages to blame part of the overall

market’s volatility on their activities.

If short-sellers believe a company’s shares are going to decline in

value, they bet against the company by borrowing stock and selling it, which

helps the run down, whether deserved or not. Then they buy the shares back at

lower prices, return the stock to its owner—and pocket the difference.

While we don’t particularly like people shorting our stock, it is 

clearly legal. What does exercise us, however, is when short-sellers engage 

in a campaign of misinformation to force the stock price of a company down

after they’ve shorted the stock. This is clearly wrong.

Attitude  Our culture is grounded in employee ownership and guided by disci-

pline, teamwork and customer satisfaction—the real measure of our performance.

Last autumn, researchers picked the minds of more than 1,800 of

our retail gas and electric customers. We learned, for example, that our natural

gas customers in Ohio, on average, were less satisfied with their contacts with 

the company than were customers in other states. We are working to improve

that. In general, we got high marks for keeping the lights on, for keeping the gas 
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flowing and for restoring service quickly after weather-related outages. Most 

gratifying of all, customers praised Dominion employees for their knowledge,

helpfulness and performance under pressure.

We were pleased but not surprised by this recognition of our 

employees’ desire to serve. Our employees are a dedicated group. We try to do

right by them.

Corporate Governance: Loud and Clear  We’ve seen some companies let

down their shareholders and employees in high-profile bankruptcies and 

flameouts. We’ve always known companies can fail with flawed business plans. In

2002, we saw that companies fail through poor leadership.

Leaders at the top must set the tone for the entire organization.

Values and expectations have to be explicit. Personal and professional integrity

must be a given. In a large, populous organization such as ours, these values are 

Our culture is grounded in employee ownership 
and guided by discipline, teamwork and customer
satisfaction—the real measure of our performance.

Shawnda Toler, senior 

customer service center 

representative, works as part

of a call center team 

recognized by surveyed cus-

tomers for its knowledge,

helpfulness and performance 

under pressure.
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Thos. E. Capps

Chairman, President and 
Chief Executive Officer

We’ve demonstrated our capital stewardship by
improving cash flows, strengthening our 
balance sheet and making efficient use of your
invested dollar.

nourished and promoted beginning in the board room with individual directors,

the chief executive and his or her senior management. At Dominion, this 

sentiment is loud and clear.

We Value Your Trust  You’ve entrusted your hard-earned money to us. We take

this responsibility seriously. Difficult times reveal character. In our case, we’ve

demonstrated our capital stewardship by improving cash flows, strengthening our

balance sheet, and making efficient use of your invested dollar.

As I do each year, I want to thank our employees for their loyalty

and hard work. I thank our board of directors, whose advice and counsel I value.

They never fail to ask tough questions.

We appreciate the confidence of our customers and also the hard

work of other friends of the company—the bondholders, vendors, bankers, con-

tractors, agencies and many others who help us keep the Dominion enterprise

charging onward.

Together, pulling in the same direction, knowing we produced record

earnings during a tough year, I remain bullish, and yours sincerely,
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Identification of 2002, 2001 Earnings Adjustments

Operating earnings for the 12 months ended December 31, 2002, of $4.83 per share ($1.365 billion)

exclude the following after-tax items: a charge of 3 cents per share ($8 million) related to a Dominion

Capital asset impairment; and a positive adjustment of 2 cents per share ($5 million) to restructuring 

liabilities accrued in 2001, reflecting a reduction in the amounts originally expected to be incurred.

Including the impact of these items, reported earnings for the 12 months ended December 31, 2002 were

$4.82 per share ($1.362 billion).

Operating earnings for the 12 months ended 2001 of $4.17 per share ($1.053 billion)

exclude the following after-tax items: a charge of 38 cents per share ($97 million) resulting from

Dominion’s estimated Enron exposure; 54 cents per share ($136 million) related to the buyout of power

purchase contracts and non-utility generating units previously serving the company under long-term 

contracts; 10 cents per share ($25 million) associated with the divestiture of Saxon Capital Inc.; 

27 cents per share ($68 million) in restructuring charges associated with a senior management restructur-

ing initiative announced in November of 2001 and other restructuring costs; and 73 cents per share 

($183 million) from a write-down of Dominion Capital assets. Including the impact of these items,

reported earnings for the 12 months ended 2001 were $2.15 per share ($544 million).

Operating results for the 12 months ended December 31, 1999, of $3.01 per share 

($577 million) exclude the following after-tax items: a charge of $1.33 per share ($255 million) for 

the write-off of regulatory assets and liabilities created by an accounting change resulting from a Virginia 

law, effective July 1, 1999, which establishes a timeline for competition among electric generators; 

an 11 cent per share ($21 million) charge related to the sale of the company’s Latin American power 

generation businesses; transition costs of 2 cents per share ($4 million) associated with the company’s

merger with Consolidated Natural Gas; and 7 cents per share related to the dilutive effect of an equity

swap. Including the impact of these items, reported earnings for the 12 months ended 1999 were 

$1.48 per share ($297 million).

Page 3 and page 6 2002 reported earnings per share of $4.82 were 124% higher than

2001 reported earnings per share of $2.15 as compared to a 16% increase in operating earnings per share.

Page 3 2002 reported earnings per share of $4.82 were 226% higher than 1999 

(pre-CNG) reported earnings per share of $1.48.

The proportion of operating segment earnings referenced on pages 5 and 6 are approxi-

mations and exclude the corporate and other segment. The percentage of as-reported earnings of 

$1.362 billion by segment is as follows: Delivery ($455 million or 33 percent), E&P ($380 million or 

28 percent), Energy ($770 million or 57 percent), and corporate/other (-$243 million or -18 percent).



24 D o m i n i o n ’ 0 2  A n n u a l  R e p o r t

Financial Contents

25 Consolidated Statements of Income

26 Consolidated Balance Sheets

28 Consolidated Statements 
of Common Shareholders’ Equity

29 Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

30 Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

31 Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

55 Selected Consolidated Financial Data

56 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

96 Report of Management’s Responsibilities

97 Independent Auditors’ Report

98 Directors

99 Officers

100 Shareholder Information



Year Ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000

(millions, except per share amounts)

Operating Revenue $10,218 $10,558 $9,246
Operating Expenses

Electric fuel and energy purchases, net 1,447 1,369 1,106
Purchased electric capacity 691 680 741
Purchased gas, net 1,159 1,822 1,453
Liquids, pipeline capacity and other purchases 159 219 299
Restructuring and other acquisition-related costs (8) 105 460
Other operations and maintenance 2,198 2,938 2,011
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 1,258 1,245 1,176
Other taxes 429 395 485

Total operating expenses 7,333 8,773 7,731

Income from operations 2,885 1,785 1,515

Other income 103 126 109
Interest and related charges:

Interest expense 826 899 958
Subsidiary preferred dividends and distributions of subsidiary trusts 119 98 66

Total interest and related charges 945 997 1,024

Income before income taxes and minority interests 2,043 914 600
Income taxes 681 370 183
Minority interests — — 2

Income before cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle 1,362 544 415

Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle (net of income taxes of $11) — — 21

Net Income $ 1,362 $ 544 $ 436

Earnings Per Common Share—Basic:
Income before cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle $ 4.85 $ 2.17 $ 1.76
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle — — 0.09

Net income $ 4.85 $ 2.17 $ 1.85

Earnings Per Common Share—Diluted:
Income before cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle $ 4.82 $ 2.15 $ 1.76
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle — — 0.09

Net income $ 4.82 $ 2.15 $ 1.85

Dividends paid per common share $ 2.58 $ 2.58 $ 2.58

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Consolidated Statements of Income
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At December 31, 2002 2001

(millions)

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 291 $ 486
Customer accounts receivable (net of allowance of $63 and $76) 2,568 1,770
Other accounts receivable 486 226
Inventories:

Materials and supplies 269 245
Fossil fuel 137 150
Gas stored—current portion 231 182

Investment securities—trading — 244
Derivative and energy trading assets 1,365 1,311
Margin deposit assets 149 30
Prepayments 347 384
Escrow account for debt refunding 500 —
Other 482 375

Total current assets 6,825 5,403

Investments
Available for sale securities 564 393
Nuclear decommissioning trust funds 1,599 1,697
Other 1,011 1,070

Total investments 3,174 3,160

Property, Plant and Equipment, Net
Property, plant and equipment 32,631 29,797
Less accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization (12,374) (11,433)

Total property, plant and equipment, net 20,257 18,364

Deferred Charges and Other Assets
Goodwill, net 4,301 4,210
Intangible assets, net 313 317
Regulatory assets, net 580 574
Prepaid pension cost 1,710 1,511
Derivative and energy trading assets 482 545
Other 267 285

Total deferred charges and other assets 7,653 7,442

Total assets $37,909 $34,369

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
Assets
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At December 31, 2002 2001

(millions)

Current Liabilities
Securities due within one year $ 2,125 $ 1,354
Short-term debt 1,193 1,859
Accounts payable, trade 2,310 1,776
Accrued interest, payroll and taxes 606 564
Derivative and energy trading liabilities 1,609 1,086
Other 600 839

Total current liabilities 8,443 7,478

Long-Term Debt
Long-term debt 11,968 11,797
Notes payable—affiliates 92 322

Total long-term debt 12,060 12,119

Deferred Credits and Other Liabilities
Deferred income taxes 4,099 3,812
Deferred investment tax credits 110 128
Derivative and energy trading liabilities 690 322
Other 640 626

Total deferred credits and other liabilities 5,539 4,888

Total liabilities 26,042 24,485

Commitments and Contingencies (see Note 27)

Company Obligated Mandatorily Redeemable Preferred Securities of Subsidiary Trusts (1) 1,397 1,132

Subsidiary Preferred Stock Not Subject To Mandatory Redemption 257 384

Common Shareholders’ Equity
Common stock—no par (2) 9,051 7,129
Other paid-in capital 47 28
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (446) 289
Retained earnings 1,561 922

Total common shareholders’ equity 10,213 8,368

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $37,909 $34,369

(1) As described in Note 22, the debt securities issued by Dominion Resources, Inc. and certain subsidiaries constitute 100 percent of the trusts’ assets.
(2) 500 million shares authorized; 308 million shares and 265 million shares outstanding at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
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Accumulated 
Other Other 

Common Stock Paid-In Comprehensive Retained
Shares Amount Capital Income (Loss) Earnings Total

(millions)

Balance at January 1, 2000 186 $3,561 $16 $ (15) $1,212 $ 4,774
Issuance of stock—CNG acquisition 87 3,527 3,527
Issuance of stock—public offering 6 354 354
Issuance of stock—employee, executive loan and 

direct stock purchase plans 4 195 195
Stock awards and stock options exercised 

(net of change in unearned compensation) 4 4
Stock repurchase and retirement (37) (1,641) (1,641)

Accrued contract payments—equity-linked securities (21) (21)

Comprehensive income (8) 436 428
Dividends and other adjustments (620) (620)

Balance at December 31, 2000 246 5,979 16 (23) 1,028 7,000
Issuance of stock and stock options—

Louis Dreyfus acquisition 14 894 894
Issuance of stock—employee and direct stock 

purchase plans 3 185 185
Stock awards and stock options exercised 

(net of change in unearned compensation) 2 79 79
Tax benefit from stock options exercised 12 12
Comprehensive income 312 544 856
Dividends and other adjustments (8) (650) (658)

Balance at December 31, 2001 265 7,129 28 289 922 8,368
Issuance of stock—public offering 38 1,712 1,712
Issuance of stock—employee and direct stock 

purchase plans 3 199 199
Stock awards and stock options exercised 

(net of change in unearned compensation) 3 113 113
Stock repurchase and retirement (1) (66) (66)

Accrued contract payments—equity-linked securities (36) (36)

Tax benefit from stock options exercised 21 21
Comprehensive income (735) 1,362 627
Dividends and other adjustments (2) (723) (725)

Balance at December 31, 2002 308 $9,051 $47 $(446) $1,561 $10,213

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Year Ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000

(millions)

Net income $1,362 $ 544 $436
Other comprehensive income, net of taxes:

Net deferred gains (losses) on derivatives—hedging activities, 

net of tax (expense) benefit of $345 and $(263) (663) 465 —
Unrealized gains (losses) on investment securities, net of tax (expense) 

benefit of $41, $(10) and $(6) (68) 11 9
Foreign currency translation adjustments 6 (9) (4)
Minimum pension liability adjustment, net of tax (expense) 

benefit of $1, $(3) and $8 (2) 4 (16)
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, 

net of tax benefit of $106 — (183) —
Amounts reclassified to net income:

Realized (gains) losses on investment securities, net of tax expense 

(benefit) of $6 and $(2) — (8) 3
Net (gains) losses on derivatives—hedging activities, net of tax expense 

(benefit) of $4 and $(19) (8) 32 —

Other comprehensive income (loss) (735) 312 (8)

Comprehensive income $ 627 $ 856 $428

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income



Year Ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000

(millions)

Operating Activities
Net income $ 1,362 $ 544 $ 436
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash from operating activities:

Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of income taxes — — (21)
DCI impairment losses 13 281 291
Net unrealized gains on energy trading contracts (5) (140) (25)
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 1,379 1,322 1,268
Deferred income taxes and investment tax credits, net 714 201 (92)

Changes in:
Accounts receivable (814) 414 (953)
Inventories (55) (170) (62)
Deferred fuel and purchased gas costs, net (143) 293 (250)
Prepaid pension cost (198) (122) (68)
Purchase and origination of mortgages — (1,528) (4,281)
Proceeds from sale and principal collections of mortgages — 993 4,295
Accounts payable, trade 527 (25) 626
Accrued interest, payroll and taxes 58 (111) 173
Margin deposit assets and liabilities (186) 346 (244)
Other items, net (204) 105 239

Net cash provided by operating activities 2,448 2,403 1,332

Investing Activities
Plant construction and other property additions (1,339) (1,224) (1,385)
Purchases of gas and oil properties, prospects and equipment (1,489) (944) (353)
Loan originations — — (2,911)
Repayment of loan originations 19 283 4,255
Proceeds from sale of businesses — 141 836
Acquisition of businesses (410) (2,215) (2,779)
Proceeds from sale of securities 54 30 137
Purchase of securities — (104) (235)
Escrow deposit for debt refunding (500) — —
Other (295) (160) (162)

Net cash used in investing activities (3,960) (4,193) (2,597)

Financing Activities
Issuance of common stock 2,020 245 532
Repurchase of common stock (66) — (1,641)
Issuance of preferred securities of subsidiary trusts 400 747 —
Repayment of preferred securities of subsidiary trusts (135) — —
Issuance of long-term debt and preferred stock 2,434 7,365 8,108
Repayment of long-term debt and preferred stock (1,904) (4,193) (6,813)
Issuance (repayment) of short-term debt, net (666) (1,620) 1,820
Common dividend payments (723) (649) (615)
Other (43) 21 (46)

Net cash provided by financing activities 1,317 1,916 1,345

(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (195) 126 80
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 486 360 280

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 291 $ 486 $ 360

Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash paid (received) during the year for:

Interest and related charges, excluding capitalized amounts $ 912 $ 952 $ 1,054
Income taxes (8) 284 240

Noncash transactions from investing and financing activities:
Exchange of debt securities 567 — —
Stock and stock option issuance—Louis Dreyfus acquisition — 894 —
Note received in sale of business — 25 —
Stock issuance—CNG acquisition — — 3,527

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

30 D o m i n i o n ’ 0 2  A n n u a l  R e p o r tD o m i n i o n ’ 0 2  A n n u a l  R e p o r t

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows



Introduction

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition

and Results of Operations (MD&A) discusses the results of

operations and general financial condition of Dominion.

MD&A should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated

Financial Statements. The term “Dominion” is used throughout

MD&A and, depending on the context of its use, may represent

any of the following: the legal entity, Dominion Resources, Inc.,

one of Dominion Resources, Inc.’s consolidated subsidiaries, or

the entirety of Dominion Resources, Inc. and its consolidated

subsidiaries.

Risk Factors and Cautionary Statements
That May Affect Future Results

This report contains statements concerning Dominion’s expec-

tations, plans, objectives, future financial performance and

other statements that are not historical facts. These statements

are “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Pri-

vate Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. In most cases, the

reader can identify these forward-looking statements by words

such as “anticipate,” “estimate,” “forecast,” “expect,” “believe,”

“should,” “could,” “plan,” “may” or other similar words.

Dominion makes forward-looking statements with full

knowledge that risks and uncertainties exist that may cause

actual results to be materially different from predicted results.

Factors that could cause actual results to differ are often pre-

sented with the forward-looking statements themselves. In addi-

tion, other factors could cause actual results to differ materially

from those indicated in any forward-looking statement. These

factors include weather conditions; fluctuations in energy-

related commodities prices and the effect these could have on

Dominion’s earnings, liquidity position and the underlying

value of its assets; trading counterparty credit risk; capital mar-

ket conditions, including price risk due to marketable securities

held as investments in trusts and benefit plans; fluctuations in

interest rates; changes in rating agency requirements or ratings;

changes in accounting standards; the risks of operating busi-

nesses in regulated industries that are becoming deregulated;

the transfer of control over electric transmission facilities to a

regional transmission organization; completing the divestiture

of Dominion Capital, Inc. (DCI) and CNG International

Corporation; collective bargaining agreements and labor

negotiations; and political and economic conditions (including

inflation rates). Some more specific risks are discussed below.

Dominion bases its forward-looking statements on man-

agement’s beliefs and assumptions using information available

at the time the statements are made. Dominion cautions the

reader not to place undue reliance on its forward-looking

statements because the assumptions, beliefs, expectations

and projections about future events may, and often do,

materially differ from actual results. Dominion undertakes

no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to

reflect developments occurring after the statement is made.

Dominion’s Operations Are Weather Sensitive
Dominion’s results of operations can be affected by changes in

the weather. Weather conditions directly influence the demand

for electricity and natural gas and affect the price of energy

commodities. In addition, severe weather, including hurricanes,

winter storms and droughts, can be destructive, causing outages,

production delays and property damage that requires Dominion

to incur additional expenses.

Dominion Is Subject to Complex Government Regulation That
Could Adversely Affect Its Operations
Dominion’s operations are subject to extensive regulation and

require numerous permits, approvals and certificates from fed-

eral, state and local governmental agencies. Dominion must also

comply with environmental legislation and other regulations.

Management believes the necessary approvals have been

obtained for Dominion’s existing operations and that its busi-

ness is conducted in accordance with applicable laws. However,

new laws or regulations, or the revision or reinterpretation of

existing laws or regulations, may require Dominion to incur

additional expenses.

Costs of Environmental Compliance, Liabilities and Litigation
Could Exceed Dominion’s Estimates
Compliance with federal, state and local environmental laws

and regulations may result in increased capital, operating and

other costs, including remediation and containment and moni-

toring obligations. In addition, Dominion may be a responsible

party for environmental clean up at a site identified by a regula-

tory body. Management cannot predict with certainty the

amount and timing of all future expenditures related to environ-

mental matters because of the difficulty of estimating clean-up

costs and compliance, and the possibility that changes will be

made to the current environmental laws and regulations. There

is also uncertainty in quantifying liabilities under environmen-

tal laws that impose joint and several liability on all potentially

responsible parties.

Capped Electric Rates in Virginia May Be Insufficient to
Allow Full Recovery of Stranded and Other Costs
Under the Virginia Electric Utility Restructuring Act, Domin-

ion’s electric base rates (excluding fuel costs and certain other

allowable adjustments) remain unchanged until July 2007

unless modified or terminated consistent with that Act. The

capped rates and wires charges that, where applicable, are

being assessed to customers opting for alternative suppliers

allow Dominion to recover certain generation-related costs;

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operations
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changes in the underlying assumptions or use of alternative val-

uation methods could affect the value of the reported fair value

of these contracts. For additional information concerning deriv-

atives and commodity-based trading contracts, see Market Rate
Sensitive Instruments and Risk Management and Notes 2 and 15

to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Dominion is Exposed to Market Risks Beyond Its Control in
Its Energy Clearinghouse Operations
Dominion’s energy clearinghouse and risk management opera-

tions are subject to multiple market risks including market liq-

uidity, counterparty credit strength and price volatility. Many

industry participants have experienced severe business down-

turns during the past year resulting in some being forced to exit

or curtail their participation in the energy trading markets.

This has led to a reduction in the number of trading partners,

lower industry trading revenues and lower than expected

revenues in Dominion’s energy clearinghouse operations.

Declining credit worthiness of some of Dominion’s trading

counterparties may limit the level of its trading activities with

these parties and increase the risk that these parties may not

perform under a contract.

The Success of Dominion’s Telecommunications Business
Strategy is Dependent Upon Market Conditions
The current strategy of Dominion’s joint venture in the telecom-

munications business is based upon its ability to deliver lit

capacity, dark fiber and colocation services to its customers. The

market for these services, like the telecommunications industry

in general, is rapidly changing, and Dominion cannot be certain

that anticipated growth in demand for these services will occur.

If the market for these services continues to fail to grow as

quickly as anticipated or becomes saturated with competitors,

including competitors using alternative technologies such as

wireless, Dominion’s equity and debt investments in the

telecommunications business, as well as the results from

such investments, may continue to be adversely affected.

Additionally, the current market values of assets in the telecom-

munications industry have been subject to depressed market

conditions. If these conditions continue, Dominion may have to

contribute cash to satisfy operating requirements and the under-

lying value of Dominion’s telecommunications investments

could be affected adversely which, under certain circumstances,

could require a write-down of the value of such investments.

Dominion’s Exploration and Production Business is
Dependent on Factors Including Commodity Prices That
Cannot Be Predicted Or Controlled
Dominion’s exploration and production business is subject to

numerous risks beyond its control. These factors include fluctu-

ations in natural gas and crude oil prices, results of future

drilling and well completion activities, Dominion’s ability to

acquire additional land positions in competitive lease areas, and

however, Dominion remains exposed to numerous risks of 

cost-recovery shortfalls.

These include exposure to potentially stranded costs,

future environmental compliance requirements, changes in

tax laws, inflation and increased capital costs. See Future Issues
and Outlook-Regulated Electric Operations and Note 27 to the

Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Electric Generation Business is Subject to Competition
Effective January 1, 2002, the generation portion of Dominion’s

electric utility operations in Virginia is open to competition

and is no longer subject to cost-based rate regulation. As a

result, there is increased pressure to lower costs, including the

cost of purchased electricity. Because Dominion’s electric utility

generation business has not previously operated in a competitive

environment, the extent and timing of entry by additional

competitors into the electric market in Virginia is unknown.

Therefore, it is difficult to predict the extent to which Domin-

ion will be able to operate profitably within this new environ-

ment. In addition, the success of Dominion’s merchant power

plants depends upon its ability to find buyers willing to enter

into power purchase agreements at prices sufficient to cover its

operating costs. Depressed spot and forward wholesale power

prices and excess capacity could result in lower than expected

revenues in Dominion’s merchant power business.

There Are Inherent Risks in the Operation of
Nuclear Facilities
Dominion operates nuclear facilities that are subject to inherent

risks. These include the threat of terrorist attack and ability to

dispose of spent nuclear fuel, the disposal of which is subject to

complex federal and state regulatory constraints. These risks

also include the cost of and Dominion’s ability to maintain ade-

quate reserves for decommissioning, costs of plant maintenance

and exposure to potential liabilities arising out of the operation

of these facilities. Dominion maintains decommissioning trusts

and external insurance coverage to minimize the financial expo-

sure to these risks. However, it is possible that costs arising from

claims could exceed the amount of any insurance coverage.

The Use of Derivative Instruments Could Result in
Financial Losses
Dominion uses derivative instruments including futures, for-

wards, options and swaps, to manage its commodity and finan-

cial market risks. In addition, Dominion purchases and sells

commodity-based contracts in the natural gas, electricity and oil

markets for trading purposes. In the future, Dominion could

recognize financial losses on these contracts as a result of volatil-

ity in the market values of the underlying commodities or if a

counterparty fails to perform under a contract. In the absence of

actively quoted market prices and pricing information from

external sources, the valuation of these financial instruments

involves management’s judgment or use of estimates. As a result,

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operations, Continued
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reduction in Dominion’s credit ratings by either Standard

& Poor’s or Moody’s could increase its borrowing costs and

adversely affect operating results.

Potential Changes in Accounting Practices May Adversely
Affect Dominion’s Financial Results
Dominion cannot predict the impact of future changes in

accounting regulations or practices in general with respect to

public companies, the energy industry or its operations specifi-

cally. New accounting standards could be issued by the Finan-

cial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) or the SEC that

could change the way Dominion records revenues, expenses,

assets and liabilities. These changes in accounting standards

could adversely affect Dominion’s reported earnings or increase

its liabilities.

Operating Segments

In general, management’s discussion of Dominion’s results of

operations focuses on the contributions of its operating seg-

ments. However, the discussion of Dominion’s financial condi-

tion under Liquidity and Capital Resources is based on legal

entities as Dominion transacts business in the financial markets

on that basis. Dominion’s three primary operating segments are:

Dominion Energy manages Dominion’s generation portfolio,

consisting primarily of generating units and power purchase

agreements. It also manages Dominion’s energy trading and

marketing, hedging and arbitrage activities; and gas pipeline

and certain gas production and storage operations. Dominion

Energy’s operating results largely reflect: the impact of weather

on demand for electricity; customer growth as influenced by

overall economic conditions and acquisitions; and changes in

prices of commodities, primarily electricity and natural gas, that

the segment actively markets and trades, uses for hedging pur-

poses, and consumes in generation activities. Effective January

1, 2003, Dominion’s electric transmission operations became a

part of Dominion Energy.

Dominion Delivery manages Dominion’s electric and gas dis-

tribution systems, as well as customer service and electric trans-

mission functions. Dominion Delivery’s operating results reflect

the impact of weather on demand for electricity and natural gas

and customer growth as influenced by overall economic condi-

tions. Dominion Delivery’s electric and gas businesses are subject

to cost-of-service rate regulation; changes in prices of commodi-

ties consumed or delivered are generally recoverable in rates

charged to customers. However, certain rates may be subject to

price caps, limiting recovery of higher costs in certain circum-

stances. Dominion Delivery also includes Dominion’s interest in

Dominion Fiber Ventures LLC (DFV), a telecommunications

joint venture. See Note 30 for a discussion of Dominion’s consol-

idation of DFV beginning in February 2003. Effective January 1,

operational risks that are inherent in the exploration and pro-

duction business and could result in disruption of production.

In addition, in connection with the use of financial derivatives

to hedge future sales of gas and oil production, Dominion’s

liquidity may sometimes be affected by margin requirements.

Under these requirements, Dominion must deposit funds with

counterparties to cover the fair value of covered contracts in

excess of agreed-upon credit limits. Some of these factors could

have compounding effects that could also affect Dominion’s

financial results. Also, because Dominion follows the full cost

method of accounting for gas and oil exploration and produc-

tion activities prescribed by the Securities and Exchange Com-

mission (SEC), short-term market declines in the prices of

natural gas and oil could adversely affect its financial results.

Under the full cost method, all direct costs of property acquisi-

tion, exploration and development activities are capitalized. The

principal limitation is that these capitalized amounts may not

exceed the present value of estimated future net revenues based

on hedge-adjusted period-end prices from the production of

proved gas and oil reserves (the ceiling test). If net capitalized

costs exceed the ceiling test, in a given country, at the end of

any quarterly period, then a permanent write-down of the assets

must be recognized in that period.

An Inability to Access Financial Markets Could Affect the
Execution of Dominion’s Business Plan
Dominion relies on access to both short-term money markets

and longer-term capital markets as a significant source of liquid-

ity for capital requirements not satisfied by the cash flows from

its operations. Management believes that Dominion and its

subsidiaries will maintain sufficient access to these financial

markets based upon current credit ratings. However, certain

disruptions outside of Dominion’s control may increase its cost

of borrowing or restrict its ability to access one or more financial

markets. Such disruptions could include an economic down-

turn, the bankruptcy of an unrelated energy company or

changes to Dominion’s credit ratings. Restrictions on Domin-

ion’s ability to access financial markets may affect its ability to

execute its business plan as scheduled.

Changing Rating Agency Requirements Could Negatively
Affect Dominion’s Growth and Business Strategy
As of March 1, 2003, Dominion’s senior unsecured debt is rated

BBB+, stable outlook, by Standard & Poor’s Rating Group, a

division of the McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. (Standard &

Poor’s) and Baa1, negative outlook, by Moody’s Investor Service

(Moody’s). Both agencies have recently implemented more

stringent applications of the financial requirements for various

ratings levels. In order to maintain its current credit ratings in

light of these or future new requirements, Dominion may find

it necessary to take steps or change its business plans in ways

that may adversely affect its growth and earnings per share. A
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Dominion management. For individual contracts, the use of dif-

ferent assumptions could have a material effect on the contract’s

estimated fair value. In addition, for hedges of forecasted transac-

tions, Dominion must estimate the expected future cash flows of

the forecasted transactions, as well as evaluate the probability of

occurrence and timing of such transactions. Changes in condi-

tions or the occurrence of unforeseen events could affect the tim-

ing of recognition of changes in fair value of certain hedging

derivatives. See Selected Information — Energy Trading Activities
and Market Rate Sensitive Instruments and Risk Management
in MD&A and Notes 2, 4 and 15 to the Consolidated

Financial Statements.

Accounting for Gas and Oil Operations
Dominion follows the full cost method of accounting for gas

and oil exploration and production activities prescribed by the

SEC. Under the full cost method, all direct costs of property

acquisition, exploration and development activities are capital-

ized and subsequently depreciated using a unit-of-production

method. The depreciable base of costs includes estimated future

costs to be incurred in developing proved gas and oil reserves, as

well as dismantlement and abandonment costs, net of projected

salvage values. The calculations under this accounting method

are dependent on engineering estimates of proved reserve quan-

tities and estimates of the amount and timing of future expendi-

tures to develop the proved reserves. Proved reserves, and the

cash flows related to these reserves, are estimated based on a

combination of historical data and estimates of future activity.

Actual reserve quantities and development expenditures may

differ from the forecasted amounts. In addition, Dominion has

significant investments in unproved properties, which are ini-

tially excluded from the depreciable base. Until the properties

are evaluated, a ratable portion of the capitalized costs is period-

ically reclassified to the depreciable base, determined on a

property-by-property basis, over terms of underlying leases.

Once a property has been evaluated, any remaining capitalized

costs are then transferred to the depreciable base. Capitalized

costs in the depreciable base are subject to a ceiling test pre-

scribed by the SEC. The test limits capitalized amounts to a

ceiling—the present value of estimated future net revenues to

be derived from the production of proved gas and oil reserves.

Dominion performs the test quarterly, on a country-by-country

basis, and would recognize asset impairments to the extent that

total capitalized costs exceed the ceiling. Any impairment of

excess gas and oil property costs over the ceiling is charged to

operations. Given the volatility of natural gas and oil prices, it

is possible that Dominion’s estimate of discounted future net

cash flows from proved natural gas and oil reserves could change

in the near term. If natural gas or oil prices decline, even if for

only a short period, or if Dominion revises its estimated proved

reserves downward, recognition of natural gas and oil property

2003, Dominion’s electric transmission operations became a part

of the Dominion Energy operating segment.

Dominion Exploration & Production manages Dominion’s

onshore and offshore gas and oil exploration, development

and production operations. They are located in several major

producing basins in the lower 48 states, including the outer

continental shelf and deep-water areas of the Gulf of Mexico,

and Western Canada. Dominion Exploration & Production’s

operating results reflect successful discovery of and production

from natural gas and oil reserves, as well as changes in prices of

natural gas and oil. Dominion Exploration & Production’s com-

modity risk is managed by the Dominion Energy Clearinghouse

(the Clearinghouse) by using derivative instruments, such as

forwards, swaps, and options.

In addition, Dominion also presents its corporate

functions, financial services and other operations as an

operating segment.

For more information on Dominion’s segments, see Note

32 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Critical Accounting Policies

Dominion has identified the following accounting policies that,

as a result of the judgments, uncertainties, uniqueness and com-

plexities of the underlying accounting standards and operations

involved, could result in material changes to its financial condi-

tion or results of operations under different conditions or using

different assumptions.

Accounting for Risk Management and Energy Trading
Contracts At Fair Value
Dominion uses derivative instruments to manage its commodity

and financial market risks. In addition, Dominion purchases and

sells commodity-based contracts in the natural gas, electricity

and oil markets for trading purposes. Accounting requirements

for derivatives and hedging activities are complex; interpretation

of these requirements by standard-setting bodies is ongoing. All

derivatives, other than specific exceptions, are reported on the

Consolidated Balance Sheets at fair value, beginning in 2001.

Energy trading contracts are also reported on the Consolidated

Balance Sheets at fair value. Changes in fair value, except those

related to derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges,

are generally included in the determination of Dominion’s net

income at each financial reporting date until the contracts are

ultimately settled. The measurement of fair value is based on

actively quoted market prices, if available. In their absence,

Dominion seeks indicative price information from external

sources, including broker quotes and industry publications. If

pricing information from external sources is not available, mea-

surement involves judgment and estimates. These estimates are

based on valuation methodologies deemed appropriate by

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operations, Continued
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impairments could occur in the future. See Notes 2 and 33 to

the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Use of Estimates in Impairment Testing
Dominion is required to test at least annually its goodwill for

potential impairment. As part of that test, Dominion is required

to determine the fair value of its reporting units. Dominion pro-

duces this estimate by using discounted cash flow analyses and

other valuation techniques based on multiples of earnings for

peer group companies, as well as analyses of recent business

combinations involving peer group companies. These calcula-

tions are dependent on many subjective factors, including the

selection of appropriate discount and growth rates, the selection

of peer group companies and recent transactions and manage-

ment’s estimate of future cash flows. The cash flow estimates

used by Dominion are based on the best information available at

the time the estimates are made. However, estimates of future

cash flows are highly uncertain by nature and may vary signifi-

cantly from actual results.

Dominion performed the transitional impairment test

upon adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

(SFAS) No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, as of

January 1, 2002 and its annual test later in the year. The fair

value of each of Dominion’s reporting units exceeded the related

carrying amounts, resulting in no impairment. The underlying

assumptions and estimates involved in preparing these fair value

calculations could change significantly from period to period. If

Dominion’s estimates of the fair value of its reporting units are

substantially reduced, impairment may be indicated and

Dominion would be required to perform the second step of the

goodwill impairment test. That step measures the amount of

impairment, if any, and requires the further use of fair value

estimates. A goodwill impairment charge would result in a

charge to earnings, with a corresponding reduction of the

carrying amount of goodwill on the balance sheet. Dominion

had $4.3 billion and $4.2 billion of goodwill at December

31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. See Notes 2 and 18 to the

Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion of

goodwill impairment tests.

Impairment testing for long-lived assets and intangible

assets with definite lives is required when circumstances indicate

that such assets may be impaired. In performing the impair-

ment test, Dominion would estimate the future cash flows asso-

ciated with individual assets or groups of assets. Impairment

results when the undiscounted estimated future cash flows are

less than the related asset’s carrying amount. If impaired, the

asset must be written down to its fair value, which is generally

calculated using the present value of its expected future net cash

flows, using an appropriate discount rate. Although cash flow

estimates used by Dominion are based on the best information

available at the time the estimates are made, estimates of future

cash flows are by nature highly uncertain and may vary signifi-

cantly from actual results.

Accounting for Retained Interests from Securitizations
Securitizations involve selling loans to qualifying unconsoli-

dated trusts in exchange for cash and retained interests.

Retained interests may include unsecured debt of the trust or

retained interests in the transferred loans. Dominion holds

retained interests from mortgage and commercial loans securi-

tized in prior years and classifies them as available-for-sale

investments, carried on the Consolidated Balance Sheets at fair

value. Quarterly, Dominion evaluates the key assumptions relat-

ing to valuing the retained interests. Those key assumptions

include loan prepayment speeds, credit losses, forward yield

curves and discount rates. Using a published forward yield

curve, cash flows, net of adjustments for expected credit losses

and loan prepayments, are discounted to determine the esti-

mated fair value of the retained interests. Loan prepayments

speeds and credit loss assumptions are based on actual historical

results and future estimates. The discount rate is risk adjusted

and is periodically compared to industry averages and recent or

similar transactions for reasonableness. Changes in interest rates

will result in a change in the forward yield curve and can result

in a change in the assumed amount of loan prepayments.

Changes in general economic conditions may impact actual

credit losses, thus impacting the credit loss assumption used in

Dominion’s quarterly evaluation. Income from the residual

interests is reported as other revenue. As discussed in Note 9 to

the Consolidated Financial Statements, during 2002, 2001 and

2000, Dominion made changes to these key assumptions,

resulting in impairment charges for those years. See also Notes

2 and 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for addi-

tional discussion of securitizations and retained interests and a

sensitivity analysis of key assumptions.

Accounting for Regulated Operations
Methods of allocating costs to accounting periods for operations

subject to federal or state cost-of-service rate regulation may dif-

fer from accounting methods generally applied by nonregulated

companies. When the timing of cost recovery prescribed by reg-

ulatory authorities differs from the timing of expense recogni-

tion used for accounting purposes, Dominion’s Consolidated

Financial Statements may recognize a regulatory asset for expen-

ditures that otherwise would be expensed. Regulatory assets

represent probable future revenue associated with certain costs

that will be recovered from customers through rates. Regulatory

liabilities represent probable future reductions in revenue associ-

ated with expected customer credits through rates. Management

makes assumptions regarding the probability of regulatory asset

recovery through future rates approved by applicable regulatory

authorities. The expectations of future recovery are generally

based upon historical experience, as well as discussions with
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applicable regulatory authorities. If recovery of regulatory assets

is determined to be less than probable, they would be expensed

in the period such assessment is made. See Notes 2 and 19 to

the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Results of Operations

Dominion’s discussion of its results of operations includes a

tabular summary of contributions by its operating segments to

net income and diluted earnings per share, an overview of 2002

and 2001 results of operations for consolidated Dominion, as

well as a more detailed discussion of operating segment results

of operations.

2002 2001 2000

(millions, except per Net Net Net
share amounts) Income EPS Income EPS Income EPS

Dominion Energy $ 770 $2.72 $ 723 $ 2.86 $ 489 $ 2.07
Dominion Delivery 455 1.61 366 1.45 339 1.43
Dominion E&P 380 1.34 320 1.27 255 1.08

Net income 

contribution—

operating segments 1,605 5.67 1,409 5.58 1,083 4.58
Corporate and Other (243) (0.85) (865) (3.43) (647) (2.73)

Total—Consolidated 

Dominion 1,362 4.82 544 2.15 436 1.85

Consolidated 

operating revenue 10,218 10,558 9,246
Consolidated 

operating expense $ 7,333 $ 8,773 $7,731

Overview of Consolidated Operating Results — 2002
Dominion earned $4.82 per diluted share on net income of

$1.36 billion in 2002, an increase of $818 million and $2.67

per diluted share over 2001. The increase includes higher net

income contributions by all operating segments, partially offset

by approximately $0.57 of share dilution, reflecting a substan-

tial increase in the number of average common shares outstand-

ing during 2002. In addition, Dominion recognized fewer

specific charges in 2002, as described in Corporate and Other
segment results below.

Regulated electric sales and non-regulated retail energy sales

increased as a result of favorable weather conditions and growth

in customer base. Nonregulated electric sales by Dominion’s

merchant generation fleet declined primarily due to lower elec-

tricity prices, partially offset by sales from recently acquired and

constructed assets. Sales of gas and oil production increased as a

result of higher production levels, reflecting Dominion’s ongoing

drilling programs, the operations of Louis Dreyfus Natural Gas

Corp. (Louis Dreyfus), partially offset by natural production

declines and by lower average realized prices for gas and oil,

including the effects of hedging. Overall, net revenue from

Dominion’s energy trading operations decreased for 2002. Gas

trading activities contributed less for 2002, reflecting the effects

of net unfavorable price changes on unsettled contracts and

lower trading margins, partially offset by higher overall trading

volumes. Electric trading activities increased for 2002, reflecting

favorable price changes on unsettled contracts and higher trading

margins. Energy trading operations are discussed in more detail

as part of the Dominion Energy segment results of operations.

In addition to the contributions by its operating segments,

the discontinuance of goodwill amortization resulted in a $95

million increase in net income. During 2002, Dominion did

not recognize any significant specific charges, as compared to

2001 when those charges totaled $797 million, as described in

the Corporate and Other segment results. Interest and related

charges decreased $52 million, reflecting lower overall interest

rates on outstanding debt, partially offset by interest on new

issues of debt and distributions on trust preferred securities

issued in late 2001 and during 2002. Dominion’s effective

income tax rate decreased, reflecting the net $33 million effect

of including certain subsidiaries in Dominion’s consolidated

state income tax returns. In addition, the effective tax rate

decreased for foreign earnings, the discontinuance of goodwill

amortization for book purposes and other factors.

Overview of Consolidated Operating Results — 2001
Dominion earned $2.15 per diluted share on net income of

$544 million in 2001, an increase of $108 million and $0.30

per diluted share over 2000. The increase includes higher net

income contributions by all operating segments, partially

offset by a higher number of specific charges in 2001 as com-

pared to 2000, as discussed in Corporate and Other segment

results below.

The increase in results for Dominion’s operating segments

for 2001 reflect the operations of businesses acquired during the

year. Dominion acquired Millstone Power Station (Millstone)

on March 31, 2001. Its operations contributed significantly to

the increase in nonregulated electric sales. Regulated gas sales,

nonregulated gas sales and gas and oil production revenue

increased as Consolidated Natural Gas Company’s (CNG)

operations were included for all of 2001. In addition, 2001 gas

and oil production results reflected the inclusion of Louis

Dreyfus for two months as well as higher realized prices for gas.

Dominion’s energy trading operations, recorded as nonregulated

gas and electric sales, net of cost of sales, also contributed to the

overall operating revenue increase.

The increase in net income contribution by the segments’

operations was partially offset by a higher-level of specific

charges in 2001, as compared to 2000, as described in the dis-

cussion of the Corporate and Other segment results. Such

charges for 2001 and 2000 totaled $797 million and $579 mil-

lion, respectively. Interest expense and related charges decreased

$27 million, reflecting lower overall interest rates on outstand-

ing debt. Dominion’s effective income tax rate increased and its
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other taxes decreased in 2001 because its utility operations in

Virginia became subject to state income taxes in lieu of gross

receipts taxes effective January 2001. In addition, Dominion

recognized higher effective rates for foreign earnings and higher

pretax income in relation to non-conventional fuel tax

credits realized.

Dominion Energy

2002 2001 2000

(millions, except per share amounts)

Operating revenue $5,940 $6,144 $4,894
Operating expenses 4,520 4,749 3,939
Net income contribution 770 723 489
Earnings per share contribution $ 2.72 $ 2.86 $ 2.07

Electricity supplied* (million mwhrs) 101 95 83
Gas transmission throughput (bcf) 597 553 567

* Amounts presented are for electricity supplied by utility and merchant
generation operations.

Operating Results — 2002

Dominion Energy contributed $2.72 per diluted share on net

income of $770 million for 2002, a net income increase of $47

million and an earnings per share decrease of $0.14 over 2001.

Net income for 2002 reflected lower operating revenue ($204

million), operating expenses ($229 million) and other income

($27 million). Interest expense and income taxes, which are

discussed on a consolidated basis, decreased $50 million over

2001. The earnings per share decrease reflected share dilution.

Regulated electric sales revenue increased $179 million.

Favorable weather conditions, reflecting increased cooling and

heating degree-days, as well as customer growth, are estimated

to have contributed $133 million and $41 million, respectively.

Fuel rate recoveries increased approximately $65 million for

2002. These recoveries are generally offset by increases in elec-

tric fuel expense and do not materially affect income. Partially

offsetting these increases was a net decrease of $60 million due

to other factors not separately measurable, such as the impact

of economic conditions on customer usage, as well as variations

in seasonal rate premiums and discounts.

Nonregulated electric sales revenue increased $9 million.

Sales revenue from Dominion’s merchant generation fleet

decreased $21 million, reflecting a $201 million decline due to

lower prices partially offset by sales from assets acquired and

constructed in 2002 and the inclusion of Millstone operations

for all of 2002. Revenue from the wholesale marketing of utility

generation decreased $74 million. Due to the higher demand of

utility service territory customers during 2002, less production

from utility plant generation was available for profitable sale in

the wholesale market. Revenue from retail energy sales increased

$71 million, reflecting primarily customer growth over the prior

year. Net revenue from Dominion’s electric trading activities

increased $33 million, reflecting the effect of favorable price

changes on unsettled contracts and higher trading margins.

Nonregulated gas sales revenue decreased $351 million.

The decrease included a $239 million decrease in sales by

Dominion’s field services and retail energy marketing opera-

tions, reflecting to a large extent declining prices. Revenue

associated with gas trading operations, net of related cost of

sales, decreased $112 million. The decrease included $70 mil-

lion of realized and unrealized losses on the economic hedges of

natural gas production by the Dominion Exploration & Pro-

duction segment. As described below under Selected Information
— Energy Trading Activities, sales of natural gas by the Dominion

Exploration & Production segment at market prices offset these

financial losses, resulting in a range of prices contemplated by

Dominion’s overall risk management strategy. The remaining

$42 million decrease was due to unfavorable price changes on

unsettled contracts and lower overall trading margins. Those

losses were partially offset by contributions from higher trading

volumes in gas and oil markets.

Gas transportation and storage revenue decreased $44

million, primarily reflecting lower rates.

Electric fuel and energy purchases expense increased $94

million which included an increase of $66 million associated

with Dominion’s energy marketing operations that are not sub-

ject to cost-based rate regulation and an increase of $28 million

associated with utility operations. Substantially all of the

increase associated with non-regulated energy marketing opera-

tions related to higher volumes purchased during the year. For

utility operations, energy costs increased $66 million for pur-

chases subject to rate recovery, partially offset by a $38 million

decrease in fuel expenses associated with lower wholesale mar-

keting of utility plant generation.

Purchased gas expense decreased $245 million associated

with Dominion’s field services and retail energy marketing oper-

ations. This decrease reflected approximately $162 million asso-

ciated with declining prices and $83 million associated with

lower purchased volumes.

Liquids, pipeline capacity and other purchases decreased

$64 million, primarily reflecting comparably lower levels of rate

recoveries of certain costs of transmission operations in the cur-

rent year period. The difference between actual expenses and

amounts recovered in the period are deferred pending future

rate adjustments.

Other operations and maintenance expense decreased $14

million, primarily reflecting an $18 million decrease in outage

costs due to fewer generation unit outages in the current year.

Depreciation expense decreased $11 million, reflecting

decreases in depreciation associated with changes in the esti-

mated useful lives of certain electric generation property, par-

tially offset by increased depreciation associated with State Line

and Millstone operations.

Other income decreased $27 million, including a $14 mil-

lion decrease in net realized investment gains in the Millstone
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decommissioning trusts. In addition, the decrease included a

$12 million decline in equity income from Elwood Energy, an

equity method investment, reflecting higher interest expense

due to the issuance of additional debt by that company in 2002.

Operating Results — 2001

Dominion Energy contributed $2.86 per diluted share on

net income of $723 million for 2001, an increase of $234

million and $0.79 per diluted share over 2000 results. The

increase in net income reflected a full year of CNG operations

in 2001, the acquisition of Millstone and reductions in certain

operating expenses.

Operating revenue increased $1.3 billion to $6.1 billion in

2001, as compared to 2000 reflecting the acquisition of Mill-

stone and a full year of CNG operations for 2001. Regulated

electric sales for 2001 reflected customer growth and compara-

tively higher fuel rates; however, these increases were largely off-

set by comparatively mild weather. Millstone operations largely

contributed to the increase in non-regulated electric sales. Non-

regulated gas sales and gas transportation and storage revenue

increased, reflecting a full year of CNG operations and

increased transportation rates. The results of Dominion’s trad-

ing and marketing operations contributed to the overall increase

in operating revenue.

Operating expenses increased $810 million to $4.7 billion

for 2001, as compared to 2000. Higher commodity prices con-

tributed to increased electric fuel and energy purchases and pur-

chased gas. In addition, purchased gas increased, reflecting

CNG operations for the entirety of 2001. Depreciation

increased overall due to the inclusion of Millstone. This increase

was partially offset by an extension of the estimated useful lives

of Dominion’s nuclear plants in connection with the expected

relicensing of those plants. This change in estimate resulted in a

$78 million decrease in depreciation expense. Purchased capac-

ity decreased as Dominion terminated certain contracts in early

2001. Other operations and maintenance increased due to the

inclusion of Millstone operations and scheduled outages at both

nuclear and fossil plants.

Selected Information — Energy Trading Activities

As previously described, Dominion Energy manages Dominion’s

energy trading, hedging and arbitrage activities through the

Clearinghouse. Dominion believes these operations comple-

ment its integrated energy businesses and facilitate its risk

management activities. As part of these operations, the Clear-

inghouse enters into contracts for purchases and sales of energy-

related commodities, including natural gas, electricity and oil.

Settlement of a contract may require physical delivery of the

underlying commodity or, in some cases, an exchange of cash.

These contracts are classified as energy trading contracts for

financial accounting purposes. The contracts are included in

the Consolidated Balance Sheets as components of current and

non-current derivative and energy trading assets and liabilities.

Gains and losses from energy trading contracts, including

both realized and unrealized amounts, are reported net in the

Consolidated Statements of Income as revenue.

In accordance with generally accepted accounting princi-

ples, Dominion reports energy trading contracts in its financial

statements at fair value. A discussion of how Dominion deter-

mines fair value for its energy trading contracts, can be found in

Critical Accounting Policies presented earlier in MD&A.

The Clearinghouse enters into contracts with the objective

of benefiting from changes in the prices of energy commodities.

Clearinghouse management continually monitors its contract

positions, considering location and timing of delivery or settle-

ment for each energy commodity in relation to market price

activity, seeking arbitrage opportunities. For example, after

entering into a contract to purchase a commodity, the Clearing-

house typically enters into a sales contract, or a combination of

sales contracts, with quantities and delivery or settlement terms

that are identical or very similar to those of the purchase con-

tract. When the purchase and sales contracts are settled either

by physical delivery of the underlying commodity or by net

cash settlement, the Clearinghouse may receive a net cash mar-

gin (a realized gain), or sometimes will pay a net cash margin

(a realized loss).

Until the contracts are settled, however, Dominion must

record the changes in the fair value of both contracts. These

changes in fair value represent unrealized gains and losses. To

the extent purchase and sales contracts with identical or similar

terms are held by the Clearinghouse, the changes in their fair

values will generally offset one another. Although the Clearing-

house may hold purchase or sales contracts for delivery of com-

modities at particular locations and times that have not been

offset, such exposures are monitored and actively managed

on a daily basis. Dominion’s risk management policies and

procedures are designed to limit its exposure to commodity

price changes.

Additional discussion can be found in Market Rate Sensitive
Instruments and Risk Management and Notes 2, 15 and 29 to

the Consolidated Financial Statements. Also, see Note 4 to the

Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of Domin-

ion’s implementation of new accounting requirements effective

January 1, 2003 to reflect the decision of the Emerging Issues

Task Force (EITF) in Issue No. 02-3, Issues Involved in Account-
ing for Contracts under Issue No. 98-10. As a result, some energy-

related contracts are no longer subject to fair value accounting.

During 2002, the Clearinghouse also held derivative finan-

cial contracts to manage the price risk of certain anticipated

sales of Dominion Exploration & Production’s 2002 and 2003

natural gas production (economic hedges). Dominion did not

designate these derivatives as hedges for accounting purposes

and, as a result, any change in the fair value of these derivatives
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is included in earnings. During 2002, Dominion Energy recog-

nized a loss of $48 million related to the 2002 economic hedges,

representing $43 million from contract settlements and $5 mil-

lion for the reversal of unrealized gains that existed at December

31, 2001. In addition, Dominion Energy recognized $22 million

of unrealized losses in 2002 related to the change in the fair

value of the 2003 economic hedges. As anticipated, Dominion

Exploration & Production sold sufficient volumes of natural gas

in 2002 at market prices, which, when combined with the set-

tlement of the 2002 economic hedges, resulted in a range of

prices for those sales contemplated by the risk management

strategy. Similarly, Dominion expects the combination of antici-

pated gas sales and the 2003 economic hedges to result in a

range of prices for those sales as contemplated by this risk man-

agement strategy in 2003.

A summary of the changes in the unrealized gains and

losses in Dominion’s energy trading contracts, including the

economic hedges described above, during 2002 follows:

Energy Trading
Contracts

(millions)

Net unrealized gain at December 31, 2001 $165
Contracts realized or otherwise settled during the period (40)
Net unrealized gain at inception of contracts initiated 

during the period 39
Changes in valuation techniques 6
Other changes in fair value —

Net unrealized gain at December 31, 2002 $170

The balance of net unrealized gains and losses in Domin-

ion’s energy trading contracts, including the economic hedges

discussed above, at December 31, 2002 is summarized in the

following table based on the approach used to determine fair

value and the contract settlement or delivery dates:

Maturity Based on Contract Settlement or Delivery Date(s)

In Excess
Less than 1-2 2-3 3-5 of

Source of Fair Value 1 year years years years 5 years Total

(millions)

Actively quoted(1) $ 8 $15 $13 $ 36
Other external 

sources(2) 19 13 $13 $ 8 53
Models and other 

valuation techniques(3) 19 15 14 10 23 81

Total $27 $49 $40 $23 $31 $170

(1) Exchange-traded and over-the-counter contracts.
(2) Values based on prices from over-the-counter broker activity and industry

services and, where applicable, conventional option pricing models.
(3) Values based on Dominion’s estimate of future commodity prices when

information from external sources is not available and use of internally-
developed models, reflecting option pricing theory, discounted cash flow
concepts, etc.

Dominion Delivery

2002 2001 2000

(millions, except per share amounts)

Operating revenue $2,552 $2,963 $2,826
Operating expenses 1,653 2,202 2,123
Net income contribution 455 366 339
Earnings per share contribution $ 1.61 $ 1.45 $ 1.43

Electricity delivered (million mwhrs) 75 72 74
Gas throughput (mmcf) 364 357 356

Operating Results —2002

Dominion Delivery contributed $1.61 per diluted share on net

income of $455 million for 2002, an increase of $89 million

and $0.16 per diluted share over 2001. Net income for 2002

reflected lower operating revenue ($411 million), operating

expenses ($549 million) and other income ($37 million).

Changes in interest and income taxes, which are discussed on

a consolidated basis, were not significant.

Regulated electric sales revenue increased $58 million.

Favorable weather conditions, reflecting increased cooling and

heating degree-days, as well as customer growth, are estimated

to have contributed $62 million and $19 million, respectively.

Partially offsetting these increases was a net decrease of $23 mil-

lion due to other factors not separately measurable, such as the

impact of economic conditions on customer usage, as well as

variations in seasonal rate premiums and discounts.

Regulated gas sales revenue decreased $533 million, reflect-

ing $550 million for lower gas cost recoveries attributable to

lower prices and customer migration, partially offset by the

impact of slightly colder weather and other factors. The

decrease was substantially offset by a $489 million decrease in

purchased gas expense, reflecting the matching of purchased gas

costs and gas cost recoveries in rates, and increased gas trans-

portation service revenue.

Gas transportation and storage revenue increased $36 mil-

lion, primarily reflecting the shift of customer status from regu-

lated gas sales to gas transportation service in connection with

the switch by distribution customers to other natural gas suppli-

ers. The migration of customers does not generally affect net

income, as the recognition of the cost of gas delivered for regu-

lated gas sales customers is matched against rate recoveries.

Other operations and maintenance expense decreased $50

million, primarily reflecting lower general and administrative

expenses.

Depreciation decreased $11 million as a result of changes in

the estimated useful lives of electric distribution assets.
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Other income decreased $37 million, reflecting to a large

extent a $27 million increase in equity losses on Dominion’s

telecommunications joint venture. The increased losses reflected

lower revenue and increased operating expenses resulting from

the expansion into several new markets in 2002. See Notes 30

and 32 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Operating Results—2001

Dominion Delivery contributed $1.45 per diluted share on net

income of $366 million for 2001, an increase of $27 million and

$0.02 per diluted share over 2000 results. The increase in net

income reflects slightly higher gas throughput and slightly lower

volumes of electricity delivered, as well as overall higher gas and

electric rates.

Operating revenue increased $137 million to $3.0 billion

for 2001, reflecting a full year of CNG operations for 2001. This

is reflected in higher regulated gas sales and gas transportation

and storage revenue as a result of higher overall throughput and

rates. Regulated electric sales for 2001 reflect customer growth

and comparatively higher fuel rates, partially offset by the effect

of comparatively milder weather.

Operating expenses increased $79 million to $2.2 billion

for 2001. Higher prices for commodities delivered or consumed

contributed to increased purchased gas expense. In addition,

purchased gas increased, as 2000 amounts only included 11

months of CNG operations.

Dominion Exploration & Production

2002 2001 2000

(millions, except per share amounts)

Operating revenue $1,719 $1,460 $1,330
Operating expenses 1,111 934 920
Net income contribution 380 320 255
Earnings per share contribution $ 1.34 $ 1.27 $ 1.08

Gas production (bcf) 385 283 258
Oil production (million bbls) 10 7 8

Average realized prices with 

hedging results(1):

Gas (per mcf) $ 3.40 $ 3.80 $ 3.07
Oil (per bbl) 23.28 23.42 22.26

Average prices without hedging results:

Gas (per mcf) 3.03 3.87 3.70
Oil (per bbl) $24.44 $23.53 $23.98

(1) Average realized prices with hedging results do not include the financial
losses incurred on the economic hedges which are reported in and discussed
as part of the operating results of the Dominion Energy segment.

Operating Results—2002

Dominion Exploration & Production contributed $1.34 per

diluted share on net income of $380 million, an increase of $60

million and $0.07 per diluted share over 2001.

Operating revenue increased $259 million to $1.7 billion

for 2002, reflecting higher overall production as a result of the

full year operations of Louis Dreyfus and Dominion’s ongoing

drilling programs, partially offset by natural production

declines. Average realized gas and oil prices, including the

effects of hedging, decreased for the comparative years.

Operating expenses increased $177 million to $1.1 billion

for 2002, and reflect primarily the impact of including Louis

Dreyfus operations in 2002. The increase includes an increase

in depreciation, depletion and amortization expense of $138

million in connection with the higher levels of production noted

above, partially offset by lower depletion rates due primarily to

the inclusion of properties from the Louis Dreyfus acquisition.

Operating Results — 2001

Dominion Exploration & Production contributed $1.27 per

diluted share on net income of $320 million, an increase of $65

million and $0.19 per diluted share, as compared to 2000

results. Operating revenue increased $130 million to $1.5 billion

for 2001, reflecting a full year of CNG operations for 2001, two

months of Louis Dreyfus operations and higher average realized

gas and oil prices. The production increases reflect the addition

of Louis Dreyfus operations in the fourth quarter of 2001, offset

somewhat by natural declines at certain Dominion gas and oil

production properties.

Operating expenses increased $14 million to $934 million

for 2001, as compared to 2000, and include the acquisition of

Louis Dreyfus in the fourth quarter of 2001, as well as higher

operations and maintenance expenses associated with service

industry and contractor costs. Purchases of gas and oil for bro-

kered sales decreased in 2001.

Corporate and Other

2002 2001 2000

(millions, except per share amounts)

Net loss $ (243) $ (865) $ (647)
Earnings per share impact $(0.85) $(3.43) $(2.73)

Operating Results—2002

The net loss associated with corporate and other operations for

2002 was $243 million and $(0.85) per diluted share, a decrease

of $622 million and $2.58 per diluted share over 2001. The

decrease in net loss reflected higher operating expenses for 2001

as a result of specific charges described in Operating Results —
2001 below. In addition, the decreased net loss for 2002

included an $88 million decrease in operating expenses, due

to the discontinuance of goodwill amortization.

Operating Results—2001

The net loss associated with corporate and other operations

for 2001 was $865 million and $(3.43) per diluted share, an

increase of $218 million and $0.70 per diluted share over 2000.

These results reflect comparatively higher operating expenses

for 2001 that included the following specific items, which are

discussed in Notes 6, 8, 9, 15 and 27 to the Consolidated

Financial Statements:
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■ a $105 million charge for restructuring activities, including

employee severance and termination benefits and costs

associated with the termination of leases;

■ a $281 million charge, reported in other operations and

maintenance expense, for the impairment of various DCI

investments;

■ a $151 million charge for credit exposure associated with

the bankruptcy of Enron;

■ a $220 million charge, reported in operations and mainte-

nance expense, related to the termination of certain long-term

power purchase contracts; and

■ a $40 million loss on the sale of Saxon Capital, reported in

other operations and maintenance expense.

Charges in 2000 included restructuring and acquisition-

related charges of $460 million and DCI impairments of

$119 million. These charges were partially offset by the

cumulative effect of an accounting change of $21 million.

These items are discussed in Notes 3, 8 and 9 to the

Consolidated Financial Statements.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Dominion and its subsidiaries depend on both internal and

external sources of liquidity to provide working capital and to

fund capital requirements. Short-term cash requirements not

met by cash provided by operating activities are generally satis-

fied with proceeds from short-term borrowings. Long-term cash

needs are met through sales of securities and additional long-

term debt financing.

Internal Sources of Liquidity
As presented on Dominion’s Consolidated Statements of Cash

Flows, net cash flows from operating activities were $2.4 billion,

$2.4 billion and $1.3 billion for the years ended December 31,

2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Dominion’s management

believes that its operations provide a stable source of cash

flow sufficient to contribute to planned levels of capital

expenditures and maintain current shareholder dividend levels.

As noted above, Dominion uses a combination of debt and

equity securities to fund capital requirements not covered by

the timing or amounts of operating cash flows. As discussed

under Credit Ratings and Cash Requirements for Planned Capital
Expenditures below, Dominion is taking steps to improve its

financial position in response to current credit rating require-

ments. As a result of these measures, Dominion may choose to

postpone or cancel certain planned capital expenditures, to

the extent they are not fully covered by operating cash flows.

Dominion would do this in order to mitigate the need for

future debt financings, beyond those needed to cover normal

maturities and redemptions.

Dominion’s operations are subject to risks and uncertain-

ties that may negatively impact cash flows from operations.

Such risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to,

the following:

■ unusual weather and its effect on energy sales to customers

and energy commodity prices;

■ extreme weather events that could disrupt offshore gas and

oil production or cause catastrophic damage to Dominion’s elec-

tric distribution and transmission systems;

■ exposure to unanticipated changes in prices for energy

commodities purchased or sold, including the effect on deriva-

tive instruments that may require the use of funds to post mar-

gin deposits with counterparties;

■ effectiveness of Dominion’s risk management activities and

underlying assessment of market conditions and related factors,

including energy commodity prices, basis, liquidity, volatility,

counterparty credit risk, availability of generation and transmis-

sion capacity, currency exchange rates and interest rates;

■ the cost of replacement electric energy in the event of

longer-than-expected or unscheduled generation outages;

■ contractual or regulatory restrictions on transfers of funds

among Dominion and its subsidiaries; and

■ timeliness of recovery for costs subject to cost-of-service

utility rate regulation.

External Sources of Liquidity
Dominion Resources, Inc., Virginia Electric and Power Com-

pany (Virginia Power) and CNG (collectively the Dominion

Companies) rely on bank and capital markets as a significant

source of funding for capital requirements not satisfied by cash

provided by the companies’ operations. As discussed further in

the Credit Ratings section below, the Dominion Companies’

ability to borrow funds or issue securities and the return

demanded by investors are affected by the issuing company’s

credit ratings. In addition, the raising of external capital is

subject to certain regulatory approvals, including the SEC and,

in the case of Virginia Power, the Virginia State Corporation

Commission (Virginia Commission).

During 2002, the Dominion Companies issued long-term

debt (net of exchanged debt), trust preferred securities, pre-

ferred stock and common stock totaling approximately $4.85

billion. The proceeds were used primarily to repay other debt

and to finance capital expenditures.

Credit Facilities and Short-Term Debt

The Dominion Companies use short-term debt, primarily com-

mercial paper, to fund working capital requirements and as

bridge financing for acquisitions. The levels of borrowing may

vary significantly during the course of the year, depending upon

the timing and amount of cash requirements not satisfied by

cash from operations. The commercial paper programs are

supported by the credit facilities discussed below.
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At December 31, 2002, the Dominion Companies had the

following short-term debt outstanding and capacity available

under credit facilities:

Outstanding Outstanding Facility
Facility Commercial Letters of Capacity

Limit Paper Credit Remaining

(millions)

364-day revolving joint 

credit facility $1,250
Three-year revolving joint 

credit facility 750

Total joint credit facilities(1) 2,000 $1,193 $106 $701
CNG credit facility(2) 500 500
Cove Point bridge facility(3) 250 250

Totals $2,750 $1,193 $606 $951

(1) The joint credit facilities support borrowings by the Dominion Companies.
The 364-day revolving credit facility terminates in May 2003 and the three-
year revolving credit facility terminates in May 2005. Dominion expects to
renew the 364-day revolving credit facility prior to its maturity.

(2) This credit facility is used to support the issuance of letters of credit and
commercial paper by CNG to fund collateral requirements under its gas and
oil hedging program.The credit facility terminates in August 2003.

(3) Dominion financed its acquisition of Cove Point with commercial paper
supported by this facility.The facility terminated on March 5, 2003 and was
not renewed.

Long-Term Debt

During 2002, Dominion Resources, Inc. and its subsidiaries

issued the following long-term debt:

Type Principal Rate Maturity Issuing Company

(millions)

Medium-term

notes $ 250 3.875% 2004 Dominion Resources
Equity-linked 

debt securities 330 5.75% 2008 Dominion Resources
Senior notes 1,620 5.125%– 2009–

6.75% 2032 Dominion Resources
Senior notes 650 5.375% 2007 Virginia Power
Medium-term Dominion Canada

notes(1) 83 5.72% 2005 Finance Company
Bankers Dominion Exploration

acceptances(1) 13 3.58% 2003 Canada Ltd.

Total long-term 

debt issued 2,946
Less direct 

exchanges(2) (637)

Total long-term 

debt issued, 

excluding direct 

exchanges $2,309

(1) Securities are denominated in Canadian dollars but presented here in
US dollars, based on exchange rates as of date of issuance.

(2) During 2002,Virginia Power redeemed $117 million of 6.75 percent
mortgage bonds due 2007 in a direct exchange for 5.375 percent
senior notes due 2007. Also during 2002, Dominion redeemed
$200 million of 7.40 percent remarketable senior notes and $250
million variable rate remarketable senior notes, both due 2012, in a
direct exchange for $520 million 5.70 percent senior notes due 2012.
That principal amount was determined by an exchange ratio based on
the fair value of the remarketable senior notes.The direct exchanges
are discussed in Note 21 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

In December 2002, Dominion issued $300 million of

5.125 percent senior notes due 2009 and $300 million of 6.75

percent senior notes due 2032. Dominion placed $500 million

of proceeds in escrow to be used solely to repay a portion of

certain Dominion senior notes maturing in January 2003. The

remaining principal amount of the maturing senior notes was

repaid through the issuance of additional commercial paper in

January 2003.

In February 2003, Dominion Resources issued $300

million of 2.80 percent senior notes due 2005 and $400 million

of 4.125 percent senior notes due 2008. Also in February 2003,

Dominion Resources issued $500 million of variable rate senior

notes due 2013, in a private placement of the securities. In

February 2003, Virginia Power issued $400 million of 4.75

percent senior notes due 2013. In March 2003, Dominion

issued $300 million of 5.0 percent senior notes due 2013 and

$300 million of 6.30 percent senior notes due 2033. The

proceeds from these debt issuances were used primarily for

Dominion’s tender offering for Dominion Fiber Ventures, LLC

senior notes, debt maturities, commercial paper and other

general corporate purposes. The acquisition of Dominion

Fiber Ventures, LLC senior notes is discussed in MD&A

under Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Note 30 to the

Consolidated Financial Statements.

During 2002, Dominion and its subsidiaries repaid $1.6

billion of long-term debt securities.

Trust Preferred Securities

During 2002, Virginia Power, through a capital trust subsidiary,

issued $400 million of 7.375 percent trust preferred securities.

The trust preferred securities must be redeemed when the trust’s

sole assets, the junior subordinated notes due 2042 issued by

Virginia Power, are repaid. Virginia Power used the net proceeds

from the sale of trust preferred securities primarily to redeem its

variable rate preferred stock as discussed under Preferred Stock
below for $250 million and $135 million of 8.05 percent trust

preferred securities of Virginia Power Capital Trust I. Trust pre-

ferred securities are discussed in Note 22 to the Consolidated

Financial Statements.

Preferred Stock

During 2002, Virginia Power issued 1,250 units consisting of

1,000 shares per unit of cumulative preferred stock for $125 mil-

lion. Proceeds were used for general corporate purposes. The

preferred stock has a dividend rate of 5.50 percent until the end

of the initial dividend period on December 20, 2007. The divi-

dend rate for subsequent periods will be determined according

to periodic auctions. The preferred stock has a liquidation pref-

erence of $100 per share plus accumulated and unpaid divi-

dends. During 2002, Virginia Power used the proceeds from the

sale of trust preferred securities to redeem its variable rate pre-

ferred stock October 1988 Series, June 1989 Series, September
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1992A Series, and September 1992B Series for $250 million.

Preferred stock is discussed in Note 23 to the Consolidated

Financial Statements.

Common Stock

During 2002, Dominion issued 44 million shares of common

stock and received proceeds of $2.0 billion. Approximately 38

million shares and proceeds of $1.7 billion resulted from two

public offerings. Net proceeds were used for general corporate

purposes, principally repayment of debt. The remainder of the

shares issued and proceeds received during 2002 occurred

through Dominion Direct® (a dividend reinvestment and open

enrollment direct stock purchase plan), employee savings plans

and the exercise of employee stock options. During 2002,

Dominion also reacquired approximately one million shares of

its common stock for $66 million primarily with proceeds

received from the exercise of employee stock options.

Amounts Available under Shelf Registrations

At March 6, 2003, Dominion Resources, Inc., Virginia Power,

and CNG had approximately $1.1 billion, $1.3 billion, and $1.5

billion, respectively, of available capacity under currently effec-

tive shelf registrations. Securities that may be issued under

these shelf registrations, depending upon the registrant,

include senior notes (including medium-term notes),

subordinated notes, first and refunding mortgage bonds, trust

preferred securities, preferred stock and common stock.

Credit Ratings

Credit ratings are intended to provide banks and capital market

participants with a framework for comparing the credit quality

of securities and are not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold

securities. Management believes that the current credit ratings

of the Dominion Companies provide sufficient access to the

capital markets. However, disruptions in the bank and capital

markets not specifically related to Dominion may affect the

Dominion Companies’ ability to access these funding sources

or cause an increase in the return required by investors.

Both quantitative (financial strength) and qualitative (busi-

ness or operating characteristics) factors are considered by the

credit rating agencies in establishing an individual company’s

credit rating. Credit ratings are subject to revision or withdrawal

at any time by the assigning rating organization, and each rating

should be evaluated independently. The credit ratings for the

Dominion Companies are most affected by each company’s

financial profile, mix of regulated and non-regulated businesses

and respective cash flows, changes in methodologies used by the

rating agencies and “event risk,” if applicable, such as major

acquisitions.

Credit ratings for the Dominion Companies as of March 1,

2003 follow:

Standard & Poor’s Moody’s

Dominion Resources, Inc.

Senior unsecured debt securities BBB+ Baa1

Preferred securities of subsidiary trusts BBB– Baa2

Commercial paper A-2 P-2

Virginia Power

Mortgage bonds A– A2

Senior unsecured (including tax-exempt) 

debt securities BBB+ A3

Preferred securities of subsidiary trust BBB Baa1

Preferred stock BBB Baa2

Commercial paper A-2 P-1

CNG

Senior unsecured debt securities BBB+ A3

Preferred securities of subsidiary trust BBB– Baa1

Commercial paper A-2 P-2

These credit ratings reflect Standard & Poor’s downgrade of

its credit ratings for Virginia Power’s debt, preferred securities of

subsidiary trusts, preferred stock and commercial paper in

October 2002. Based on its conclusions about regulatory insula-

tion in Virginia being no better than other states, Standard &

Poor’s concluded that Virginia Power’s ratings should be no

more than one-notch above the ratings of its parent, Dominion

Resources, Inc. Standard & Poor’s noted that Virginia Power’s

downgrade is not reflective of any diminished credit protection

measures, as Virginia Power’s credit protection measures on a

stand-alone basis remain strong. As of March 1, 2003, Moody’s

maintains a negative outlook for its ratings of Dominion

Resources, Inc. and CNG.

Generally, a downgrade in an individual company’s credit

rating would not restrict its ability to raise short-term and long-

term financing so long as its credit rating remains “investment

grade,” but it would increase the cost of borrowing. Dominion

has been working closely with both Standard & Poor’s and

Moody’s with the objective of maintaining its current credit rat-

ings. Recent steps to improve the agencies’ view of Dominion’s

financial position include the reduction of planned capital

spending and related borrowings, as discussed below, and the

issuance of $2.0 billion of common stock during 2002. As

discussed in Risk Factors and Cautionary Statements That May
Affect Future Results, in order to maintain its current ratings,

Dominion may find it necessary to take further steps or change

its business plans, and such changes may adversely affect its

growth and earnings per share.
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Debt Covenants

As part of borrowing funds and issuing debt (both short-term

and long-term) or preferred securities, the Dominion Compa-

nies must enter enabling agreements. These agreements contain

covenants that, in the event of default, could result in the accel-

eration of principal and interest payments; restrictions on distri-

butions related to its capital stock, including dividends,

redemptions, repurchases, liquidation payments or guarantee

payments; and in some cases, the termination of credit commit-

ments unless a waiver of such requirements is agreed to by the

lenders/security holders. These provisions are customary, with

each agreement specifying which covenants apply. These provi-

sions are not necessarily unique to the Dominion Companies.

Some of the typical covenants include:

■ the timely payment of principal and interest;

■ information requirements, including submittal of financial

reports filed with the SEC to lenders;

■ keeping books and records in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles;

■ payment of taxes, maintaining insurance;

■ performance obligations, audits/inspections, continuation

of the basic nature of business, restrictions on certain matters

related to merger or consolidation, restrictions on disposition of

substantial assets;

■ financial covenants, such as a limit on total funded debt to

total capitalization;

■ compliance with collateral minimums or requirements

related to mortgage bonds; and

■ limitations on liens.

Dominion monitors the covenants on a regular basis in

order to provide assurance that events of default will not occur.

As of December 31, 2002, there were no events of default under

the Dominion Companies’ covenants.

Investing Activities
During 2002, investing activities resulted in a net cash outflow

of $4.0 billion, reflecting the following:

■ $1.3 billion that included construction and expansion of

generation facilities, including environmental upgrades, pur-

chase of nuclear fuel, and construction and improvements of gas

and electric transmission and distribution assets;

■ $1.5 billion for the purchase and development of gas and oil

producing properties, drilling and equipment costs and unde-

veloped lease acquisitions;

■ the acquisitions of State Line for $185 million and Cove

Point for $225 million; and

■ contributions to escrow of $500 million that were subse-

quently used to repay a portion of certain Dominion senior

notes maturing in January 2003.

Cash Requirements for Planned Capital Expenditures
Cash requirements for Dominion’s planned capital expenditures

during 2003, 2004 and 2005 are expected to total approxi-

mately $2.5 billion, $2.3 billion and $2.2 billion, respectively.

These expenditures include construction and expansion of

generation facilities, environmental upgrades, construction

improvements and expansion of gas and electric transmission

and distribution assets, purchases of nuclear fuel and expendi-

tures to develop natural gas and oil properties. Dominion

expects to fund its capital expenditures with cash from

operations, and a combination of sales of securities and 

short-term borrowings.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Leasing Arrangements
As of December 31, 2002, Dominion, through certain sub-

sidiaries, has entered into agreements with special purpose enti-

ties (lessors) in order to finance and lease several new power

generation projects, as well as its corporate headquarters and

aircraft. As Dominion is considered the owner of the leased

property for tax purposes, it is entitled to tax deductions for

depreciation not recognized for financial accounting purposes.

In addition, because the leases are structured to be operating

leases for financial accounting purposes, the assets and related

borrowings used to finance the construction of the assets are not

included on Dominion’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. Although

this improves measures of leverage calculated using amounts

reported in Dominion’s Consolidated Financial Statements,

credit rating agencies view such amounts as debt obligations in

evaluating Dominion’s credit profile. These leasing structures

provide a desirable level of operational flexibility. Dominion

has been appointed to act as the construction agent for the

lessor and controls the design and construction of the facility.

Also, Dominion has the option to purchase the facility at the

expiration or termination of the lease and thus may benefit

from any appreciation in the value of the facility. While

Dominion is exposed to sharing in any loss that could occur if

the project were terminated prior to completion or sold after

being completed, such exposure is limited to a stated percentage

of the realized loss, as discussed below. In addition, under the

terms of each lease, the lessee generally retains operational

control of the facility.

At December 31, 2002, the lessors had an aggregate

financing commitment from equity and debt investors of

$2.2 billion. Of that amount, $1.6 billion had been used for

total project costs. Total project costs at December 31, 2002

included approximately $288 million of costs advanced by

Dominion to the lessor, that will be reimbursed by the lessor

during the second quarter of 2003. Dominion, in its role as
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construction agent for the lessors, is responsible for completing

construction by a specified date. In the event a project is termi-

nated before completion, Dominion has the option either to

purchase the project for 100 percent of project costs or termi-

nate the project and make a payment to the lessor of approxi-

mately, but no more, than 89.9 percent of project costs. Upon

completion of each individual project, Dominion has use of the

project assets subject to an operating lease. Dominion’s lease

payments to the lessors are sufficient to provide a return to the

investors. At the end of each individual project’s lease term,

Dominion may renew the lease at negotiated amounts based on

project costs and current market conditions, subject to investors’

approval; purchase the project at its original construction cost;

or sell the project, on behalf of the lessors, to an independent

third party. If the project is sold and the proceeds from the

sale are insufficient to repay the investors, Dominion may be

required to make a payment to the lessors up to an amount

ranging from 81 percent to 85 percent of the project cost,

depending on the individual project and applicable agreement.

Dominion has guaranteed a portion of the obligations of its

subsidiaries to the lessors during the construction and post-

construction periods. Neither the guarantees nor the underlying

transaction documents contain any type of credit rating or stock

price trigger events.

In February 2003, pursuant to the terms of its lease agree-

ment, Dominion purchased the electric generation facility

under construction in Dresden, Ohio for $266 million. This

amount was included in total project costs of $1.6 billion as of

December 31, 2002. Dominion expects to complete construc-

tion in 2005 at an estimated cost of $350 million.

Annual minimum lease payments under these leases

for assets currently in use total approximately $38 million. Pro-

jects being developed under leasing arrangements are scheduled

for completion in 2003 and 2004. Annual lease payments for

these projects are estimated to be $7 million for 2003 and $79

million by 2005. The leases are discussed in Notes 4 and 27 to

the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Securitizations of Mortgages and Loans
As of December 31, 2002, Dominion held $448 million of

retained interests from securitizations of mortgage and commer-

cial loans completed in prior years. Dominion did not securitize

or originate loans in 2002. Investors in the securitization trusts

have no recourse to Dominion’s other assets for failure of debtors

to repay principal and interest on the underlying loans when

due. Therefore, Dominion’s exposure to any future losses from

this activity is limited to its investment in retained interests.

Securitizations are discussed in Accounting for retained interests
from securitizations under Critical Accounting Policies and Notes

2, 9 and 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Dominion Fiber Ventures, LLC
As discussed in Note 30 to the Consolidated Financial

Statements, Dominion has accounted for its 50 percent voting

interest in Dominion Fiber Ventures, LLC (DFV), a telecom-

munications joint venture, under the equity method. In connec-

tion with its formation, DFV issued $665 million of senior

notes due March 2005. As DFV was not consolidated by

Dominion, these notes were not reported on Dominion’s Con-

solidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2002. The DFV senior

notes were secured in part by Dominion convertible preferred

stock held in trust. Dominion was the beneficial owner of the

trust and included it in the preparation of its Consolidated

Financial Statements. Prior to Dominion’s repurchase of sub-

stantially all of the outstanding DFV senior notes in February

2003, as described below, the preferred stock would have been

subject to being remarketed in an amount sufficient to retire the

notes at maturity or earlier if the credit ratings for Dominion

Resources, Inc. senior unsecured debt were BBB– or Baa3 dur-

ing a period when the closing price of Dominion’s common

stock was below $45.97 for ten consecutive trading days. If the

remarketing of the preferred stock occurred, the convertible pre-

ferred stock would have been considered in the calculation of

diluted earnings per share of Dominion’s common stock or

could have resulted in the issuance of additional shares of

Dominion common stock, if converted. Related-party transac-

tions between Dominion and DFV included borrowings, pay-

ment of interest and the provision of support services by

Dominion to DFV. These transactions are discussed in Note 30

to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

On January 23, 2003, Dominion and DFV made a tender

and consent offering for the DFV senior notes. Under the terms

of the offering, DFV sought the consent of the note holders to

remove the stock price and credit downgrade trigger described

above as well as certain other related modifications to the inden-

ture. Dominion offered to purchase for cash all of the outstand-

ing notes. The consent and tender offer was successful, resulting

in the removal of the stock price and credit downgrade trigger

and the purchase of $633 million of the outstanding notes by

Dominion on February 21, 2003. Dominion paid a total of

$664 million for the notes acquired, using proceeds from the

sale of $700 million of senior notes in February 2003. As a

result of this transaction, Dominion will consolidate the results

of DFV in its financial statements beginning in February 2003.

The DFV senior notes held by Dominion will be eliminated in

consolidation. Furthermore, since Dominion holds substantially

all of the DFV Senior Notes, it is unlikely that the remarketing

of the Dominion convertible preferred stock held in trust, dis-

cussed above, would ever occur. After the transaction, $21 mil-

lion of the DFV senior notes remain outstanding in the hands

of the third parties. Dominion will recognize a pre-tax charge

of approximately $60 million on the effective extinguishment of
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the acquired notes in the first quarter of 2003. The charge

will consist primarily of the premium paid to acquire the notes,

the consent fee paid to the note holders and the write-off of

unamortized debt costs related to the original issuance of the

DFV senior notes. The charge will be reported in the Corporate

and Other segment. See Outlook for 2003.

Contractual Obligations
Presented below is a summary of Dominion’s contractual obliga-

tions as of December 31, 2002. These items are discussed in

Notes 21, 22 and 27 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Payments Due by Period

Less More 
than 1-3 3-5 than 

Contractual Obligations Total 1 year years years 5 years

(millions)

Long-term debt $14,205 $2,125 $2,259 $2,766 $ 7,055
Trust preferred securities 1,400 1,400
Lease obligations(1) 478 94 176 129 79
Power purchase contracts 8,606 687 1,315 1,232 5,372
Fuel and other commitments 1,844 645 686 365 148

Total $26,533 $3,551 $4,436 $4,492 $14,054

(1) Amounts relate to in-service assets as of December 31, 2002. Estimated
lease payments for leased assets under construction, as described in Note 27
to the Consolidated Financial Statements, are estimated to be $7 million in
2003 increasing to $79 million by 2005, as projects are completed.

Dominion expects to fund these obligations and commit-

ments with cash flow from operations and a combination of

sales of securities and short-term borrowings. These amounts

do not include planned capital expenditures or working

capital commitments, such as the repayment of short-term

debt and settlement of derivative and energy trading contracts,

or amounts for interest or distributions payable on securities

issued by Dominion.

As described in Note 27 to the Consolidated Financial

Statements, Dominion Resources, Inc. and certain sub-

sidiaries have entered agreements that provide financial or

performance assurance to third parties on behalf of unconsoli-

dated entities and officers. At December 31, 2002, these

guarantees totaled $102 million. See Note 27 to the

Consolidated Financial Statements.

Future Issues and Outlook

Regulated Electric Operations

Electric Deregulation Legislation

Virginia—Enacted In 1999, the Virginia Electric Utility

Restructuring Act (the Virginia Restructuring Act) establishes

a plan to restructure Virginia’s electric utility industry. The

Act provides for the phase-in of choice for retail customers

from January 1, 2002 through January 1, 2004. As ordered

by the Virginia Commission, Dominion made retail choice

available to all of its Virginia regulated electric customers as

of January 1, 2003.

Under the Virginia Restructuring Act, the generation por-

tion of Dominion’s Virginia jurisdictional operations was no

longer subject to cost-based rate regulation as of January 1,

2002. Dominion’s base rates (excluding fuel costs and certain

other allowable adjustments) will remain capped until July

2007, unless modified or terminated sooner under the Act.

Recovery of generation-related costs will continue through

capped rates, and, where applicable, a wires charge assessed on

those customers opting for alternative suppliers. Dominion may

petition the Virginia Commission to terminate the capped rates

after January 1, 2004. If Dominion were to request that the

capped rates be terminated, the Virginia Commission may ter-

minate the capped rates if it finds that a competitive generation

services market exists within Dominion’s service area.

Additionally, the Virginia Restructuring Act provides that

after the end of the capped rate period, any default service pro-

vided by Dominion will be based upon competitive market

prices for electric generation services. The Virginia Commission

has opened a proceeding to determine the components of

default service in Virginia.

North Carolina—The North Carolina General Assembly

has been exploring the future of electric service in North

Carolina, the development of a competitive wholesale market

and retail competition. However, to date, there has been no

significant activity.
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Virginia Commission Report on the Status of Competition in Virginia

In August 2002, the Virginia Commission submitted to the

Governor and the Legislative Transition Task Force (Task Force)

its status report on the development of a competitive retail mar-

ket for electric generation within Virginia.

In an addendum to the report, the Virginia Commission

recommended that state policymakers should decide promptly

whether to proceed with or delay implementation of the Vir-

ginia Restructuring Act, in light of recent developments impact-

ing electric industry restructuring in Virginia, including the

Federal Energy Regulatory Commission’s (FERC) issuance of a

notice of proposed rule making on Standard Market Design.

No assessment can be made at this time concerning future

developments.

Legislation that would delay entry into a regional transmis-

sion organization (RTO) until on or after July 1, 2004 was

approved by the Virginia General Assembly in February 2003

and is now awaiting action by the Governor. The proposed leg-

islation also would require Dominion to file an application with

the Virginia Commission by July 1, 2003 to join a RTO. Subject

to Virginia Commission approval, Dominion would be required

to transfer management and control of its transmission assets to

a RTO by January 1, 2005.

Separation of Generation and Delivery Operations in Virginia

Under the Virginia Restructuring Act, Virginia Power separated

its generation, distribution, and transmission functions through

creation of divisions within Virginia Power. Virginia codes of

conduct ensure that Virginia Power’s generation and other

divisions operate independently and prevent cross-subsidies

between the generation and other divisions.

Economic Risks and Benefits During the Transition to a

Competitive Electric Marketplace in Virginia

As previously discussed, Dominion will recover generation-

related costs through capped rates and wires charges, where

applicable, assessed to those customers opting for alternative

suppliers during the transition period, which extends until July

2007, unless modified or terminated earlier under the Virginia

Restructuring Act. Under the Act, Dominion may request a ter-

mination of the capped rates at any time after January 1, 2004,

and the Virginia Commission may grant Dominion’s request to

terminate the capped rates, if it finds that a competitive genera-

tion services market exists in Dominion’s service area. While

Dominion is exposed to certain risks as a result of the deregula-

tion of its utility operations, it also has the opportunity to realize

potential benefits during this transition period, if management

is successful in preparing for the change in the environment in

which its generation-related business operates.

Stranded Costs—Stranded costs are those costs incurred or

commitments made by utilities under cost-based regulation that

may not be reasonably expected to be recovered in a competitive

market. At December 31, 2002, Dominion’s exposure to poten-

tially stranded costs consisted of long-term purchased power

contracts that could ultimately be determined to be above mar-

ket; generating plants that could possibly become uneconomical

in a deregulated environment; and unfunded obligations for

nuclear plant decommissioning and postretirement benefits not

yet recognized in the financial statements. Dominion believes

capped electric retail rates and, where applicable, wires charges

will provide an opportunity to recover a portion of its poten-

tially stranded costs, depending on market prices of electricity

and other factors. Recovery of Dominion’s potentially stranded

costs remains subject to numerous risks even in the capped-rate

environment. These include, among others, exposure to long-

term power purchase commitment losses, future environmental

compliance requirements, changes in tax laws, nuclear decom-

missioning costs, inflation, increased capital costs, and recovery

of certain other items. These items are discussed in Notes 16, 26

and 27 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The enactment of deregulation legislation in 1999 not only

caused the discontinuance of SFAS No. 71, Accounting for the
Effects of Certain Types of Regulation, for Dominion’s utility

generation-related operations but also caused Dominion to

review its utility generation assets for impairment and long-term

power purchase contracts for potential loss at that time. Signifi-

cant assumptions considered in that review included possible

future market prices for fuel and electricity, load growth, gener-

ating unit availability and future capacity additions in Domin-

ion’s market, capital expenditures, including those related to

environmental improvements, and decommissioning activities.

Based on those analyses, no recognition of plant impairments

or contract losses was appropriate at that time. In response to

future events resulting from the development of a competitive

market structure in Virginia and the expiration or termination

of capped rates and wires charges, Dominion may have to

reevaluate its utility generation assets for impairment and long-

term power purchase contracts for potential losses. Assumptions

about future market prices for electricity represent a critical

factor that affects the results of such evaluations. Since 1999,

market prices for electricity have fluctuated significantly and

will continue to be subject to volatility. Any such review in

the future, which would be highly dependent on assumptions

considered appropriate at the time, could possibly result in

the recognition of plant impairment or contract losses that

would be material to Dominion’s results of operations or its

financial position.
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In December 2002, the Task Force requested the Virginia

Commission to convene a work group on stranded costs. The

work group will attempt to develop a consensus methodology

for determining the over- or under-recovery of stranded costs.

The Virginia Commission will report the work group’s findings

to the Task Force by July 1, 2003. No assessment can be made at

this time concerning future developments.

Changes to Cost Structure—While the Virginia Restructur-

ing Act did not define specific generation-related costs to be

recovered, it did provide generation-related cash flows (through

the combination of capped rates and wires charges billed to cus-

tomers) during the transition period. The generation-related

cash flows provided by the Virginia Restructuring Act are

intended to compensate Dominion for continuing to provide

generation services and to allow Dominion management to

incur costs to restructure such operations during the transition

period. As a result, during the transition period, Dominion may

realize an increased rate of return on its generation-related oper-

ations to the extent that management can favorably alter the

cost structure underlying its utility generation-related opera-

tions. Conversely, the same risks affecting the recovery of

Dominion’s stranded costs, discussed above, may also adversely

impact its cost structure during the transition period. Accord-

ingly, Dominion could realize the negative economic impact of

any such adverse event. In addition to managing the cost of its

generation-related operations, Dominion may also seek oppor-

tunities to sell available electric energy and capacity to cus-

tomers beyond its electric utility service territory. Using cash

flows from operations during the transition period, Dominion

may further alter its cost structure or choose to make additional

investment in its business.

The capped rates were derived from rates established as part

of the 1998 Virginia rate settlement and do not provide for spe-

cific recovery of particular generation-related expenditures,

except for certain regulatory assets. See Note 19 to the Consoli-

dated Financial Statements. To the extent that Dominion man-

ages its operations to reduce its overall operating costs below

those levels contemplated by the capped rates, Dominion’s earn-

ings may increase. Since the enactment of the Virginia Restruc-

turing Act, Dominion has been reviewing its cost structure to

identify opportunities to reduce the annual operating expenses

of its generation-related operations. For example, in 2001

Dominion terminated certain long-term power purchase agree-

ments resulting in an after-tax charge of $136 million. By avoid-

ing fixed capacity payments that would have otherwise been

required under the contracts, annual after-tax earnings will

increase by approximately $30 million during the transition

period. See Note 27 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Also in 2002 and 2001, Dominion revised the estimated

useful lives of its electric generation, transmission and distribution

assets. The changes in estimates were based upon expected life-

extensions of nuclear plants and new engineering studies of the

other assets. As a result of these changes, annual after-tax earnings

will increase by approximately $88 million during the transition

period. See Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

RTO

The Virginia Restructuring Act requires that Dominion join a

RTO. FERC encourages RTO formation as a means to foster

the formation of wholesale markets. FERC Order No. 2000

requires each public utility that owns or operates transmission

facilities to make certain filings with respect to RTO formation,

but will rely on voluntary formation of RTOs to advance its

energy policies. By joining a RTO, Dominion’s regulated electric

utility subsidiary, Virginia Power, would transfer functional

control of its transmission assets to a RTO, a third party.

In September 2002, Dominion and PJM Interconnection,

LLC (PJM) entered into the PJM South Implementation

Agreement. The agreement provides that, subject to regulatory

approval and certain provisions, Dominion will become a

member of PJM, transfer functional control of its electric

transmission facilities to PJM for inclusion in a new PJM South

Region, integrate its control area into the PJM energy markets

and otherwise facilitate the establishment and operation of

PJM as the RTO with respect to Dominion’s transmission facili-

ties. The agreement also contemplates additional agreements

and transmission tariff provisions to be negotiated by the parties

and allocates costs of implementation of the agreement among

the parties.

Dominion intends to file for FERC approval to join PJM in

the future. Dominion will also seek authorization from the Vir-

ginia Commission and the North Carolina Utilities Commis-

sion to become a member of PJM at that time. Dominion will

incur integration and operating costs associated with joining a

RTO. Dominion has deferred certain of those costs for future

recovery and is giving further consideration to seeking regula-

tory approval to defer the balance of such costs.

In December 2002, American Electric Power, Common-

wealth Edison Company, Dayton Power and Light Company

(collectively, the New PJM Companies), PJM and Dominion

tendered a joint filing with FERC. The joint filing proposes to

(1) include the New PJM Companies’ transmission facilities

within PJM functional control; (2) establish a transmission

rate for the existing PJM region, Dominion and the New PJM

Companies; (3) adopt a transitional rate method to maintain

transmission revenue for Dominion and the New PJM Compa-

nies and (4) amend certain agreements on file with FERC

concerning the PJM energy market, planning processes and

system operations as related to the integration of the New PJM

Companies into PJM.
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Also in December 2002, Dominion filed with FERC an

amendment to its open access transmission tariff to establish

a transitional transmission rate method that would apply

from the time American Electric Power and Commonwealth

Edison Company would begin to participate under the PJM

transmission tariff until Dominion joins PJM.

Legislation that would delay entry into a RTO until on or

after July 1, 2004 was approved by the Virginia General Assem-

bly in February 2003 and is now awaiting action by the Gover-

nor. The proposed legislation also would require Dominion to

file an application with the Virginia Commission by July 1,

2003 to join a RTO. Subject to Virginia Commission approval,

Dominion would be required to transfer management and con-

trol of its transmission assets to a RTO by January 1, 2005.

FERC Standard Market Design Proposal

In July 2002, FERC issued proposed rules that would establish a

standardized transmission service and wholesale electric market

design for entities participating in wholesale electric markets.

FERC proposed to exercise jurisdiction over the transmission

component of bundled retail transactions, modify the existing

electric transmission tariff to include a single tariff service

applicable to all transmission customers and provide a standard

market design for wholesale electric markets. FERC also pro-

posed that transmission owners that have not yet joined a RTO

must contract with a separate entity, an independent transmis-

sion provider, to operate their transmission facilities. FERC

scheduled a number of technical conferences and meetings with

interested parties and has indicated that the market design and

timing of the rule is subject to change. No assessment can be

made at this time concerning future developments.

Wholesale Competition

Dominion’s electric utility subsidiary sells electricity in the

wholesale market under its market-based sales tariff authorized

by FERC but has agreed not to make wholesale power sales

under this tariff to loads located within its service territory. In

February 2002, Dominion’s electric utility subsidiary received

FERC approval of a tariff to sell wholesale power at capped rates

based on its embedded cost of generation. This cost-based sales

tariff could be used to sell to loads within or outside its service

territory. Any such sales would be voluntary. Dominion’s sales of

natural gas, liquid hydrocarbon by-products and oil in whole-

sale markets are not regulated by FERC.

Rate Matters—Electric

Virginia—Dominion filed its Virginia Commission-

approved unbundled rates reflecting the functional separation of

generation, transmission and distribution in January 2002. Base

rates (excluding fuel costs and certain other allowable adjust-

ments) are capped and will remain unchanged until July 2007,

unless modified or terminated sooner as provided by the Vir-

ginia Restructuring Act. Under the Act, Dominion may request

a termination of the capped rates at any time after January 1,

2004, and the Virginia Commission may grant Dominion’s

request to terminate the capped rates, if it finds that a competi-

tive generation services market exists in Dominion’s service area.

Where applicable, wires charges, effective January 1, 2002 and

subject to annual adjustment, will be paid by Dominion’s

Virginia jurisdictional retail customers who choose an alterna-

tive generation supplier during the capped rate period.

In October 2002, the Virginia Commission approved

Dominion’s methodology for its 2003 market prices for genera-

tion, including a capacity adder, and the resulting wires charges.

The capacity adder reflects the capacity value that the sale of

generation is expected to produce in addition to an energy value

in market prices. Inclusion of the capacity adder in the market

price calculation will reduce wires charge revenues by the

amount of the expected additional revenue from the sale of the

displaced capacity in the wholesale market.

Dominion’s fuel factor for sales to Virginia jurisdictional

customers will remain unchanged for 2003.

North Carolina—Dominion’s regulated electric utility cannot

request an increase in its North Carolina jurisdictional base

rates until 2006, except for certain events that would have a sig-

nificant financial impact. Fuel rates, however, are still subject to

change under annual proceedings.

Regulated Gas Distribution Operations

Gas Deregulation Legislation

Each of the three states in which Dominion has gas distribution

operations has enacted or considered legislation regarding dereg-

ulation of natural gas sales at the retail level.

Ohio—Ohio has not enacted legislation requiring supplier

choice for residential and commercial natural gas consumers.

However, in cooperation with the Public Utilities Commission

of Ohio (Ohio Commission), Dominion on its own initiative

offers retail choice to customers. At December 31, 2002,

approximately 647,000 of Dominion’s 1.2 million Ohio cus-

tomers were participating in this open-access program. Large

industrial customers in Ohio also source their own natural

gas supplies.

Pennsylvania—At December 31, 2002, approximately

106,000 residential and small commercial customers had opted

for Energy Choice in Dominion’s Pennsylvania service area.

Nearly all Pennsylvania industrial and large commercial cus-

tomers buy natural gas from unregulated suppliers.

West Virginia—At this time, West Virginia has not enacted

legislation to require customer choice in its retail natural gas

markets. However, the West Virginia Public Service Commis-

sion (West Virginia Commission) has issued regulations to gov-

ern pooling services, one of the tools that natural gas suppliers

may utilize to provide retail customer choice in the future. In

addition, the West Virginia Commission is developing rules for
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a code of conduct between utilities and their marketing affili-

ates, as well as Consumer Protection regulations and Marketer

Licensing Rules. In 2002, the West Virginia Commission pro-

posed rules that require that competitive gas service providers be

licensed in West Virginia.

Rate Matters—Gas Distribution

When necessary, Dominion’s gas distribution subsidiaries in

Ohio, Pennsylvania and West Virginia seek general rate

increases on a timely basis to recover increased operating costs

and to ensure that rates of return are compatible with the cost of

raising capital. In addition to general rate increases, certain gas

distribution subsidiaries make routine separate filings with their

respective state regulatory commissions to reflect changes in the

costs of purchased gas. These purchased gas costs are recovered

through a mechanism that ensures dollar for dollar recovery of

prudently incurred costs. Costs incurred that are expected to be

recovered in future rates are deferred as regulatory assets.

Interstate Gas Transmission Operations

FERC Policy Developments

In October 2002, FERC hosted a public policy conference

regarding various short- and long-term issues that impact fed-

eral regulation of the natural gas industry. Among other issues,

FERC examined supply and demand forecasts, the adequacy of

natural gas infrastructure, regulatory policies applicable to liq-

uefied natural gas facilities, offshore gathering policies, and the

flexibility of interstate pipeline operations. As a result, FERC is

considering adjustments to its future regulatory policies con-

cerning the natural gas industry, including modification of its

approach to regulation of liquefied natural gas (LNG) projects.

The policy change is intended to encourage additional develop-

ment of LNG terminals and to increase the availability of

imported gas supplies.

FERC also continues to pursue rulemaking that will elimi-

nate separate standards of conduct regulations for natural gas

pipelines and electric transmission utilities, and replace these

requirements with uniform standards applicable to interstate

“Transmission Providers.” The proposed standards would rede-

fine the scope of affiliates covered by standards of conduct for

most FERC-regulated companies. If the proposed policy is

adopted, it will supersede the existing standards, that are applic-

able to Dominion. Dominion supports the policy goal to ensure

competitive interstate energy markets; however, Dominion has

advocated adjustments to the proposed rules.

Dominion anticipates further action by FERC in early

2003. While Dominion expects the outcome of a final rule to

improve its ability to compete with similarly-situated transmis-

sion providers, it does not expect a final rule to have a short-

term material impact on its results of operations, financial

position or cash flows.

Rate Matters—Gas Transmission

Dominion implemented various rate filings, tariff changes and

negotiated rate service agreements for its FERC-regulated busi-

nesses during 2002. In all material respects, these filings were

approved by FERC in the form requested by Dominion and

were subject to only minor modifications. Dominion has no

significant rate matters pending before FERC at this time.

Merchant Generation Operations
Dominion’s focus in its power generation business is to partici-

pate in power generation projects in the MAIN-to-Maine

region, with the focus on a balanced portfolio of generation

assets, while maintaining fuel and regional diversity. The region

begins at the Mid-America Interconnected Network (MAIN)

that includes electric service territories of the upper Midwest

and is home to Dominion’s Kincaid, State Line, and Elwood

generating facilities. The target region extends east to Virginia

Power’s service territory and north to New England, where

Dominion operates its Millstone power station. Dominion is

benefiting from the CNG acquisition, as it is developing and

operating natural gas-fired power generation facilities along its

natural gas pipeline system. Dominion is in various stages of

development for new natural gas-fired power generation facili-

ties throughout the MAIN-to-Maine region with estimated

completion dates from 2003 and beyond.

Exploration and Production Operations
Dominion continues to focus on increasing earnings from gas

and oil properties primarily through acquisition and develop-

ment activities, exploration, and operating efficiencies. The

November 2001 acquisition of Louis Dreyfus represented the

addition of significant, long-lived natural gas reserves located in

several onshore United States regions serving northeast markets.

This addition also provided significant new development

drilling opportunities, complementing Dominion’s existing

development and exploration activities. The emphasis toward

increased acquisition and development activities, as a comple-

ment to the higher risk exploration program, was further

supported by the 2002 purchase of several onshore properties

having additional development drilling and production

enhancement potential.

Pipeline Operations
Dominion plans to expand its natural gas transmission system

with a $497 million, 279-mile interstate pipeline. The Green-

brier Pipeline will originate in Kanawha County, West Virginia,

and extend through southwest Virginia into Granville County,

North Carolina. Piedmont Natural Gas is a 33 percent owner in

the pipeline project.
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Telecommunications Operations
Dominion continues the expansion of its operations as a com-

petitive provider of telecommunications services. These services

include providing facilities-based, high-bandwidth capacity

throughout the eastern United States with particular concentra-

tion on under-served markets. The future growth of its business

will involve adding new customers and revenues, lighting its

network, developing product extensions, and acquiring select

assets. Dominion is building a balanced portfolio of customers

representing multiple industry segments. See Note 30 to the

Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of the con-

solidation of Dominion’s telecommunications joint venture

beginning in February 2003.

Environmental Matters
Dominion is subject to costs resulting from a number of federal,

state and local laws and regulations designed to protect human

health and the environment. These laws and regulations affect

future planning and existing operations. They can result in

increased capital, operating and other costs as a result of compli-

ance, remediation, containment and monitoring obligations.

Historically, Dominion recovered such costs arising from regu-

lated electric operations through utility rates. However, to the

extent that environmental costs are incurred in connection with

operations regulated by the Virginia Commission, during the

period ending June 30, 2007, in excess of the level currently

included in the Virginia jurisdictional electric retail rates,

Dominion’s results of operations will decrease. After that date,

recovery through regulated rates may be sought for only those

environmental costs related to regulated electric transmission

and distribution operations. Dominion also may seek recovery

through regulated rates for environmental expenditures related

to regulated gas transmission and distribution operations.

Environmental Protection and Monitoring Expenditures

Dominion incurred approximately $123 million, $116 million

and $94 million of expenses (including depreciation) during

2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively, in connection with environ-

mental protection and monitoring activities, and expects these

expenses to be approximately $120 million in 2003. In addition,

capital expenditures related to environmental controls were

$335 million, $221 million and $214 million for 2002, 2001

and 2000, respectively. The estimated amount for these

expenditures is $260 million for 2003.

Clean Air Act Compliance

The Clean Air Act requires Dominion to reduce its emissions

of sulfur dioxide (SO2) and nitrogen oxide (NOX), which are

gaseous by-products of fossil fuel combustion. The Clean Air

Act’s SO2 reduction program is based on the issuance of a

limited number of SO2 emission allowances. Each allowance

permits the emission of one ton of SO2 into the atmosphere.

The allowances may be transacted with a third party.

Implementation of projects to comply with SO2 and NOX limi-

tations are ongoing and will be influenced by changes in the

regulatory environment, availability of allowances, various state

and federal control programs, and emission control technology.

In response to NOX reduction requirements mandated by the

Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) for states in which it

operates, Dominion plans to install NOX reduction equipment

by 2005 at its affected coal-fired generating facilities. The

installation of this equipment is estimated to cost approximately

$715 million, of which $445 million has been incurred as of

December 31, 2002.

EPA is planning to issue additional regulations to address

non-attainment of the new ozone and fine particulate

standards within the next few years, as well as ongoing regula-

tory action associated with regional haze. That regulatory

action could require additional reductions in SO2 and NOX

emissions from Dominion’s fossil fuel-fired generating facilities.

In addition, EPA is in the process of developing a proposed

standard for mercury emissions for electric utility coal-fired

boilers that could require significant mercury emission reduc-

tions from all of Dominion’s coal-fired generating units. If these

more stringent emission reduction requirements are imposed in

the future, new and perhaps significant expenditures could be

required. Dominion cannot predict the future financial impact

of implementing these potential requirements on its operations

at this time.

The United States Congress is considering various “multi-

pollutant” legislative proposals that would require fossil-fuel

fired generating units to comply with more stringent pollution

control standards for air emissions. Many of the proposals

would rely upon flexible cap and trade programs for compliance

and would exempt covered facilities from other Clean Air Act

requirements. They would phase-in the emission reduction

requirements under a variety of timeframes, up to 16 years.

Dominion cannot predict whether any of these proposals will

pass this year or in the future. However, if more stringent emis-

sions standards are ultimately imposed on Dominion’s generat-

ing units, new, perhaps significant, expenditures could be

required. Dominion cannot predict the future financial impact

on its operations at this time.

During 2000, Virginia Power received a Notice of Viola-

tion from EPA, alleging that Virginia Power failed to obtain

New Source Review permits under the Clean Air Act prior to

undertaking specified construction projects at the Mt. Storm

Power Station in West Virginia. The Attorney General of New

York filed a suit against Virginia Power alleging similar viola-

tions of the Clean Air Act at the Mt. Storm Power Station.

Virginia Power also received notices from the Attorneys

General of Connecticut and New Jersey of their intentions

to file suit for similar violations. In December 2002, the Attor-

ney General of Connecticut filed a motion to intervene as a
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plaintiff in the action filed by the New York State Attorney

General. This action has been stayed. Management believes

that Virginia Power has obtained the necessary permits for its

generating facilities. Virginia Power has reached an agreement

in principle with the federal government and the state of New

York to resolve this situation. The agreement in principle

includes payment of a $5 million civil penalty, a commitment

of $14 million for environmental projects in Virginia, West

Virginia, Connecticut, New Jersey and New York, and a 12-

year, $1.2 billion capital investment program for environmental

improvements at the Company’s coal-fired generating stations

in Virginia and West Virginia. Virginia Power had already com-

mitted to a substantial portion of the $1.2 billion expenditures

for SO2 and NOX emissions controls. The negotiations over the

terms of a binding settlement have expanded beyond the basic

agreement in principle and are ongoing. As of December 31,

2002, Virginia Power has recorded, on a discounted basis, $18

million for the civil penalty and environmental projects.

In 2002, EPA issued a Section 114 request for information

about whether projects undertaken at Virginia Power’s Chester-

field, Chesapeake, Yorktown, Possum Point and Bremo Bluff

power stations were properly permitted under the Clean Air

Act’s New Source Review requirements, to which Virginia

Power responded in a timely manner.

In 2002, the EPA issued a Section 114 request for informa-

tion about whether Morgantown Energy Associates’ (MEA)

facility in Morgantown, West Virginia is in compliance with

environmental requirements. MEA is a 50 percent-owned

equity-method investment. EPA made a site visit and at that

time received the requested information. In September 2002,

MEA received a copy of EPA’s inspection report summarizing

the facts surrounding the visit. MEA is prepared to resolve fol-

low-up questions from EPA.

Global Climate Change

In 1997, the United States signed an international Protocol to

limit man-made greenhouse emissions under the United

Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. However,

the Protocol will not become binding unless approved by the

U.S. Senate. Currently, the Bush Administration has indicated

that it will not pursue ratification of the Protocol, and has set a

voluntary goal of reducing the nation’s greenhouse gas emission

intensity by 18 percent over the next ten years. However, the

United States Congress is considering legislation that could

impose mandatory reductions of greenhouse gas emissions. The

cost of compliance with the Protocol or other mandatory green-

house gas reduction obligations could be significant for Domin-

ion. Given the highly uncertain outcome and timing of future

action by the U.S. federal government on this issue, Dominion

cannot predict the future financial impact of climate change

action on its operations at this time.

Accounting Matters
The FASB has issued several new standards that will affect

Dominion beginning in 2003. These include: SFAS No. 143,

Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations; Interpretation No.

45, Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for
Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of
Others — An Interpretation of FASB Statements No. 5, 57 and
107; and Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable
Interest Entities. In addition, the EITF rescinded EITF Issue

No. 98-10. See Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements

for further discussion of the impact of adopting these new

accounting standards and information about other standard-

setting activities.

Outlook for 2003
Dominion believes its operating businesses will provide a stable

contribution to net income on a per share basis in 2003, with

future growth in 2004. However, Dominion’s earnings per share

for 2003, on a consolidated basis, will include the effects of the

following items: severance costs under the plan discussed below;

fees paid to modify the DFV notes (see Note 30 to the Consoli-

dated Financial Statements); and the cumulative effect of imple-

menting changes in accounting for asset retirement obligations

and energy trading activities (see Note 4 to the Consolidated

Financial Statements). The 2003 projections for Dominion’s

operating businesses anticipate the following:

■ Higher sales of gas and oil, reflecting continued growth in

production and higher realized prices;

■ Improved contributions from Millstone’s operations, result-

ing from fewer planned outage days and more favorable sales

prices;

■ Expected Six Sigma cost savings;

■ Potential decrease in regulated electric sales, as compared

to 2002, assuming Dominion’s utility service territories experi-

ence a return to normal weather in 2003, partially offset by con-

tinued growth in electric utility customers;

■ Expiration of production tax credits;

■ Lower pension benefit credits; and

■ Increased losses from telecommunications operations.

Based on these projections, Dominion estimates that cash

flow from operations will increase in 2003, as compared to

2002. Such increase, coupled with reductions in discretionary

and developmental capital expenditures previously planned for

power generation and gas and oil exploration and production

projects, will provide sufficient cash flow to maintain Domin-

ion’s current dividend to common shareholders.
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Other Matters

Pension Costs

As discussed in Note 26 to the Consolidated Financial State-

ments, Dominion maintains qualified noncontributory defined

benefit retirement plans. Generally, Dominion’s funding policy

is to contribute annually an amount that is in accordance with

the provisions of the Employment Retirement Income Security

Act of 1974. Investment experience and market conditions,

including interest rates, impact the measurement of these

benefit obligations and the cost of providing such benefits.

Accordingly, assumptions for discount rates and the expected

long-term rate of return on investments are important consider-

ations under SFAS No. 87, Employers’ Accounting for Pensions.
However, since the objective of SFAS No. 87 is to recognize

the cost of providing benefits over employees’ service period,

it permits the delayed recognition of certain elements of

retirement plan results.

Dominion has reviewed the assumption used for expected

long-term rate of return on plan assets to better reflect antici-

pated future market conditions and has adopted an expected

rate of 8.75 percent for 2003. This change, combined with

other factors such as a revised discount rate assumption of 6.75

percent for 2003, will reduce Dominion’s 2003 pension credit

by an estimated $66 million, as compared to 2002. In addition,

in order to maintain the funded status of its retirement plans,

Dominion may have to contribute increased amounts to the

plans in future years. If, in the future, the accumulated benefit

obligations of Dominion’s retirement plans should exceed the

fair value of the plans’ investments at year-end, Dominion

would have to recognize a minimum pension liability for that

amount. Furthermore, the recognition of a minimum pension

liability would require the elimination of any prepaid pension

cost reported on Dominion’s Consolidated Balance Sheet at that

time, resulting in a charge to other comprehensive income and

a material adverse impact on common shareholders’ equity.

Workforce Reductions

In January 2003, Dominion announced plans to eliminate

some union and salaried positions during 2003. The workforce

reductions will affect primarily support positions, including

meter readers, supply and warehouse workers and auto mechan-

ics. Many of the reductions result from investments in auto-

mated meter-reading technology and the purchases of newer,

lower maintenance vehicles. Affected workers will be offered

severance packages, and benefits for union workers will be

negotiated during 2003. Pending completion of the process to

identify affected positions, Dominion has not estimated the

cost of the workforce reductions.

Expiration of Section 29 Tax Credits

The Internal Revenue Code Section 29 “Credit for the Produc-

tion of Fuel from Nonconventional Sources” (also referred to as

the production tax credit) allows income tax credits for certain

qualified production, including some natural gas, sold before

January 1, 2003. Congress has not acted on legislation to

extend this credit beyond 2002 for most qualified production.

Whether Congress will take any action to extend the credit

during the current term is uncertain. Dominion utilized

approximately $36 million of these credits for the year ending

December 31, 2002.

Nuclear Relicensing

Dominion filed applications with the Nuclear Regulatory

Commission (NRC) for 20-year life-extensions for the North

Anna and Surry units in May 2001. The NRC has completed

its review of the applications and Dominion expects to receive

a renewed license for these units in 2003.

Dominion has also performed an internal assessment on

the probability of a successful license renewal application for

both of its operating Millstone units. Based on this assessment

and other factors, Dominion has initiated preparations to apply

for a 20-year extension of the licenses for both its operating

Millstone units. Dominion expects to file a completed applica-

tion based on NRC guidelines in 2004.

Nuclear Insurance

The Price Anderson Act expired in August 2002, but operating

nuclear reactors would continue to be covered by the law, which

would channel and cap claims if a nuclear accident should

occur. The Act has been renewed three times since 1957, and

Congress is currently holding hearings to reauthorize the legisla-

tion. The expiration of the Act does not impact the coverage of

existing nuclear license holders.

Effect of Changes in Commodity Prices

Dominion’s operations are impacted by changes in energy com-

modity prices. When energy commodities are sold by one of

Dominion’s utilities subject to cost-of-service rate regulation,

commodity costs are generally recovered through rates. Market

price changes impact Dominion’s revenue from natural gas and

oil production and from commodity sales through unregulated

subsidiaries. Dominion has established an enterprise risk man-

agement function to evaluate these risks and to recommend

actions to management that are intended to mitigate such risks.
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Future Acquisitions

Because Dominion’s industry is rapidly changing, there are

many opportunities for acquisitions of assets, as well as for busi-

ness combinations. Dominion investigates any opportunity that

may increase shareholder value and build on existing businesses,

with an objective to enter into transactions that would be

immediately accretive to earnings per share. Dominion has par-

ticipated in the past—and its security holders may assume that

at any time Dominion may be participating—in bidding or

other negotiations for such transactions. Such participation may

or may not result in a transaction for Dominion. However, any

such transaction that does take place may involve consideration

in the form of cash, debt or equity securities. It may also involve

payment of a premium over book or market values. Such trans-

actions or payments could affect the market prices and rates for

Dominion’s securities.

Market Rate Sensitive Instruments and
Risk Management

Dominion’s financial instruments, commodity contracts and

related derivative instruments are exposed to potential losses

due to adverse changes in interest rates, commodity prices and

equity security prices as described below. Interest rate risk gen-

erally is related to Dominion’s outstanding debt and financial

services activities. Commodity price risk is present in Domin-

ion’s electric operations, gas production and procurement

operations, and energy marketing and trading operations due

to the exposure to market shifts for prices received and paid for

natural gas, electricity and other commodities. Dominion uses

derivative instruments to manage price risk exposures for these

operations. Dominion is exposed to equity price risk through

various portfolios of equity securities.

Dominion’s sensitivity analysis estimates the potential loss

of future earnings or fair value from market risk sensitive instru-

ments over a selected time period due to a 10 percent unfavor-

able change in interest rates and commodity prices.

Commodity Price Risk—Trading Activities
As part of its strategy to market energy and to manage related

risks, Dominion manages a portfolio of commodity-based deriv-

ative instruments held for trading purposes. These contracts are

sensitive to changes in the prices of natural gas, electricity and

certain other commodities. Dominion uses established policies

and procedures to manage the risks associated with these price

fluctuations and uses derivative instruments, such as futures,

forwards, swaps and options, to mitigate risk by creating offset-

ting market positions. In addition, Dominion seeks to use its

generation capacity, when not needed to serve customers in its

service territory, to satisfy commitments to sell energy.

A hypothetical 10 percent unfavorable change in commod-

ity prices would have resulted in a decrease of approximately $41

million and $12 million in the fair value of its commodity con-

tracts held for trading purposes as of December 31, 2002 and

2001, respectively.

Commodity Price Risk—Non-Trading Activities
Dominion manages the price risk associated with purchases

and sales of natural gas, oil and electricity by using derivative

commodity instruments including futures, forwards, options

and swaps. For sensitivity analysis purposes, the fair value of

Dominion’s non-trading derivative commodity instruments is

determined based on models that consider the market prices

of commodities in future periods, the volatility of the market

prices in each period, as well as the time value factors of the

derivative instruments. Market prices and volatility are princi-

pally determined based on quoted prices on the futures

exchange. A hypothetical 10 percent unfavorable change in

market prices of Dominion’s non-trading derivative commodity

instruments would have resulted in a decrease in fair value of

approximately $331 million and $155 million as of December

31, 2002 and December 31, 2001, respectively.

The impact of a change in energy commodity prices on

Dominion’s non-trading derivative commodity instruments at a

point in time is not necessarily representative of the results that

will be realized when such contracts are ultimately settled. Net

losses from derivative commodity instruments used for hedging

purposes, to the extent realized, are generally offset by recogni-

tion of the hedged transaction, such as revenue from sales.

Interest Rate Risk
Dominion manages its interest rate risk exposure predomi-

nantly by maintaining a balance of fixed and variable rate debt.

Dominion also enters into interest rate sensitive derivatives,

including interest rate swaps and interest rate lock agreements.

In addition, Dominion, through subsidiaries, retains ownership

of mortgage investments, including subordinated bonds and

interest-only residual assets retained at securitization of mort-

gage loans originated and purchased. For financial instruments

outstanding at December 31, 2002, a hypothetical 10 percent

increase in market interest rates would decrease annual

earnings by approximately $4 million. A hypothetical 10 per-

cent increase in market interest rates, as determined at Decem-

ber 31, 2001, would have resulted in a decrease in annual

earnings of approximately $10 million. In addition, Note 13

to the Consolidated Financial Statements discussed investments

in retained interests from prior securitizations.
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fund benefit payments. To the extent that the values of invest-

ments held in these trusts decline, the effect will be reflected in

Dominion’s recognition of the periodic cost of such employee

benefit plans and the determination of the amount of cash to be

contributed to the employee benefit plans. The net realized and

unrealized losses on pension trust investments was $241 million

for 2002 and $91 million for 2001.

Risk Management Policies
Dominion has operating procedures in place that are adminis-

tered by experienced management to help ensure that proper

internal controls are maintained. In addition, Dominion has

established an independent function at the corporate level to

monitor compliance with the risk management policies of all

subsidiaries. Dominion maintains credit policies that include

the evaluation of a prospective counterparty’s financial

condition, collateral requirements where deemed necessary, and

the use of standardized agreements which facilitate the netting

of cash flows associated with a single counterparty. In addition,

Dominion also monitors the financial condition of existing

counterparties on an ongoing basis. Based on credit policies and

the December 31, 2002 provision for credit losses, management

believes that it is unlikely that a material adverse effect on its

financial position, results of operations or cash flows would

occur as a result of counterparty nonperformance. See Note 15

to the Consolidated Financial Statements for discussion of the

effects of Enron’s bankruptcy on Dominion’s Consolidated

Financial Statements.

Foreign Exchange Risk
Dominion’s Canadian natural gas and oil exploration and pro-

duction activities are relatively self-contained within Canada. As

a result, Dominion’s exposure to foreign currency exchange risk

for these activities is limited primarily to the effects of transla-

tion adjustments that arise from including that operation in its

Consolidated Financial Statements. Dominion’s management

monitors this exposure and believes it is not material. In addi-

tion, Dominion manages its foreign exchange risk exposure

associated with anticipated future purchases of uranium enrich-

ment services denominated in foreign currencies by utilizing

currency forward contracts. As of result of holding these con-

tracts as hedges, Dominion’s exposure to foreign currency risk is

minimal. A hypothetical 10 percent unfavorable change in rele-

vant foreign exchange rates would have resulted in a decrease of

approximately $22 million and $5 million in the fair value of

currency forward contracts held by Dominion at December 31,

2002 and 2001, respectively.

Investment Price Risk
Dominion is subject to investment price risk due to marketable

securities held as investments in decommissioning trust funds.

In accordance with current accounting standards, these mar-

ketable securities are reported on the Consolidated Balance

Sheets at fair value. As described in Note 16 to the Consolidated

Financial Statements, Dominion recognized net realized and

unrealized losses on decommissioning trust investments of $150

million for 2002 and $14 million for 2001.

Dominion also sponsors employee pension and other

postretirement benefit plans that hold investments in trusts to
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Selected Consolidated Financial Data

2002 2001 2000 1999 1998

(millions, except per share amounts)

Operating revenue $10,218 $10,558 $ 9,246 $ 5,520 $ 6,081
Income before extraordinary item and cumulative effect of a change 

in accounting principle 1,362 544 415 552 548
Extraordinary item (net of income taxes of $197) — — — (255) —
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle 

(net of income taxes of $11) — — 21 — —
Net income 1,362 544 436 297 548
Earnings per common share—basic 4.85 2.17 1.85 1.55 2.81
Earnings per common share—diluted 4.82 2.15 1.85 1.48 2.81
Total assets 37,909 34,369 29,297 17,782 17,549
Long-term debt, subsidiary preferred stock subject to mandatory 

redemption and preferred securities of subsidiary trusts 13,457 13,251 10,486 7,321 6,817
Dividends paid per share 2.58 2.58 2.58 2.58 2.58



1 Nature of Operations

Dominion Resources, Inc. (Dominion) is a holding company

headquartered in Richmond, Virginia. Its principal subsidiaries

are Virginia Electric and Power Company (Virginia Power),

Consolidated Natural Gas Company (CNG), and Dominion

Energy, Inc. (DEI). Dominion and CNG are registered public

utility holding companies under the Public Utility Holding

Company Act of 1935 (1935 Act).

Virginia Power is a regulated public utility that generates,

transmits and distributes electricity within a 30,000-square-

mile area in Virginia and northeastern North Carolina. Virginia

Power sells electricity to approximately 2.2 million retail cus-

tomers, including governmental agencies, and to wholesale cus-

tomers such as rural electric cooperatives, municipalities, power

marketers and other utilities. Virginia Power has trading rela-

tionships beyond its retail service territory and buys and sells

wholesale electricity and natural gas off-system.

CNG operates in all phases of the natural gas business. Its

regulated retail gas distribution subsidiaries serve approximately

1.7 million residential, commercial and industrial gas sales and

transportation customers in Ohio, Pennsylvania and West

Virginia. Its interstate gas transmission pipeline system serves

each of its distribution subsidiaries, non-affiliated utilities and

end use customers in the Midwest, Mid-Atlantic and Northeast.

CNG’s exploration and production operations are located in

several major natural gas and oil producing basins in the United

States, both onshore and offshore. CNG also provides a variety

of energy marketing services.

DEI is an independent power producer and a natural gas

and oil exploration and production company active in the U.S.

and Canada.

Dominion has substantially exited the core operating busi-

nesses of Dominion Capital, Inc. (DCI), as required by the

Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) under the 1935

Act. Currently, Dominion is required to divest of all remaining

DCI holdings by January 2006. DCI’s primary business was

financial services, including loan administration, commercial

lending and residential mortgage lending. See Note 6.

Dominion manages its daily operations along three pri-

mary operating segments: Dominion Energy, Dominion Deliv-

ery and Dominion Exploration & Production. In addition,

Dominion also reports the operations of DCI and its corporate

and other operations as a segment. Assets remain wholly owned

by its legal subsidiaries. See Note 32.

The term “Dominion” is used throughout this report

and, depending on the context of its use, may represent any

of the following: the legal entity, Dominion Resources, Inc.,

one of Dominion Resources, Inc.’s consolidated subsidiaries or

the entirety of Dominion Resources, Inc. and its consolidated

subsidiaries.

2 Significant Accounting Policies

General
Dominion makes certain estimates and assumptions in prepar-

ing its Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of

America (generally accepted accounting principles). These esti-

mates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets

and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities

at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts

of revenues and expenses for the periods presented. Actual

results may differ from those estimates.

The Consolidated Financial Statements represent

Dominion’s accounts after the elimination of intercompany

transactions. Dominion follows the equity method of account-

ing for investments with less than a 50 percent interest in part-

nerships and corporate joint ventures when Dominion is able to

influence the financial and operating policies of the investee.

For all other investments, the cost method is applied.

Certain amounts in the 2001 and 2000 Consolidated

Financial Statements have been reclassified to conform to the

2002 presentation.

Use of Fair Value Measurements
Dominion reports certain contracts and instruments at fair

value in accordance with applicable generally accepted account-

ing principles. Fair value is based on actively quoted market

prices, if available. In the absence of actively quoted market

prices, Dominion seeks indicative price information from exter-

nal sources, including broker quotes and industry publications.

If pricing information from external sources is not available,

Dominion must estimate prices based on available historical

and near-term future price information and certain statistical

methods, including regression analysis.

For options and contracts with option-like characteristics

where pricing information is not available from external

sources, Dominion uses a modified Black-Scholes model and

considers time value, the volatility of the underlying commo-

dities and other relevant assumptions when estimating fair

value. For contracts with unique characteristics, Dominion

estimates fair value using a discounted cash flow approach

deemed appropriate in the circumstances and applied consis-

tently from period to period. If pricing information is not avail-

able from external sources, judgment is required to develop

the estimates of fair value. For individual contracts, the use

of different assumptions could have a material effect on the

contract’s estimated fair value.

Operating Revenue
Operating revenue is recorded on the basis of services rendered,

commodities delivered or contracts settled and includes

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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amounts yet to be billed to customers. Operating revenue from

energy trading activities includes realized commodity contract

revenue, net of related cost of sales, and unrealized gains and

losses resulting from marking to market those commodity con-

tracts not yet settled. See Note 7. Beginning October 25, 2002

and January 1, 2003, in accordance with new accounting

requirements discussed further in Note 4, Dominion discontin-

ued marking to market unsettled commodity contracts that are

not otherwise accounted for as derivatives under Statement of

Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 133, Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.

Electric Fuel, Purchased Energy and Purchased 
Gas—Deferred Costs
Where permitted by regulatory authorities, the differences

between actual electric fuel, purchased energy and purchased

gas expenses and levels of recovery for these expenses in current

rates are deferred and matched against recoveries in future peri-

ods. See Regulatory Assets and Liabilities below and Note 19.

Income Taxes
Dominion and its subsidiaries file a consolidated federal income

tax return. Where permitted by regulatory authorities, the treat-

ment of temporary differences can differ from the requirements

of SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. Accordingly, a

regulatory asset has been recognized if it is probable that future

revenues will be provided for the payment of deferred tax liabili-

ties. Deferred investment tax credits are amortized over the

service lives of the properties giving rise to the credits.

Stock-Based Compensation
Dominion sponsors two stock plans that provide stock-based

awards to directors, executives and other key employees. Under

the plans, Dominion grants stock options and restricted stock

awards that vest over periods ranging from three to five years.

Options have contractual terms that range from seven to ten

years. Forty million shares of common stock may be issued

under the plans and approximately 12 million of those are

available for new grants as of December 31, 2002.

Dominion measures compensation cost for stock-based

awards issued to its employees in accordance with Accounting

Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued
to Employees, and related interpretations. Compensation

expense is measured based on the intrinsic value, the difference

between fair market value of Dominion common stock and the

exercise price of the underlying award, on the date when both

the price and number of shares the recipient is entitled to

receive are known, generally the grant date. Compensation

expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the stated

vesting period of the award. See Note 24 for more information

on stock-based awards.

The following table illustrates the pro forma effect on

net income and earnings per share if Dominion had applied

the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123,

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, to stock-based

employee compensation:

Year Ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000

(millions)

Net income—as reported $1,362 $ 544 $ 436
Add: actual stock-based compensation 

expense, net of tax (1) 5 18 6
Deduct: pro forma stock-based 

compensation expense, net of tax (52) (49) (12)

Net income—pro forma $1,315 $ 513 $ 430

Basic EPS—as reported $ 4.85 $2.17 $1.85
Basic EPS—pro forma 4.68 2.05 1.82
Diluted EPS—as reported 4.82 2.15 1.85
Diluted EPS—pro forma 4.65 2.03 1.82

(1) Actual stock-based compensation expense reflects primarily the issuance of
restricted stock. For 2001, stock-based compensation expense also includes
an after-tax charge of $11 million for stock options modified in the 2001
restructuring initiative discussed in Note 8.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Current banking arrangements generally do not require checks

to be funded until actually presented for payment. At December

31, 2002 and 2001, accounts payable included the net effect of

checks outstanding but not yet presented for payment of $101

million and $214 million, respectively. For purposes of the Con-

solidated Statements of Cash Flows, Dominion considers cash

and cash equivalents to include cash on hand, cash in banks and

temporary investments purchased with a remaining maturity of

three months or less. In December 2002, Dominion deposited

$500 million in escrow to be used solely for repayment of debt

maturing in January 2003. Those restricted funds are not

included as cash and cash equivalents on the Consolidated

Balance Sheets or Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Margin Deposit Assets and Liabilities
Amounts reported as margin deposit assets represent funds held

on deposit by various trading counterparties that resulted from

Dominion exceeding agreed-upon credit limits established by

the counterparties. Amounts reported as margin deposit liabili-

ties represent funds held by Dominion that resulted from vari-

ous trading counterparties exceeding agreed-upon credit limits

established by Dominion. These credit limits and the mecha-

nism for calculating the amounts to be held on deposit are

determined in the International Swap Dealers Association

master agreements and the Master Power Purchase & Sale

Agreement of the Edison Electric Institute in place between

Dominion and the counterparties. As of December 31, 2002

and December 31, 2001, Dominion had margin deposit assets of

$149 million and $30 million, respectively, and margin deposit

liabilities (reported in other current liabilities) of $22 million

and $88 million, respectively.
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Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment, including additions and

replacements, is recorded at original cost, including labor,

materials, other direct costs and capitalized interest. The costs

of repairs and maintenance, including minor additions and

replacements, are charged to expense as incurred. In 2002, 2001

and 2000, Dominion capitalized interest costs of $95 million,

$41 million and $30 million, respectively.

For electric and gas distribution and transmission property

subject to cost-of-service utility rate regulation, the cost of such

property and related cost of removal, less salvage, are charged to

accumulated depreciation at retirement. For generation-related

property, cost of removal is charged to expense as incurred.

Dominion records gains and losses upon retirement of genera-

tion-related property based upon the difference between pro-

ceeds received, if any, and the property’s undepreciated basis at

the retirement date.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is com-

puted on the straight-line method based on projected service

lives. Dominion’s depreciation rates on property, plant and

equipment for 2002, 2001 and 2000 are as follows: genera-

tion—2.34 percent, 2.78 percent, 2.79 percent, respectively;

transmission—2.26 percent, 2.58 percent, 2.59 percent, respec-

tively; distribution—3.27 percent, 3.43 percent, 3.48 percent,

respectively; storage—2.47 percent, 2.57 percent, 2.61 percent,

respectively; gas gathering and processing—2.31 percent, 2.19

percent, 2.62 percent, respectively; and general and other—

5.74 percent, 4.94 percent, 5.18 percent, respectively. Amortiza-

tion of nuclear fuel used in electric generation is provided on a

unit-of-production basis sufficient to fully amortize, over the

estimated service life, the cost of the fuel plus permanent stor-

age and disposal costs.

In 2002, Dominion extended the estimated useful lives

of most of its fossil fuel stations and electric transmission and

distribution property based on depreciation studies that indi-

cated longer lives were appropriate. These changes in estimated

useful lives reduced depreciation expense by $42 million for

the entirety of 2002 and will reduce depreciation expense by

approximately $68 million on an annual basis thereafter. In

2001, Dominion increased its estimate of the useful lives of its

nuclear facilities by 20 years, which reduced depreciation

expense by $78 million for the entirety of 2001 and approxi-

mately $94 million on an annual basis thereafter. This change in

estimate was made in connection with current and planned fil-

ings of applications for re-licensing with the Nuclear Regulatory

Commission (NRC).

Dominion follows the full cost method of accounting for

gas and oil exploration and production activities prescribed by

the SEC. Under the full cost method, all direct costs of property

acquisition, exploration and development activities are capital-

ized. The full cost method limits these capitalized amounts to

no more than the present value of estimated future net revenues

derived from the production of proved gas and oil reserves as

determined under a method established by the SEC (the ceiling

test). If net capitalized costs exceed the ceiling test at the end of

any quarterly period, then a permanent write-down of the assets

must be recognized in that period. The ceiling test is performed

separately for each cost center, with cost centers established on a

country-by-country basis. As currently permitted by the SEC,

Dominion uses hedge-adjusted period-end prices to calculate

the present value of estimated future net revenues. Such prices

are used for the portion of anticipated production from proved

reserves that is hedged by qualifying cash flow hedges. As of

December 31, 2002, the use of period-end market prices rather

than hedge-adjusted prices, as otherwise required by the full

cost method, would not have resulted in an impairment charge.

Due to the volatility of gas and oil prices, it is reasonably possi-

ble that for some periods, Dominion may satisfy the ceiling test

using hedge-adjusted prices, whereas the use of period-end mar-

ket prices without the effects of hedging could have resulted in

an impairment charge.

Depreciation of gas and oil producing properties is com-

puted using the unit-of-production method. Under the full cost

method of accounting, amortization is also accrued on esti-

mated future costs to be incurred in developing proved gas and

oil reserves and on estimated dismantlement and abandonment

costs, net of projected salvage values. The costs of investments

in unproved properties are initially excluded from the deprecia-

ble base. Until the properties are evaluated, a ratable portion of

the capitalized costs is periodically reclassified to the depreciable

base, determined on a property by property basis, over terms of

underlying leases. Once a property has been evaluated, any

remaining capitalized costs are then transferred to the deprecia-

ble base. For a discussion of a change in the accounting for

future dismantlement and abandonment costs, see Asset
Retirement Obligations in Note 4.

Impairment of Long-Lived and Intangible Assets
Dominion performs an evaluation for impairment whenever

events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying

amount of long-lived assets or intangible assets with finite lives

may not be recoverable. These assets are written down to fair

value if the sum of the expected future undiscounted cash flows

is less than the carrying amounts.

Investment Securities
Dominion accounts for and classifies investments in marketable

equity and debt securities in two categories. Debt and equity

securities purchased and held with the intent of selling them in

the near term are classified as trading securities. Trading securi-

ties are reported at fair value with net realized and unrealized

gains and losses included in earnings. All other debt and equity

securities are classified as available-for-sale securities. These are
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reported at fair value with realized gains and losses included in

earnings and unrealized gains and losses reported as a compo-

nent of accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax.

Loans Receivable, Net
Loans receivable are stated at their outstanding principal bal-

ance, net of the allowance for credit losses and any deferred fees

or costs. Origination fees, net of certain direct origination costs,

are deferred and recognized as an adjustment of the yield of

loans receivable. Each loan is evaluated for impairment by dis-

counting estimated future cash flows at the loan’s original con-

tractual rate. In assessing the recoverability of future cash flows,

Dominion management considers the debtor’s financial strength

and market position, general economic conditions and other

factors. If it is determined that a loan has become impaired, an

additional allowance for credit losses is established through pro-

visions for credit losses and is charged against income. Loans

receivable deemed to be uncollectible are charged against the

allowance for credit losses, and subsequent recoveries, if any,

are credited to the allowance. At December 31, 2002 and 2001,

the carrying amount of loans receivable was $87 million and

$106 million, respectively, net of the allowance for credit losses

of $69 million and $79 million, respectively.

Securitizations by Financial Services Businesses
Prior to being divested, Dominion’s financial services businesses

would periodically securitize mortgages and loans. Securitiza-

tions resulted from the process of selling loans to unconsoli-

dated special purpose trusts in exchange for cash and certain

retained interests. Retained interests include subordinated

bonds or other securities issued by the trusts or interests in the

loans sold. Cash proceeds were determined based on the differ-

ence between interest rates to be received on the loans sold and

the interest rate to be paid to investors participating in the secu-

ritizations. The determination of cash proceeds was also affected

by estimates of prepayments, credit losses, servicing costs and

non-refundable fees and premiums. Gains and losses realized

on the sale of loans were recognized based on the difference

between 1) the carrying amount of the loans sold and 2) the

sum of the cash proceeds received and the fair value of interests

retained in the securitization on the settlement date. Fair value

was based on the present value of estimated cash flows, adjusted

to reflect the effects of credit losses, prepayments and other fac-

tors appropriate in each securitization. Dominion securitized

commercial loans receivable in collateralized loan obligation

(CLO) and collateralized debt obligation (CDO) transactions.

Retained interests in CLO and CDO transactions are reported

as available-for-sale securities. In addition, before selling its resi-

dential mortgage business, Dominion securitized residential

mortgage loans.

Retained interests from the securitization of mortgage loans

include interest-only strips, which are recorded, based on the

net present value of projected cash flows, using management’s

best estimates of key assumptions. These assumptions include

credit losses, prepayment speeds, forward yield curves and dis-

count rates commensurate with the risks involved. Interest-only

strips are amortized in proportion to the estimated income

received. They are analyzed quarterly to determine whether pre-

payment experience, losses and changes in the interest rate envi-

ronment have had an impact on the valuation. Expected cash

flows of the underlying loans sold are reviewed based on current

economic conditions and the types of loans originated and are

revised as necessary. See Notes 9 and 13 for more information

about Dominion’s investments in retained interests, including

the recognition of impairments in 2002, 2001 and 2000.

Derivative Instruments
Dominion uses derivative instruments such as futures, swaps,

forwards and options to manage the commodity, currency

exchange and financial market risks of its business operations.

Dominion also manages a portfolio of commodity contracts

held for trading purposes as part of its strategy to market energy

and to manage related risks. Derivative instruments are gener-

ally recognized on the Consolidated Balance Sheets at fair value.

See Note 15 for further discussion of Dominion’s use of deriva-

tive instruments and energy trading contracts, including its risk

management policy, its accounting policy for derivatives under

SFAS No. 133 and the results of its hedging activities for the

years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001.

Prior to January 1, 2001, Dominion considered derivative

instruments to be effective hedges when the item being hedged

and the underlying financial instrument or commodity contract

showed strong historical correlation. Dominion used deferral

accounting to account for futures, forwards and other derivative

instruments that were designated as hedges. Under this method,

realized gains and losses (including the payment of any pre-

mium) related to effective hedges of existing assets and liabilities

were recognized in earnings in conjunction with the designated

asset or liability. Gains and losses related to effective hedges of

firm commitments and anticipated transactions were included

in the measurement of the subsequent transaction.

Goodwill, Net
Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets, on January 1, 2002, goodwill arising from

acquisitions completed before July 1, 2001 was amortized on a

straight-line basis over periods up to 40 years. In accordance

with SFAS No. 142, Dominion did not amortize goodwill aris-

ing from acquisitions initiated after June 30, 2001 and ceased

amortization of all goodwill upon adoption of the standard.

Dominion evaluates goodwill for impairment on at least an
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annual basis or when an event occurs or circumstances change

that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a

reporting unit below its carrying amount. See Note 18 for

further discussion of the adoption of SFAS No. 142 and the

goodwill impairment charge recorded in 2002. See Note 5 for

discussion of Dominion’s recent significant acquisitions.

Regulatory Assets and Liabilities
Methods of allocating costs to accounting periods for opera-

tions subject to federal or state cost-of-service rate regulation

may differ from accounting methods generally applied by non-

regulated companies. The economic effects of allocations pre-

scribed by regulatory authorities for rate-making purposes must

be considered in the application of generally accepted account-

ing principles. See Notes 19 and 27 for additional information

on regulatory assets and liabilities and the impact of legislation

on continued application of SFAS No. 71, Accounting for the
Effects of Certain Types of Regulation.

Amortization of Debt Issuance Costs
Dominion defers and amortizes debt issuance costs and debt

premiums or discounts over the lives of the respective debt

issues. As permitted by regulatory authorities, gains or losses

resulting from the refinancing of debt allocable to utility

operations subject to cost-based rate regulation have also been

deferred and amortized over the lives of the new issues.

3 Accounting Change for Pension Costs

Effective January 1, 2000 and in connection with Dominion’s

acquisition of CNG, Dominion adopted a new company-wide

method of calculating the market-related value of pension plan

assets used to determine the expected return on pension plan

assets, a component of net periodic pension cost. Dominion

believes the new method enhances the predictability of the

expected return on pension plan assets; provides consistent

treatment of all investment gains and losses; and results in

calculated market-related pension plan asset values that are

closer to market value than the values calculated under the

pre-acquisition methods used by Dominion or CNG.

The $21 million cumulative effect of the change on prior

years (net of income taxes of $11 million) was included in

income for the year ended December 31, 2000. The change

increased income before cumulative effect of a change in

accounting principle for 2000 by $11 million ($0.05 per

share-basic and diluted) and net income by $32 million

($0.14 per share-basic and diluted).

4 Recently Issued Accounting Standards

Asset Retirement Obligations
In 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)

issued SFAS No. 143, Accounting for Asset Retirement
Obligations, which provides accounting requirements for the

recognition and measurement of liabilities associated with the

retirement of tangible long-lived assets. Dominion adopted the

standard effective January 1, 2003.

Dominion has identified certain asset retirement obliga-

tions that are subject to the standard. These obligations are

primarily associated with the decommissioning of its nuclear

generation facilities, abandoning certain natural gas pipelines

and dismantling and removing gas and oil wells and platforms.

Under SFAS No. 143, asset retirement obligations will be

recognized at fair value as incurred and capitalized as part of the

cost of the related tangible long-lived assets. Under the present

value approach used to estimate the fair value of asset retire-

ment obligations, accretion of the liabilities due to the passage

of time will be recognized as an operating expense. As a result,

the adoption of SFAS No. 143 requires changes in Dominion’s

accounting and reporting for certain asset retirement obliga-

tions already being recognized under its accounting policies

prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 143. For example, Dominion

recognizes amounts related to future decommissioning activities

at its utility nuclear plants. As discussed in Note 16, the accu-

mulated provision for decommissioning is presented on the

balance sheet at December 31, 2002 as a component of accumu-

lated depreciation. Under SFAS No. 143, the asset retirement

obligation will be reported as a liability.

In addition, the reporting of realized and unrealized

earnings of external trusts available for funding decommission-

ing activities at Dominion’s utility nuclear plants will be

recorded in other income and other comprehensive income,

as appropriate. Through 2002, Dominion recorded these

trusts’ earnings in other income with an offsetting charge to

expense, also recorded in other income, for the accretion of

the decommissioning liability.

On January 1, 2003, Dominion implemented SFAS

No. 143 and recognized an after-tax gain of $180 million,

representing the cumulative effect of a change in accounting

principle. Under Dominion’s accounting policy prior to the

adoption of SFAS No. 143, $1.6 billion had previously been

accrued for future asset removal costs, primarily related to

future nuclear decommissioning. Such amounts are included

in the accumulated provision for depreciation, depletion and

amortization as of December 31, 2002. With the adoption of

SFAS No. 143, Dominion calculated its asset retirement obliga-

tions to be $1.5 billion. In recording the cumulative effect of
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the accounting change, Dominion recognized the reduction

attributable to the re-measurement of asset retirement obliga-

tions and reclassified such amount from the accumulated provi-

sion for depreciation, depletion and amortization to other

non-current liabilities. The cumulative effect of the accounting

change also reflected a $350 million increase in property, plant

and equipment for capitalized asset retirement costs and a $90

million increase in the accumulated provision for depreciation,

depletion and amortization, representing the depreciation of

such costs through December 31, 2002.

In accordance with SFAS No. 71, Accounting for the Effects
of Certain Types of Regulation, Dominion will continue its prac-

tice of accruing for future costs of removal for its cost-of-service

rate regulated gas and electric utility assets, even if no legal

obligation to perform such activities exists. At December 31,

2002, Dominion’s accumulated depreciation, depletion and

amortization included $596 million, representing the estimated

future cost of such removal activities.

Energy Trading Contracts
In October 2002, the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF)

rescinded EITF Issue No. 98-10, Accounting for Contracts
Involved in Energy Trading and Risk Management Activities
(EITF 98-10). As a result, certain energy-related commodity

contracts held for trading purposes will no longer be subject to

fair value accounting. The affected contracts are those energy-

related contracts held for trading purposes that are not consid-

ered to be derivatives under SFAS No. 133. Under EITF 98-10

accounting, the fair value of energy contracts was measured at

each reporting date, with changes in fair value, including unre-

alized amounts, reported in earnings. Energy-related contracts

affected by the rescission of EITF 98-10 will be subject to

accrual accounting and recognized as revenue or expense at the

time of contract performance, settlement or termination.

The rescission of EITF 98-10 primarily affects the timing

of recognition in earnings from Dominion’s energy-related trad-

ing contracts. In addition, affected contracts will no longer be

reported at fair value on Dominion’s balance sheet. The EITF

98-10 rescission was effective for all non-derivative energy trad-

ing contracts initiated after October 25, 2002. As a result of

implementing the change for all non-derivative energy trading

contracts initiated prior to October 25, 2002, Dominion recog-

nized a loss of $67 million (net of taxes of $43 million) as the

cumulative effect of this change in accounting principle

effective January 1, 2003.

Accounting for Guarantees
In November 2002, FASB issued Interpretation No. 45,

Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guaran-
tees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others — An
Interpretation of FASB Statements No. 5, 57 and 107 (FIN No.

45). Under FIN No. 45, issuers of certain types of guarantees

must recognize a liability based on the fair value of the guaran-

tee issued, even when the likelihood of making payments is

remote. In addition, FIN No. 45 requires increased disclosures

for specific types of guarantees.

FIN No. 45’s initial recognition requirements apply only

to guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002.

Dominion does not anticipate any material impact on its

future results of operations or financial condition as a result of

recording newly issued or modified guarantees at fair value.

FIN No. 45’s disclosure requirements are effective for financial

statements ending after December 15, 2002. See Note 27.

Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities
In January 2003, FASB issued Interpretation No. 46,

Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, (FIN No. 46) which

addresses consolidation by business enterprises of entities that

are not controllable through voting interests or in which the

equity investors do not bear the residual economic risks and

rewards. These entities have been commonly referred to as

“special purpose entities.” The underlying principle behind the

new Interpretation is that if a business enterprise has the major-

ity financial interest in an entity, defined in the guidance as a

variable interest entity, the assets, liabilities, and results of the

activities of the variable interest entity should be included in

consolidated financial statements with those of the business

enterprise. FIN No. 46 explains how to identify variable interest

entities and how an enterprise should assess its interest in an

entity to decide whether to consolidate that entity. Dominion

will apply the provisions of FIN No. 46 prospectively for all

variable interest entities created after January 31, 2003. For vari-

able interest entities created before January 31, 2003, Dominion

will be required to consolidate all entities in which it was

deemed to be the primary beneficiary beginning July 1, 2003.

As discussed in Note 27, Dominion, through certain sub-

sidiaries, has entered into agreements with variable interest enti-

ties in order to finance and lease several new power generation

projects, as well as its corporate headquarters and aircraft.

Under existing accounting guidance, neither the project assets

nor related obligations are currently reported on Dominion’s

Consolidated Balance Sheets. As these variable interest entities

are currently structured, Dominion would be determined to

be the primary beneficiary under FIN No. 46 and would be

required to consolidate these variable interest entities beginning

in the third quarter of 2003. Based upon total project costs

incurred through December 31, 2002, consolidation of these

variable interest entities would result in an additional $1.6 bil-

lion in property, plant and equipment and related debt.
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Dominion’s maximum exposure to loss resulting from these

agreements is $1.3 billion as of December 31, 2002. This assess-

ment is based upon total project costs through December 31,

2002 and assumes the property, plant and equipment will have

no value at the end of their lease terms, which management

believes is highly unlikely. Dominion is considering other

financing structures for these projects in the future that may

result in continued off-balance sheet treatment.

As discussed in Note 30, Dominion has a 50 percent mem-

bership interest in Dominion Fiber Ventures, LLC (DFV), a

telecommunications joint venture with approximately $850

million in total assets at December 31, 2002. Under existing

accounting guidance, Dominion’s investment in this variable

interest entity has been accounted for under the equity method.

Under FIN No. 46, Dominion would have been determined

to be DFV’s primary beneficiary and thus would have been

required to consolidate DFV beginning July 1, 2003. However,

as described in Note 30 under Subsequent Event, Dominion

began consolidating DFV in February 2003 following its acqui-

sition of substantially all of DFV’s outstanding senior notes,

which significantly increased Dominion’s financial interest in

DFV. Dominion’s maximum exposure to loss related to its

involvement with DFV consists of its $85 million investment

in DFV as of December 31, 2002, as well as the $633 million

invested in DFV in February 2003 through the acquisition

of DFV’s senior notes. In addition, under the joint venture

agreements, Dominion must absorb substantially all future

DFV operating losses and is exposed to DFV’s obligation for

payments to the other DFV investor, representing a return on

its investment.

Dominion, through a Dominion Capital subsidiary, has

an interest in a developer and manufacturer of engineered

polymer products. It is likely that Dominion would be deter-

mined to be the primary beneficiary of this variable interest

entity under FIN No. 46. Dominion’s maximum exposure to

loss as a result of its involvement with this entity is $44 million

at December 31, 2002.

Dominion’s management does not anticipate that the

changes in accounting requirements will impact planned levels

of financing or its credit ratings. Dominion does not anticipate

that the adoption of FIN No. 46 will have a material impact on

its results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2003.

Other

SFAS No. 133 Guidance

In connection with the January 2003 EITF meeting, FASB was

requested to reconsider an interpretation of SFAS No. 133. The

interpretation, which is contained in the Derivatives Implemen-

tation Group’s C11 guidance, relates to contracts with pricing

terms that include broad market indices. In particular, that

guidance discusses whether the pricing in a contract that con-

tains broad market indices (e.g., consumer price index) could

qualify as a normal purchase or sale and therefore not be subject

to fair value accounting. Dominion has certain power purchase

and sale contracts that are subject to the guidance addressed in

the request for reconsideration. Dominion does not expect the

effect of implementing any change, that would ultimately be

required as a result of the guidance being clarified, to be mater-

ial to its results of operations or financial position.

Future Accounting Changes

FASB’s standard-setting process is ongoing. Some of the

projects currently on FASB’s agenda include: financial instru-

ments, revenue recognition and procedures related to the pur-

chase method of accounting used for business combinations. In

the financial instruments project, FASB is considering whether

certain financial instruments should be classified as equity or

liabilities on the balance sheet. FASB plans to issue a limited

scope statement in 2003. In December 2002, FASB decided to

broaden the scope of this project to include development of

guidance related to measuring the fair value of financial instru-

ments. The fair value measurement guidance developed in this

project would supersede existing guidance. In establishing its

revenue recognition project, FASB recognized that no compre-

hensive standard on revenue recognition exists. FASB plans

to issue exposure drafts on a comprehensive accounting stan-

dard on revenue recognition and related amendments of its

concepts statements in mid-2004 and to finalize the standard

and related amendments in 2005. In its project concerned with

the purchase method of accounting for business combinations,

FASB’s deliberations are expected to consider the following:

how to measure the fair value of the exchange; recognition and

measurement of acquired assets and assumed liabilities, includ-

ing pre-acquisition contingencies; and issues related to non-

controlling interests. Until new standards have been finalized

and issued by FASB, Dominion cannot determine the impact

on the reporting of its operations that may result from any such

future changes.
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5 Acquisitions

Cove Point LNG Limited Partnership
In September 2002, Dominion acquired 100 percent ownership

of Cove Point LNG Limited Partnership (Cove Point), a cost-

based rate-regulated entity, from a subsidiary of The Williams

Companies for $225 million in cash. Dominion recorded

$75 million of goodwill representing the excess of the purchase

price over the regulatory basis of Cove Point’s assets acquired

and liabilities assumed. Cove Point’s assets include a liquefied

natural gas import facility located near Baltimore, Maryland

that is under reconstruction, a liquefied natural gas storage

facility and an approximately 85-mile natural gas pipeline.

Dominion expects Cove Point to become fully operational in

2003. Dominion incurred $33 million of additional develop-

ment costs during 2002 and expects to incur $84 million of

costs in 2003. Cove Point is included in the Dominion Energy

operating segment and all of the goodwill arising from the

acquisition has been allocated to that segment for purposes

of impairment testing under SFAS No. 142.

Mirant State Line Ventures, Inc.
In June 2002, Dominion acquired 100 percent ownership of

Mirant State Line Ventures, Inc. (State Line) from a subsidiary

of Mirant Corporation for $185 million in cash. State Line’s

assets include a 515-megawatt coal-fired generation facility

located near Hammond, Indiana. Its operations are included

in the Dominion Energy operating segment.

Louis Dreyfus Natural Gas Corp.
In November 2001, Dominion acquired all of the outstanding

shares of common stock of Louis Dreyfus Natural Gas Corp.

(Louis Dreyfus), a natural gas and oil exploration and produc-

tion company headquartered in Oklahoma City, Oklahoma.

The aggregate purchase price was $1.8 billion, which consisted

of approximately 14 million shares of Dominion common stock

valued at $881 million, $902 million in cash and employee

stock options with a fair value on the date of grant of approxi-

mately $13 million. Dominion initially recorded $519 million

of goodwill, representing the excess of purchase price over

amounts allocated to Louis Dreyfus’ assets acquired and liabili-

ties assumed. The purchase price allocation was completed

during the first quarter of 2002 upon receipt of information

from outside specialists, increasing liabilities and goodwill each

by $24 million.

The operations of Louis Dreyfus are included in the

Dominion Exploration & Production operating segment. All

of the goodwill arising from the acquisition has been allocated

to that segment for purposes of impairment testing under

SFAS No. 142. In accordance with SFAS No. 142, no goodwill

amortization was recorded related to the acquisition.

Millstone Power Station
In March 2001, Dominion acquired Millstone Power Station

(Millstone), a nuclear power station located in Waterford,

Connecticut. The aggregate purchase price was $1.3 billion in

cash, consisting of approximately $1.2 billion for plant assets

and $105 million for nuclear fuel. Dominion recorded $302

million of goodwill representing the excess of the purchase price

over amounts allocated to Millstone’s assets acquired and liabili-

ties assumed. The operations of Millstone are included in the

Dominion Energy operating segment and all of the goodwill

arising from the acquisition has been allocated to that segment

for purposes of impairment testing under SFAS No. 142.

CNG
In January 2000, Dominion acquired all of the outstanding

shares of CNG and accounted for the acquisition under the

purchase method of accounting. The aggregate purchase price

was $6.4 billion, consisting of approximately 87 million shares

of Dominion common stock valued at $3.5 billion and approxi-

mately $2.9 billion in cash. Dominion recorded $3.5 billion of

goodwill, representing the excess of the purchase price over the

fair value of CNG’s operations not subject to cost-based rate

regulation and the historical carrying value of CNG’s opera-

tions subject to cost-of-service rate regulation. The operations

of CNG are reported in Dominion’s Energy, Delivery and

Exploration & Production operating segments and the goodwill

arising from the CNG acquisition has been allocated among

those segments for purposes of impairment testing under

SFAS No. 142.

6 Divestitures

As of December 31, 2002, Dominion had substantially com-

pleted its strategy to exit the core operating businesses of DCI as

required by the SEC under the 1935 Act. Currently, Dominion

is required to divest of all remaining DCI holdings by January

2006. See Note 9 for charges recognized in connection with the

DCI exit strategies in 2001 and 2000. In 2001, Dominion sold

Saxon Capital, Inc. and recognized an after-tax loss of $25 mil-

lion. Under the terms of the sale, Dominion received $116 mil-

lion in cash, a $25 million note and a non-controlling equity

interest that was subsequently sold for $25 million. In addition,

Dominion retained approximately $300 million in retained

interests related to prior mortgage loan securitizations.

Dominion held $185 million and $269 million of retained

interests from mortgage loan securitizations at December 31,

2002 and 2001, respectively.

In 2000, Dominion sold $600 million of commercial loans

and transferred $223 million of outstanding commercial loan

commitments. As of December 31, 2002, Dominion held com-

mercial and other loans receivable of $87 million, net of
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allowances for loan losses, and $266 million of CLO and CDO-

related retained interests. At December 31, 2001, Dominion

held commercial and other loans receivable of $106 million, net

of allowances for loan losses, and $268 million of CLO and

CDO-related retained interests.

In 2000, Dominion completed the sales of Virginia Natural

Gas, Inc. and CNG International’s Argentine assets for $678

million. Representing assets held for sale from the CNG acquisi-

tion, those transactions did not result in the recognition of any

gain or loss. Also in 2000, Dominion completed the sale of its

interest in Corby Power Limited for $78 million, resulting in an

after-tax gain of $13 million. Dominion completed the sale of its

interests in electric generation capacity in Latin America for

$405 million in 2000 and 1999, for which Dominion recog-

nized an after-tax impairment loss of $21 million in 1999.

7 Operating Revenue

Year Ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000

(millions)

Regulated Sales

Electric $ 4,856 $ 4,619 $4,492
Gas 876 1,409 1,374

Nonregulated Sales

Electric 1,017 1,022 318
Gas 778 1,073 671

Gas transportation and storage 705 702 486
Gas and oil production 1,334 1,057 857
Other 652 676 1,048

Total operating revenue $10,218 $10,558 $9,246

The primary types of sales and service activities reported

as operating revenue include:

Regulated electric sales consist primarily of state-regulated

retail electric sales and federally regulated wholesale electric

sales and electric transmission services subject to cost-of-service

rate regulation.

Regulated gas sales consist primarily of state-regulated retail

natural gas sales and related distribution services.

Nonregulated electric sales consist primarily of sales of elec-

tricity from utility, independent power production and mer-

chant nuclear plant resources at market-based rates and net

operating revenue from electric trading activities.

Nonregulated gas sales consist primarily of sales of natural

gas at market-based rates, brokered gas sales and net operating

revenue from gas trading activities. Natural gas sold includes

gas produced by Dominion as well as purchased gas.

Gas transportation and storage consists primarily of federally-

regulated sales of gathering, transmission, distribution and stor-

age services. Also included are gas distribution charges to retail

distribution service customers opting for alternate suppliers.

Gas and oil production consists primarily of sales of natural

gas, oil and condensate produced by Dominion. Gas and oil

production revenue is reported net of royalties.

Other revenue consists primarily of miscellaneous service

revenue from electric and gas distribution operations; sales of

coal, brokered oil and other extracted products; gas and oil pro-

cessing; gas transmission capacity release; and interest and other

income from financial services operations.

Dominion’s customer accounts receivable at December 31,

2002 and 2001 included $334 million and $307 million,

respectively, of accrued unbilled revenue based on estimated

electric energy or natural gas delivered but not yet billed to its

utility customers. Considering historical usage and applicable

customer rates, Dominion estimates unbilled utility revenue

based on weather factors and, for electric customers, total daily

electric generation supplied after adjusting for estimated losses

of energy during transmission.

8 Restructuring and 
Acquisition-Related Activities

2001 Restructuring Costs
In the fourth quarter of 2001, after fully integrating CNG’s

organization and operations with those of Dominion, manage-

ment initiated a focused review of Dominion’s combined

operations and developed a plan of reorganization. As a result,

Dominion recognized $105 million of restructuring costs which

included employee severance and termination benefits and the

abandonment of leased office space no longer needed. In addi-

tion, restructuring charges included approximately $46 million

related to departing employees for modifications of stock

options, special termination benefits and losses related to the

settlement of the related nonqualified pension obligation and

plan curtailment attributable to reductions in expected future

years of service of plan participants. See Note 26.

Under the 2001 restructuring plan, Dominion identified

approximately 340 salaried positions to be eliminated and

recorded $42 million in employee severance-related costs.

Severance payments were based on the individual’s base salary

and years of service at the time of termination. In 2002,

Dominion recorded an $8 million adjustment to the liability

for severance and related costs and reported it in restructuring

and other acquisition-related costs in the Consolidated State-

ments of Income. With 303 positions actually being eliminated

under the plan, the adjustment reflected a reduction in the

number of employee positions being eliminated and a reduction

for differences between actual and estimated base salaries and

years of service for those employees actually terminated under

the plan.

64 D o m i n i o n ’ 0 2  A n n u a l  R e p o r t



Restructuring and related costs for the year ended Decem-

ber 31, 2001 were as follows:

(millions)

Severance and related costs $ 42
Nonqualified plan benefits, settlement and other costs 46
Lease termination and restructuring 13
Other 4

Total restructuring costs $105

The change in the liabilities for severance and related costs

and lease termination costs during 2002 is presented below:

Severance Liability Lease Liability

(millions)

Balance at December 31, 2001 $ 42 $10
Amounts paid (24) (1)
Revision of estimate (8) —

Balance at December 31, 2002 $ 10 $ 9

2000 Restructuring and Acquisition-Related Activities
During 2000, Dominion incurred charges associated with the

divestiture of certain businesses and the implementation of a

restructuring plan for the operations of Dominion and its sub-

sidiaries. The divestitures and restructuring plans were driven

by certain requirements associated with the CNG acquisition

and a focus on operations in the region that begins at the Mid-

America Interconnected Network (MAIN) and extends north-

eastward through Maine (MAIN-to-Maine). The restructuring

plan included an involuntary severance program, a voluntary

early retirement program (ERP) and a transition plan to

consolidate operations after the CNG acquisition.

For the year ended December 31, 2000, Dominion

recorded $460 million of restructuring and acquisition-related

costs, including those incurred from exiting certain businesses

of DCI, as follows:

(millions)

Severance and related costs $ 70
Commodity contract losses 55
Information technology related costs 35
Lease termination and restructuring 14
DCI exit strategies (see Note 9) 172
ERP benefit costs (see Note 26) 114
Curtailment gains (see Note 26) (26)
Other 26

Total $460

Employee Severance Programs—As a result of the 2000

restructuring activities, Dominion eliminated 750 salaried posi-

tions. Severance payments were based on the individual’s base

salary and years-of-service at the time of termination. In addi-

tion, severance payments were provided to employees at DCI

who were terminated as part of Dominion’s strategy to exit cer-

tain businesses of DCI. At December 31, 2001, $3 million of

severance and related benefit costs accrued under the plan had

not yet been paid; such amounts were paid during 2002.

Change in Risk Management Strategy—During the first quar-

ter of 2000, Dominion created an enterprise risk management

group with responsibility for managing Dominion’s aggregate

energy portfolio, including the related commodity price risk,

across its consolidated operations. In connection with this

change in risk management strategy, management evaluated

CNG’s hedging strategy in relation to Dominion’s combined

operations and designated CNG’s portfolio of derivative con-

tracts that existed on January 28, 2000, as held for purposes

other than hedging for accounting purposes. This action

required a change to mark-to-market accounting and resulted

in $55 million of losses recognized in the first quarter of 2000

before Dominion had either financially settled the contracts or

had entered into offsetting contracts.

Other—Restructuring and other acquisition-related costs

included amounts paid to employees to retain their services

during the post-acquisition transition period, amounts payable

under certain employee contracts and information technology

systems and operations integration costs. The information tech-

nology costs included excess amortization expense attributable

to shortening the useful lives of capitalized software being

impacted by systems integration and related conversion costs.

Dominion also incurred lease termination and restructuring

costs as a result of the consolidation of operations.

9 Impairment Losses—DCI Operations

In 2002, Dominion recognized impairment losses of $24 mil-

lion ($16 million after-tax) on its retained interests in mortgage

securitizations and goodwill associated with a DCI subsidiary.

These impairment losses were reported in other operations

and maintenance expenses. See Note 18 for a discussion of the

goodwill impairment. In 2001, Dominion recognized impair-

ment losses of $281 million on various investments at DCI

and reported the losses in other operations and maintenance

expenses. These charges, after-tax, reduced 2001 net income by

$183 million. In 2000, Dominion recognized impairment losses

of $291 million, of which $172 million was determined to be

attributable to Dominion’s DCI exit strategy and were included

in restructuring and other acquisition-related costs. The

remaining $119 million of impairment charges were related to

normal operations of DCI and are included in other operations

and maintenance expenses. See Notes 6, 8 and 13. These

charges, after-tax, reduced 2000 net income by $186 million.

The 2002, 2001 and 2000 impairments are reflected in the

Corporate and Other operating segment. See Note 32.
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The table below presents a summary of the impairment

losses recorded in 2002, 2001 and 2000:

2002 2001 2000

(millions)

Retained interests from 

mortgage securitizations $11 $ 21 $106
Retained interests from 

CLO/CDO securitizations — 81 —
Loans receivable — 94 36
Venture capital and other equity investments 13 64 46
Investment in First Source Financial LLP — — 49
Real-estate projects and other — 21 54

Total $24 $281 $291

Retained Interests—Mortgage, CLO and CDO Securitizations
As part of routine quarterly reviews of its retained interests in

mortgage securitizations during the fourth quarter of 2002,

Dominion revised its prepayment speed assumptions for esti-

mating fair values and, as a result, recognized an $11 million

write-down of the carrying values of those investments.

During its review of its retained interests in mortgage, CLO

and CDO securitizations in 2001, Dominion considered the

following: historical performance of its securitized pools; recent

prepayment and credit loss experience of loans in those pools;

other industry data; and economic factors prevailing in the U.S.

economy, particularly conditions brought about by the Septem-

ber 11, 2001 events and the mortgage interest rate environment

at the time of the assessment. In light of actual credit loss expe-

rience and actual prepayment activity of certain mortgage and

commercial loans in the securitization trusts, Dominion

increased its credit loss and prepayment speed assumptions used

to estimate the fair value of its retained interests in mortgage,

CLO and CDO securitizations. With these changes in esti-

mates, Dominion recognized a write-down of the carrying val-

ues of its retained interests in mortgage and CLO and CDO

securitizations of $21 million and $81 million, respectively.

During the first half of 2000, in response to changes in market

conditions, Dominion increased the discount rate used to value

the interest-only strips included in its retained interests in mort-

gage securitizations from 12 percent to 17 percent and recog-

nized a loss of $106 million. See Note 13 for significant credit

loss, prepayment and discount rate assumptions.

Loans and Other Investments
The other impairments and loss provisions in 2001 reflect

Dominion’s current estimate of net realizable values considering

the dramatically weakened economy and increasing instances of

bankruptcies, defaults and major restructurings that signifi-

cantly diminished investment values. Dominion’s valuation

methodologies and assumptions vary by investment and include

cash flow analysis, signed contracts, independent third-party

appraisals and, in certain cases, liquidation value.

10 Income Taxes

Income before provision for income taxes, classified by source of

income, before minority interests, was as follows:

Year Ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000

(millions)

U.S. $2,018 $816 $552

Non-U.S. 25 98 48

Total $2,043 $914 $600

Details of income tax expense were as follows:

Year Ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000

(millions)

Current

Federal $ (46) $104 $255

State 13 62 20

Non-U.S. 3

Total current (33) 169 275

Deferred

Federal 654 151 (111)

State 65 24 16

Non-U.S. 13 45 22

Total deferred 732 220 (73)

Amortization of deferred 

investment tax credits—net (18) (19) (19)

Total income tax expense $681 $370 $183
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The statutory U.S. federal income tax rate reconciles to the

effective income tax rates as follows:

Year Ended December 31, 2002(1) 2001(2) 2000

U.S. statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Increases (reductions) resulting from:

Utility plant differences (0.1) 0.5 0.8
Preferred dividends 0.3 0.9 2.1
Amortization of investment 

tax credits (0.7) (1.7) (2.3)
Nonconventional fuel credit (1.8) (4.6) (7.1)
Other benefits and taxes related 

to foreign operations 0.2 3.0 (2.7)
State taxes, net of federal benefit 2.5 5.9 4.3
Goodwill amortization — 3.3 4.4
Employee pension and other benefits (0.6) (1.4) (1.4)
Employee stock ownership 

plan deduction (0.8) — —
Other, net (0.7) (0.5) (2.6)

Effective tax rate 33.3% 40.4% 30.5%

(1) Dominion’s effective income tax rate decreased, reflecting the effect of
including certain subsidiaries in Dominion’s consolidated state income tax
returns. In addition, the effective tax rate decreased for foreign earnings,
the impact of discontinuing goodwill amortization for book purposes and
other factors.

(2) Dominion’s effective income tax rate increased in 2001 due to its utility
operations in Virginia becoming subject to state income taxes in lieu of gross
receipts taxes, higher effective rates associated with foreign earnings and
higher pretax income in relation to nonconventional fuel tax credits realized.

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of tempo-

rary differences between the carrying amount of assets and lia-

bilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used

for income tax purposes. Dominion’s net deferred taxes consist

of the following:

At December 31, 2002 2001

(millions)

Deferred income tax assets:

Other comprehensive income $ 246 $ —
Deferred investment tax credits 37 43
Other 18 122

Total deferred income tax assets 301 165

Deferred income tax liabilities:

Depreciation method and plant basis differences 2,007 1,911
Income taxes recoverable through future rates 15 19
Partnership basis differences 184 113
Investee earnings reported in different tax periods 149 143
Postretirement and pension benefits 517 464
Intangible drilling costs 723 520
Geological, geophysical and other 

exploration differences 196 170
Deferred state income taxes 222 221
Other comprehensive income — 182
Other 298 113

Total deferred income tax liabilities 4,311 3,856

Total net deferred income tax liabilities (1) $4,010 $3,691

(1) For 2002 and 2001, total net deferred income tax liabilities include $89
million and $121 million, respectively, of current deferred tax assets
reported in other current assets.

At December 31, 2002, Dominion had U.S. federal net

operating loss carryforwards of $107 million. These carryfor-

wards are expected to be fully utilized between 2003 and 2007.

These amounts resulted from the acquisition of subsidiaries.

11 Earnings Per Share

The following table presents Dominion’s basic and diluted earn-

ings per share (EPS) calculation:

Year Ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000

(millions, except per share amounts)

Basic
Income before cumulative effect of a 

change in accounting principle $1,362 $ 544 $ 415
Average shares of common stock

outstanding—basic 281.0 250.2 235.2
Basic EPS $ 4.85 $ 2.17 $ 1.76

Diluted
Income before cumulative effect of a 

change in accounting principle $1,362 $ 544 $ 415
Average shares of common 

stock outstanding 281.0 250.2 235.2
Net effect of dilutive stock options (1) 1.6 2.3 0.7

Average shares of common 

stock outstanding—diluted 282.6 252.5 235.9
Diluted EPS $ 4.82 $ 2.15 $ 1.76

Average anti-dilutive shares excluded 

from the EPS calculation 11.0 3.0 4.0

(1) Represents the effect of “in-the-money” stock options on the calculation of
average outstanding shares of common stock.
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12 Inventories

At December 31, 2002 and 2001, stored gas inventory used in

local gas distribution operations was valued at $52 million and

$84 million, respectively, under the last-in-first-out (LIFO)

method. Based on the average price of gas purchased during

2002, the current cost of replacing the current portion of stored

gas inventory exceeded the amount stated on a LIFO basis by

approximately $163 million. At December 31, 2002 and 2001,

the stored gas inventory of certain of Dominion’s nonregulated

gas operations was valued at $179 million and $98 million,

respectively, using primarily the weighted average cost method.

A portion of gas in underground storage used as a pressure

base and for operational balancing was included in property,

plant and equipment in the amount of $124 million at Decem-

ber 31, 2002 and 2001. Property, plant and equipment also

reflected a reduction for volumes temporarily withdrawn from

storage and valued at replacement costs of $53 million and

$25 million as of December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Materials and supplies and fossil fuel inventories are valued

using primarily the weighted average cost method.

13 Securitization of Financial Assets

In prior years, Dominion sold residential mortgage loans

and commercial loans in securitization transactions. In those

securitizations, Dominion retained servicing responsibilities

and interests which are subordinate to the interests of investors

participating in the securitizations. The investors and the

securitization trusts have no recourse to Dominion’s other

assets for failure of debtors to pay when due. In 2001 and

2000, Dominion recognized pretax gains of $21 million and

$85 million, respectively, on the securitization of residential

mortgage loans.

Dominion’s retained interests in mortgage securitizations

were based on rights to annual servicing fees approximating

50 basis points of the outstanding balance and rights to future

cash flows from the performance of the loan portfolios after

the investors in the securitization trusts have received their con-

tracted return. In addition, Dominion will continue to receive

future cash flows from prepayment penalties on mortgage loans

that payoff during the contractual penalty period. The value of

the retained interests is subject to credit, prepayment and inter-

est rate risks related to the mortgage loans sold. For CLOs,

Dominion receives annual servicing fees of 38 basis points of

the outstanding balance and rights to future cash flows after the

investors in the securitization trusts have received their con-

tracted return. The estimated fair value of Dominion’s retained

interests at the time of the 2001 and 2000 securitizations was

based on expected cash flow recoveries from the loan portfolios.

The majority of the commercial loans securitized were variable

rate loans. As a result, changes in interest rates will not cause

a material change in the performance of the loan portfolios.

See Notes 2 and 9 for a discussion of Dominion’s accounting

policy for securitizations and the outcome of routine quarterly

reviews of retained interests in mortgage, CLO and CDO

securitizations during 2002, 2001 and 2000 and related

impairment charges.

Activity for the retained interests from securitizations of

mortgage loans, including interest-only strips and servicing

rights, and the CLO and CDO retained interests is summarized

as follows:

Interest-Only Servicing
Strips— Rights Retained Retained

Mortgage Mortgage Interest— Interest—
Loans(1) Loans CLO CDO

(millions)

Balance at January 1, 2000 $ 347 $ 39 — $ 58
Retained from securitization 99 18 $ 76 30
Amortization (16) (7) — —
Cash received (51) — — (4)

Gain on trading securities 25 — — —
Fair value adjustment (102) (5) — (1)

Balance at December 31, 2000 302 45 76 83
Retained from securitization 33 — 196 —
Amortization (9) — — —
Cash received (55) — — (6)

Gain on trading securities 19 — — —
Servicing rights sold(2) (45) — —
Fair value adjustment (21) — (67) (14)

Balance at December 31, 2001 269 — 205 63
Amortization (5) — — —
Cash received (49) — — (2)
Loss on securities (19) — — —
Fair value adjustment (11) — — —

Balance at December 31, 2002 $ 185 — $205 $ 61

(1) Includes prepayment penalties.
(2) Dominion sold all of its servicing rights as part of its sale of Saxon

Mortgage in 2001.
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Presented below are the fair values of Dominion’s retained

interests and related key economic assumptions as of December

31, 2002 and the sensitivity of the retained interests’ fair value

to adverse changes of 10 percent and 20 percent in those

assumptions:

Retained
Interest— Retained Retained
Mortgage Interest— Interest—

Loans CLO CDO

(millions, except percentages)

Carrying amount/fair value $182 $205 $ 61
Weighted-average life (in years) 3.54 1.87 3.69

Prepayment speed assumption 
(annual rate) (1) N/A N/A

Impact on fair value of 10% 

adverse change $ (12) N/A N/A
Impact on fair value of 20% 

adverse change (23) N/A N/A

Expected credit losses (annual rate) 3.6% 4%(2) 2%(3)

Impact on fair value of 10% 

adverse change $ (7) $ (6) $ (3)

Impact on fair value of 20% 

adverse change (14) (10) (7)

Residual cash flows discount 
rate (annual) 17% 10% 16.9%

Impact on fair value of 10% 

adverse change $ (6) $ (10) $ (4)

Impact on fair value of 20% 

adverse change (11) (15) (8)

Interest rates on variable and 
adjustable contracts (4) N/A N/A

Impact on fair value of 10% 

adverse change $ (2) N/A N/A
Impact on fair value of 20% 

adverse change (4) N/A N/A

(1) Fixed rate loans ramp up to 25 constant prepayment rate (CPR) over 16
months. Adjustable rate loans ramp up to 65 CPR over 16 months, ramping
down to 40 CPR over 12 months. Second liens ramp up to 35 CPR over 16
months, ramping down to 22 CPR over 26 months.Two-year hybrid loans
ramp up to 32 CPR over 14 months; ramping up to 65 CPR in month 25;
ramping to 31 CPR over 7 months.Three-year hybrid loans ramp up to 32
CPR over 14 months; ramping up to 60 CPR in month 37; ramping down to
31 CPR over 7 months.

(2) Defaults occur at the beginning of each period.They are applied on constant
percentage to the period’s beginning collateral balance.

(3) Assets rated Caa1 and lower are defaulted using a cumulative default rate
(CDR) vector based upon Moody’s Cumulative Default Rates for Caa1-C
securities. A 2 percent per annum CDR is applied to remaining assets with
ongoing recoveries of 40 percent and 80 percent on bonds and loans,
respectively.

(4) Based on the full forward 1-month LIBOR, 6-month LIBOR or 1-year
constant maturity treasury rate through January 1, 2006 based on the
variable component of the variable rate contracts.

These sensitivities are hypothetical. Changes in fair value

based on a 10 percent variation in assumptions generally cannot

be extrapolated because the relationship of the change in

assumption to the change in fair value may not be linear. Also,

the effect of a variation in a particular assumption on the fair

value of the retained interests was calculated without changing

any other assumption. In reality, changes in one factor may

result in changes in another factor which might magnify or

counteract the sensitivities. For example, increases in market

interest rates may result in lower prepayments and increased

credit losses.

14 Investment Securities

Dominion holds marketable debt and equity securities classified

as available-for-sale. Those investments are reported as available-

for-sale securities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets in Other

Investments. In addition, the Millstone nuclear decommission-

ing trust funds holds marketable debt and equity securities clas-

sified as available-for-sale. See Note 16 for additional disclosure

of Dominion’s accounting for the Millstone decommissioning

trusts. Available-for-sale securities as of December 31, 2002 and

2001 are summarized below:

Total Total
Unrealized Unrealized

Gains Losses
Included in Included in

Fair Value AOCI AOCI

(millions) 

2002
Equity securities $ 489 $ 1 $118
Debt securities 758 14 14

Total $1,247 $15 $132

2001
Equity securities $ 551 $11 $ 4
Debt securities 684 1 16

Total $1,235 $12 $ 20

Debt securities backed by mortgages and loans do not

have stated contractual maturities as borrowers have the right to

call or repay obligations with or without call or prepayment

penalties. At December 31, 2002, these debt securities totaled

$448 million. See Note 13 for a discussion of the assumed

weighted average life of those investments. The fair value of all

other debt securities at December 31, 2002 by contractual

maturity are as follows:

(millions)

Due in one year or less $ 4
Due after one year through five years 56
Due after five years through ten years 96
Due after ten years 146

Total $302
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Proceeds from sales of available-for-sale securities were

$577 million for 2002, $484 million for 2001 and $3 million

for 2000. Realized gains associated with sales of available-for-

sale securities totaled $58 million for 2002, $18 million for 2001

and $1 million for 2000. Realized losses on those sales totaled

$58 million, $4 million and $6 million for 2002, 2001 and

2000, respectively. Beginning in 2001, proceeds and realized

gains and losses included activity in the Millstone nuclear

decommissioning trusts. The cost of these securities was deter-

mined on a specific identification basis. For 2002, Dominion

recognized net unrealized losses of $5 million on trading securi-

ties, other than those associated with its retained interests from

previously securitized mortgages, which are discussed below. For

2001 and 2000, net unrealized holding gains on trading securi-

ties increased pre-tax earnings by $21 million and $6 million,

respectively. Net unrealized holding gains for 2000 included a

$14 million loss relating to the reclassification of certain avail-

able-for-sale securities to the trading category.

During the second quarter of 2002, Dominion evaluated

its ability to sell its retained interests from previously securitized

mortgages. The evaluation process included discussions with

various investment advisors, securitizers of mortgages and others

in the mortgage industry. The result of that evaluation was

that the retained interests were not readily marketable on terms

that would be acceptable to Dominion. Therefore, during the

second quarter of 2002, Dominion reclassified its retained inter-

ests from trading to available-for-sale. While classifying the

retained interests as trading, Dominion recognized $5 million

of net realized and unrealized pre-tax losses in earnings through

May 1, 2002. Beginning on May 1, 2002, unrealized gains

and losses on the retained interests were recorded in other

comprehensive income.

15 Derivative Instruments, Hedge Accounting
and Energy Trading Activities

Adoption of SFAS No. 133
Dominion adopted SFAS No. 133 on January 1, 2001 and

recorded an after-tax charge to accumulated other compre-

hensive income (AOCI) of $183 million, net of taxes of

$106 million.

Risk Management Policy
Dominion uses derivative instruments to manage the com-

modity and financial market risks of its business operations.

Dominion manages the price risk associated with purchases

and sales of electricity, natural gas and oil by using derivative

instruments including futures, forwards, swaps and options.

Dominion manages the foreign exchange risk associated with

anticipated future purchases denominated in foreign currencies

through currency forward contracts. Dominion also manages

its interest rate risk exposure, in part, by entering into interest

rate swap transactions.

As part of its strategy to market energy and to manage

related risks, Dominion manages a portfolio of commodity-

based derivative instruments held for trading purposes. These

contracts are sensitive to changes in the prices of energy com-

modities, primarily natural gas and electricity. Dominion

uses established policies and procedures to manage the risks

associated with these price fluctuations and uses various deriva-

tive instruments, such as futures, swaps and options, to reduce

risk by creating offsetting market positions. Dominion has oper-

ating procedures in place that are administered by experienced

management to help ensure that proper internal controls are

maintained regarding the use of derivative instruments. In

addition, Dominion has established an independent function

to monitor compliance with the risk management policies of

all subsidiaries.

Dominion designates a substantial portion of derivative

instruments held for purposes other than trading as fair value or

cash flow hedges for accounting purposes. A significant portion

of Dominion’s hedge strategies represents cash flow hedges of

the variable price risk associated with the purchase and sale of

electricity, natural gas, oil and other commodities. Dominion

also uses cash flow hedge strategies to hedge the variability in

foreign exchange rates and variable interest rates on long-term

debt. In its cash flow hedges, Dominion uses the derivative

instruments discussed in the preceding paragraphs. Dominion

also engages in fair value hedges by using natural gas swaps,

futures and options to mitigate the fixed price exposure inherent

in its firm commodity commitments. In addition, Dominion

has designated interest rate swaps as fair value hedges to manage

its exposure to fixed interest rates on certain long-term debt.

Certain non-trading derivative instruments are not designated

as hedges for accounting purposes. However, management

believes these instruments represent economic hedges that

mitigate exposure to fluctuations in commodity prices and

interest rates.

Accounting Policy
Under SFAS No. 133, derivatives are recognized on the

Consolidated Balance Sheets at fair value, unless an exception

is available under the standard. Certain qualifying derivative

contracts have been designated as normal purchases or normal

sales contracts. These contracts are not reported at fair value,

as otherwise required by SFAS No. 133.
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Commodity contracts representing unrealized gain

positions are reported as derivative and energy trading assets;

commodity contracts representing unrealized losses are reported

as derivative and energy trading liabilities. In addition, pur-

chased options and options sold are reported as derivative

and energy trading assets and derivative and energy trading

liabilities, respectively, at estimated market value until exercise

or expiration.

For all derivatives designated as hedges, Dominion formally

documents the relationship between the hedging instrument

and the hedged item, as well as the risk management objective

and strategy for using the hedging instrument. Dominion

assesses whether the hedge relationship between the derivative

and the hedged item is highly effective in offsetting changes in

fair value or cash flows both at the inception of the hedge and

on an ongoing basis. Any change in fair value of the derivative

that is not effective in offsetting changes in the fair value of

the hedged item is recognized currently in earnings. Dominion

discontinues hedge accounting prospectively for derivatives

that have ceased to be highly effective hedges.

For fair value hedge transactions in which Dominion is

hedging changes in the fair value of an asset, liability or firm

commitment, changes in the fair value of the derivative will

generally be offset in the Consolidated Statements of Income

by changes in the hedged item’s fair value. For cash flow hedge

transactions in which Dominion is hedging the variability of

cash flows related to a variable-priced asset, liability, commit-

ment or forecasted transaction, changes in the fair value of the

derivative are reported in AOCI. Derivative gains and losses

reported in AOCI are reclassified to earnings in the periods in

which earnings are impacted by the variability of the cash flows

of the hedged item. The ineffective portions of the change in

fair value of derivatives and the change in fair value of deriva-

tives not designated as hedges for accounting purposes are

recognized in current period earnings. For foreign currency

forward contracts designated as cash flow hedges, hedge effec-

tiveness is measured based on changes in the fair value of the

contract attributable to changes in the forward exchange rate.

For options designated either as fair value or cash flow hedges,

changes in time value are excluded from the measurement of

hedge effectiveness and are therefore recorded in earnings.

Gains and losses on derivatives designated as hedges, when

recognized, are included in operating revenue, expenses or

interest and related charges in the Consolidated Statements of

Income. Specific line item classification is determined based on

the nature of the risk underlying individual hedge strategies.

Changes in the fair value of derivatives not designated as

hedges and the portion of hedging derivatives excluded

from the measurement of effectiveness are included in other

operation and maintenance expense in the Consolidated State-

ments of Income. Cash flows resulting from the settlement of

derivatives used as hedging instruments are included in net cash

flows from operating activities.

Derivatives and Hedge Accounting Results
In the Consolidated Statements of Income, Dominion recog-

nized pre-tax gains (losses) related to hedge ineffectiveness and

changes in time value of options excluded from the measure-

ment of hedge effectiveness, as follows:

2002 2001

(millions)

Ineffectiveness:

Fair value hedges $ 2 $ (1)
Cash flow hedges (31) 3

Total ineffectiveness $(29) $ 2

Change in options’ time value:

Fair value hedges $ (1) —
Cash flow hedges (1) $(47)

Total change in options’ time value $ (2) $(47)

The following table presents selected information related

to cash flow hedges included in AOCI in the Consolidated

Balance Sheet at December 31, 2002:

Accumulated Other Portion Expected 
Comprehensive to be Reclassified 

Income (Loss) to Earnings during 
After Tax the Next 12 Months Maximum Term

(millions)

Commodities $(356) $(156) 62 months
Interest Rate (14) (4) 282 months
Foreign Currency 14 4 59 months

Total $(356) $(156)

The actual amounts that will be reclassified to earnings in

2003 will vary from the expected amounts presented above as a

result of changes in market prices, interest rates and foreign

exchange rates. The effect of amounts being reclassified from

AOCI to earnings will generally be offset by the recognition of

the hedged transactions (e.g., anticipated sales) in earnings,

thereby achieving the realization of prices contemplated by the

underlying risk management strategies.
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Energy Trading Activities
Dominion’s non-derivative energy contracts initiated before

October 25, 2002 and derivative instruments held for energy

trading purposes are reported at fair value, with corresponding

changes in value recognized immediately in earnings. See

Note 4 for discussion of recent changes impacting the fair value

accounting for energy trading contracts. Net gains and losses

associated with Dominion’s commodity trading purchases and

sales are presented net as nonregulated electric sales and nonreg-

ulated gas sales revenue. Cash flows resulting from the settle-

ment of energy trading contracts are included in net cash flows

from operating activities. The composition of operating revenue

from commodity trading activities for the years 2002, 2001

and 2000 follows:

Gains Losses Total

(millions)

2002
Contract settlements $10,340 $(10,310) $ 30
Unrealized gains and losses 1,447 (1,402) 45

Operating revenue $11,787 $(11,712) $ 75

2001
Contract settlements $ 5,208 $ (5,209) $(1)
Unrealized gains and losses 1,378 (1,238) 140

Operating revenue $ 6,586 $ (6,447) $139

2000
Contract settlements $ 2,773 $ (2,692) $81
Unrealized gains and losses 1,236 (1,211) 25

Operating revenue $ 4,009 $ (3,903) $106

Enron Bankruptcy
Based on management’s evaluation of the estimated collectibil-

ity of amounts due from Enron Corp. and certain of its sub-

sidiaries (Enron) and the valuation of Enron-related commodity

contracts, Dominion recorded a pre-tax charge to earnings of

approximately $151 million in the fourth quarter of 2001. This

charge was comprised of approximately $9 million for net

credit exposure on past energy sales to Enron for which payment

has not been received and approximately $142 million related

to the impaired fair value of natural gas forward and swap

contracts with Enron. Management continues to believe that

this charge substantially eliminates any further Enron-related

earnings exposure.

During 2002, Dominion terminated all outstanding and

open positions with Enron. Dominion has submitted a claim

in the Enron bankruptcy case for the value of such contracts,

measured at the effective dates of contract termination. Various

contingencies, including developments in the Enron bank-

ruptcy proceedings, may affect Dominion’s ultimate exposure

to Enron.

Concurrent with the December 2, 2001 Enron bankruptcy

filing, Dominion’s Enron derivatives designated as cash flow

hedges of anticipated purchases and sales of natural gas no

longer qualified for hedge accounting and, accordingly, 

were de-designated from their hedging relationships for

accounting purposes.

16 Nuclear Operations

Dominion has a total of six licensed, operating nuclear reactors

at its Surry and North Anna plants in Virginia and its Millstone

plant in Connecticut. Surry and North Anna serve customers of

Dominion’s regulated electric utility operations.

Millstone is a non-regulated merchant plant with two oper-

ating units. A third Millstone unit ceased operations before

Dominion acquired the plant. See Notes 5 and 17 regarding the

acquisition of Millstone and other information regarding jointly

owned utility plants.

Decommissioning represents the decontamination and

removal of radioactive contaminants from a nuclear power

plant, once operations have ceased, in accordance with stan-

dards established by the NRC. Through June 2007, amounts are

being collected from Virginia jurisdictional ratepayers and

placed in external trusts and invested to fund the expected costs

of decommissioning the Surry and North Anna units. As part of

its acquisition of Millstone, Dominion acquired the decommis-

sioning trusts for the three units that were fully funded to the

regulatory minimum as of the acquisition date. Currently,

Dominion believes that the amounts available in the trusts and

their expected earnings will be sufficient to cover expected

decommissioning costs for the Millstone units, without any

additional contributions to the trusts.

Accounting for Decommissioning
Utility Nuclear Plants—In accordance with the accounting

policy recognized by regulatory authorities having jurisdiction

over its electric utility operations, Dominion recognizes an

expense for the future cost of decommissioning in amounts

equal to amounts collected from ratepayers and earnings on

trust investments dedicated to funding the decommissioning

of Dominion’s utility nuclear plants. On the Consolidated

Balance Sheets, the external trusts are reported at fair value with

the accumulated provision for decommissioning included in

accumulated depreciation. Net realized and unrealized earnings

on the trust investments, as well as an offsetting expense to

increase the accumulated provision for decommissioning, are

recorded as a component of other income (loss) as permitted by

regulatory authorities.
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The balance of investments held in external trusts for Surry

and North Anna decommissioning as well as the accumulated

provision for decommissioning at December 31, 2002 and

2001, was $838 million and $858 million, respectively.

Dominion collected $36 million from ratepayers in each of

the years ended 2002, 2001 and 2000 and expensed like

amounts as a component of depreciation. Dominion recognized

net realized gains and interest income of $11 million, $32 mil-

lion and $20 million for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Dominion recognized net unrealized losses of $67 million,

$61 million and $23 million, for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respec-

tively. Dominion recognized offsetting increases or decreases

to its provision for decommissioning in amounts equal to net

realized and unrealized gains or losses for each period.

Merchant Nuclear Plant—The external trusts that hold

investments dedicated to funding the decommissioning of

Dominion’s merchant nuclear plant are classified as available for

sale and reported in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at fair

value. See Note 14. The balance of investments held in external

trusts for Millstone decommissioning at December 31, 2002

and 2001 was $761 million and $839 million, respectively.

The accumulated provision for decommissioning, which is

included in accumulated depreciation in the Consolidated Bal-

ance Sheets, was recorded upon the acquisition of Millstone at

its estimated fair value using discounted cash flows of expected

costs to perform the decommissioning activities. The balance

of the accumulated provision for Millstone decommissioning

was $700 million and $660 million at December 31, 2002 and

2001, respectively.

The accretion of the provision for decommissioning is

expensed as a component of depreciation and was $40 million

and $30 million for the years ended December 31, 2002 and

2001, respectively. Dominion realized net gains and interest

income on trust investments of $21 million and $37 million in

2002 and 2001, respectively, and recorded such gains in other

income. Dominion recorded unrealized losses on the decom-

missioning trusts of $99 million in 2002 in other comprehen-

sive income. Unrealized losses on the decommissioning trust in

2001 were less than $1 million.

See Note 4 for a discussion of the adoption of SFAS

No. 143 which will affect Dominion’s accounting for nuclear

decommissioning costs.

Expected Costs for Decommissioning
The total estimated current cost to decommission Dominion’s

seven nuclear units is $3.1 billion based on site-specific studies

completed in 2002. Dominion expects to perform new cost

studies in 2006. For all units except Millstone Unit 1, the cur-

rent cost estimates assume decommissioning activities will begin

shortly after cessation of operations, which will occur when

operating licenses expire. Millstone Unit 1 is not in service and

will be monitored until decommissioning activities begin for the

remaining Millstone units. The current operating licenses expire

in the years detailed in the following table. However, Dominion

filed a request with the NRC in 2001 for a 20-year life extension

for the Surry and North Anna units and expects to file a similar

request for the Millstone units in 2004. Dominion expects to

decommission the Surry and North Anna units during the

period 2032 to 2045 and the Millstone units during the period

2050 to 2055.
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Surry North Anna Millstone

Unit 1 Unit 2 Unit 1 Unit 2 Unit 1 Unit 2 Unit 3 Total

(millions)

NRC license expiration year 2012 2013 2018 2020 (1) 2015 2025
Current cost estimate (2002 dollars) $375 $368 $391 $363 $552 $522 $554 $3,125
Funds in external trusts at December 31, 2002 235 230 192 181 262 252 247 1,599
2002 contributions to external trusts 11 11 7 7 — — — 36

(1) Unit 1 ceased operations in 1998 before Dominion’s acquisition of Millstone.

The NRC requires nuclear power plant owners to annually

update minimum financial assurance amounts for the future

decommissioning of the nuclear facilities. Dominion’s 2002

NRC minimum financial assurance amount, aggregated for the

nuclear units, was $2.1 billion and has been satisfied by a combi-

nation of surety bonds and the funds being collected and

deposited in the external trusts. Beginning in March 2003,

Dominion expects to substitute a guarantee to replace the surety

bonds currently being utilized.

Insurance
The Price-Anderson Act limits the public liability of a nuclear

plant owner to $9.5 billion for a single nuclear incident. The

Price-Anderson Act Amendment of 1988 allows for an inflation-

ary provision adjustment every five years. Dominion has pur-

chased $200 million of coverage from commercial insurance

pools with the remainder provided through a mandatory indus-

try risk-sharing program. In the event of a nuclear incident at

any licensed nuclear reactor in the United States, Dominion

could be assessed up to $88 million for each of its seven licensed

reactors, not to exceed $10 million per year per reactor. There is
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no limit to the number of incidents for which this retrospective

premium can be assessed.

The Price-Anderson Act was first enacted in 1957 and has

been renewed three times—in 1967, 1975 and 1988. Price-

Anderson expired August 1, 2002, but operating nuclear reac-

tors continue to be covered by the law. Congress is currently

holding hearings to reauthorize the legislation. The expiration

of the Price-Anderson Act has no impact on existing nuclear

license holders.

Dominion’s current level of property insurance coverage

($2.55 billion for North Anna, $2.55 billion for Surry and

$2.75 billion for Millstone) exceeds the NRC’s minimum

requirement for nuclear power plant licensees of $1.06 billion

per reactor site and includes coverage for premature decommis-

sioning and functional total loss. The NRC requires that the

proceeds from this insurance be used first to return the reactor

to and maintain it in a safe and stable condition and second to

decontaminate the reactor and station site in accordance with a

plan approved by the NRC. Dominion’s nuclear property insur-

ance is provided by Nuclear Electric Insurance Limited (NEIL),

a mutual insurance company, and is subject to retrospective pre-

mium assessments in any policy year in which losses exceed the

funds available to the insurance company. The maximum assess-

ment for the current policy period is $70 million. Based on the

severity of the incident, the board of directors of Dominion’s

nuclear insurer has the discretion to lower or eliminate the max-

imum retrospective premium assessment. Dominion has the

financial responsibility for any losses that exceed the limits or for

which insurance proceeds are not available because they must

first be used for stabilization and decontamination.

Dominion also purchases insurance from NEIL to cover

the cost of replacement power during the prolonged outage of

a nuclear unit due to direct physical damage of the unit. Under

this program, Dominion is subject to a retrospective premium

assessment for any policy year in which losses exceed funds

available to NEIL. The current policy period’s maximum

assessment is $29 million.

Old Dominion Electric Cooperative, a part owner of the

North Anna Power Station, and Massachusetts Municipal

Wholesale Electric Company and Central Vermont Public

Service Corporation, part owners of Millstone’s Unit 3, are

responsible for their share of the nuclear decommissioning

obligations and insurance premiums on applicable units,

including any retrospective premium assessments and any

losses not covered by insurance.

17 Property, Plant and Equipment

Major classes of property, plant and equipment and their

respective balances are:

At December 31, 2002 2001

(millions)

Utility

Generation $ 8,497 $ 8,415
Transmission 3,283 3,165
Distribution 7,347 7,024
Storage 781 755
Plant under construction 972 585
Nuclear fuel 740 757
Gas gathering and processing 341 285
General 830 876

Total utility $22,791 $21,862

Nonutility

Exploration and production properties:

Proved $ 6,265 $ 4,707
Unproved 1,440 1,508
Merchant generation properties—nuclear 921 968
Nuclear fuel 146 107
Merchant generation properties—other 629 361
Other—including plant under construction 439 284

Total nonutility 9,840 7,935

Total property, plant and equipment $32,631 $29,797

Costs of unproved properties capitalized under the full cost

method of accounting that are excluded from amortization at

December 31, 2002, and the years in which such excluded costs

were incurred, follow:

Years 
Total 2002 2001 Prior

(millions)

Property acquisition costs $ 903 $103 $740 $60
Exploration costs 138 59 42 37
Capitalized interest 82 63 17 2

Total $1,123 $225 $799 $99

Amortization rates for capitalized costs under the full

cost method of accounting for Dominion’s United States and

Canadian cost centers were as follows:

Year Ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000

(Per mcf equivalent)

United States cost center $1.13 $1.13 $1.13
Canadian cost center 0.85 0.78 0.92
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Dominion’s proportionate share of jointly-owned utility

plants at December 31, 2002 follows:

Bath
County North

Pumped Anna Clover
Storage Power Power
Station Station Station

(millions, except percentages)

Ownership interest 60.0% 88.4% 50.0%
Plant in service $1,028 $1,861 $534
Accumulated depreciation 342 1,176 93
Nuclear fuel — 341 —
Accumulated amortization

of nuclear fuel — 309 —
Construction work in progress 4 82 12

The co-owners are obligated to pay their share of all future

construction expenditures and operating costs of the jointly-

owned facilities in the same proportions as their respective

ownership interest. Dominion reports its share of operating

costs in the appropriate expense category in the Consolidated

Statements of Income.

18 Goodwill and Intangible Assets

In 2001, FASB issued SFAS No. 142, which prohibits the amor-

tization of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful

lives. SFAS No. 142 also requires that these assets be reviewed

for impairment at least annually. Intangible assets with finite

lives will continue to be amortized over their estimated useful

lives and will be reviewed for impairment whenever events or

changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts

may not be recoverable.

Dominion adopted SFAS No. 142 on January 1, 2002 and

completed its transitional and annual goodwill impairment

tests during the second quarter of 2002, finding no instances

of impairment. The discontinuance of goodwill amortization

under SFAS No. 142 resulted in an increase in net income

of $95 million in 2002.

Had the provisions of SFAS No. 142 requiring the discon-

tinuance of goodwill amortization been applied for 2001 and

2000, Dominion’s net income and earnings per share would

have been as follows:

Basic Diluted
Earnings Earnings

Per Per
Year Ended Amount Share Share

(millions, except per share amounts)

2001
Reported net income $544 $2.17 $2.15

Add: Goodwill amortization 95 0.38 0.38

Adjusted net income $639 $2.55 $2.53

2000
As Reported:

Income before cumulative effect of a 

change in accounting principle $415 $1.76 $1.76
Net income $436 $1.85 $1.85

Add: Goodwill amortization 83 0.35 0.35

As Adjusted:

Income before cumulative effect of a 

change in accounting principle $498 $2.11 $2.11
Net income $519 $2.20 $2.20

In November 2002, a DCI subsidiary received an unfavor-

able arbitration ruling that affected its ability to recover dis-

puted amounts for past and future performance under a

contract with a major customer. Accordingly, Dominion per-

formed a goodwill impairment test, using discounted cash

flow analysis and recorded a goodwill impairment charge of

$13 million in the fourth quarter of 2002 related to the

DCI reporting unit.
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The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the year ended December 31, 2002, are as follows:

Dominion Dominion Dominion Corporate
Energy Delivery E&P and Other Total

(millions)

Balance at December 31, 2001 $1,975 $1,344 $858 $ 33 $4,210
Acquisition of Cove Point 75 — — — 75
DCI impairment loss — — — (13) (13)

Louis Dreyfus purchase accounting adjustment — — 24 — 24
Other 7 — (3) 1 5

Balance at December 31, 2002 $2,057 $1,344 $879 $ 21 $4,301
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All of Dominion’s intangible assets, other than goodwill,

are subject to amortization. Amortization expense for intangible

assets was $53 million, $44 million and $34 million for 2002,

2001 and 2000, respectively. There were no material acquisi-

tions of intangible assets during 2002. The components of

intangible assets at December 31, 2002 were as follows:

Gross
Carrying Accumulated
Amount Amortization

(millions)

Software and software licenses $464 $200
Other 68 19

Total $532 $219

Amortization expense for intangible assets is estimated to

be $56 million for 2003, $52 million for 2004, $46 million for

2005, $43 million for 2006 and $36 million for 2007.

19 Regulatory Assets and Liabilities

Regulatory assets represent probable future revenue associated

with certain costs that will be recovered from customers through

the ratemaking process. Regulatory liabilities represent probable

future reductions in revenues associated with amounts that are

to be credited to customers through the ratemaking process.

In 1999, Virginia enacted the Virginia Electric Utility

Restructuring Act (the Virginia Restructuring Act) that estab-

lished a detailed plan to restructure Virginia’s electric utility

industry. Under the Virginia Restructuring Act, the generation

portion of Dominion’s Virginia jurisdictional operations is no

longer subject to cost-based regulation, effective January 1,

2002. The legislation’s deregulation of generation was an event

that required the discontinuance of SFAS No. 71 for Dominion’s

generation operations in 1999.

Dominion’s regulatory assets and liabilities included the

following at December 31, 2002 and 2001:

At December 31, 2002 2001

(millions)

Unrecovered gas costs $ 32 $ 9
Regulatory assets, net:

Other postretirement benefit costs (1) 106 115
Income taxes recoverable through future rates (2) 203 179
Deferred cost of fuel used in electric generation 133 119
Cost of decommissioning DOE uranium

enrichment facilities (3) 34 42
Customer bad debts (4) 56 80
Other 48 39

Regulatory assets, net 580 574

Total regulatory assets $612 $583

Regulatory liabilities

Amounts payable to customers 13 91
Estimated rate contingencies and refunds (5) 21 43

Total regulatory liabilities $ 34 $134

(1) Costs recognized in excess of amounts included in regulated rates charged
by Dominion’s regulated gas operations before rates were updated to reflect
the new method of accounting and the cost related to the accrued benefit
obligation recognized as part of Dominion’s accounting for its acquisition
of CNG.

(2) Income taxes recoverable through future rates resulting from the
recognition of additional deferred income taxes, not previously recorded
because of past ratemaking practices.

(3) Cost of decommissioning the Department of Energy’s uranium enrichment
facilities, representing the unamortized portion of Dominion’s required
contributions. Beginning in 1992, Dominion began making contributions
over a 15-year period and collecting these costs in electric customers’
fuel rates.

(4) In 2001 the Public Utilities Commission of Ohio authorized the deferral
of costs associated with certain uncollectible customer accounts not
contemplated by current rates. Dominion expects recovery of such costs,
which will be included in Dominion’s next base rate case.

(5) Estimated rate contingencies and refunds are associated with certain
increases in prices by Dominion’s rate regulated utilities and other
ratemaking issues that are subject to final modification in regulatory
proceedings.

The incurred costs underlying regulatory assets may repre-

sent past expenditures by Dominion’s rate regulated electric and

gas operations or may represent the recognition of liabilities that

ultimately will be settled at some future time. At December 31,

2002, approximately $118 million of Dominion’s regulatory

assets represented past expenditures on which it does not earn a

return. These expenditures consist primarily of unrecovered gas

costs, customer bad debts and a portion of deferred fuel costs.

Unrecovered gas and deferred fuel costs are recovered within

two years; recovery of customer bad debts is expected to be

addressed in the next base rate case.
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20 Short-Term Debt and Credit Agreements

Joint Credit Facilities
In May 2002, Dominion, Virginia Power and CNG entered

into two joint credit facilities that allow aggregate borrowings of

up to $2 billion. The facilities include a $1.25 billion 364-day

revolving credit facility that terminates in May 2003 and a $750

million three-year revolving credit facility that terminates in

May 2005. The 364-day facility includes an option to extend

any borrowings for an additional period of one year to May

2004. These joint credit facilities are being used for working

capital, as support for the combined commercial paper pro-

grams of Dominion, Virginia Power and CNG and other gen-

eral corporate purposes. The three-year facility can also be used

to support up to $200 million of letters of credit. Dominion

expects to renew the 364-day revolving credit facility prior to its

maturity in May 2003.

At December 31, 2002, total outstanding commercial

paper supported by the joint credit facilities was $1.2 billion,

with a weighted average interest rate of 1.71 percent. At Decem-

ber 31, 2001, total outstanding commercial paper supported by

previous credit agreements was $1.9 billion, with a weighted

average interest rate of 2.72 percent.

At December 31, 2002, total outstanding letters of credit

supported by the three-year facility were $106 million. There

were no outstanding letters of credit at December 31, 2001.

CNG Credit Facility
In August 2002, CNG entered into a $500 million 364-day

revolving credit facility that terminates in August 2003. This

credit facility is being used to support CNG’s issuance of com-

mercial paper and letters of credit to provide collateral required

by counterparties to derivative financial contracts used by CNG

in its risk management strategies for its gas and oil production.

At December 31, 2002, outstanding letters of credit under this

facility totaled $500 million.

Cove Point Bridge Facility
In September 2002, Dominion financed its acquisition of

Cove Point with commercial paper supported by a $250

million 364-day revolving credit facility. This bridge facility

will expire in March 2003 and will not be renewed. See 

Note 5 for a discussion of the Cove Point acquisition.

21 Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consists of the following:

2002 
Weighted

Average
At December 31, Coupon(8) 2002 2001

(millions)

Dominion Resources, Inc.:

Senior and medium-term notes

Variable rates, due 2002 to 2003 2.49% $ 100 $ 350
3.875% to 8.125%, due 2003 to 2032 (1) 6.63% 4,920 3,250

Equity-linked senior notes, 

5.75% to 8.05%, due 2006 to 2008 7.03% 743 413
Consolidated Natural Gas Company:

Senior notes

5.375% to 7.375%, due 2003 to 2027 6.48% 3,150 3,150
6.875%, due 2026(2) 150 150

Senior subordinated debt, 9.25% due 2004 88 94
Virginia Electric and Power Company:

First and refunding mortgage bonds, 

6.0% to 8.625%, due 2002 to 2025 (3) 7.56% 1,666 2,121
Senior and medium-term notes

Variable rates, due 2002 to 2003 2.37% 120 340
5.375% to 9.60%, due 2002 to 2038 5.95% 1,785 1,195

Tax-exempt financings (4):

Variable rates, due 2008 to 2027 1.60% 197 489
3.15% to 5.875%, due 2007 to 2031 (5) 4.99% 402 110

Other Subsidiaries:

Medium-term notes, 5.72% to 6.1%, 

due 2005 to 2006 (6) 5.94% 199 117
Revolving lines of credit, variable rates, 

due 2002 to 2004 (6) 3.16% 163 241
Bank term note, variable rate, due 2002 675
Nonrecourse debt:

Variable rates, due 2004 to 2006 2.11% 40 40
7.0% to 12.5%, due 2002 to 2020 8.08% 342 353

14,065 13,088

Fair value hedge valuation (see Note 15) 75 43
Amounts due within one year (2,077) (1,309)

Unamortized discount and premium, net (7) (95) (25)

11,968 11,797

Notes payable—affiliates (see Note 30):

6.0%, due 2005 126 175
Variable rates, due 2006 14 192

140 367

Amounts due within one year (48) (45)

92 322

Total long-term debt $12,060 $12,119

(1) $250 million of the 7.82% remarketable notes due September 15, 2014 will
be either mandatorily purchased and remarketed by the remarketing agent
or mandatorily redeemed by Dominion on September 15, 2004.

(2) At the exercised option of holders, CNG will be required to purchase its
$150 million, 6.875% senior notes due October 15, 2026 at 100% of the
principal amount plus accrued interest on October 15, 2006.

Footnotes continued on next page.
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(3) Substantially all of Virginia Power’s property is subject to the lien of the
mortgage, securing its mortgage bonds. In 2002,Virginia Power redeemed
its $200 million, 6.75% mortgage bonds due February 1, 2007.Virginia
Power completed the redemption with part of the proceeds from the
issuance of $650 million, 5.375% senior notes due February 1, 2007.The
redemption included a direct exchange of senior notes for $117 million of
mortgage bonds.Virginia Power used the remaining proceeds of senior notes
to redeem the remaining $83 million of mortgage bonds and for general
corporate purposes including the repayment of other debt.

(4) Certain pollution control equipment at Virginia Power’s generating facilities
has been pledged to support these financings.

(5) In 2002,Virginia Power converted $292 million of its variable rate tax
exempt financings to fixed rates, ranging from 4.95% to 5.875%. Other
terms of the bonds remain the same.

(6) Includes an aggregate principal amount of CAD$335 million of securities
denominated in Canadian dollars and presented in US dollars, based on
exchange rates as of year-end.

(7) In 2002, Dominion redeemed $200 million of 7.40% remarketable senior
notes and $250 million of variable rate remarketable senior notes, both due
September 16, 2012. In a direct exchange, Dominion completed the
redemption by issuing $520 million, 5.70% senior notes due September 17,
2012.The principal amount of the senior notes was determined by an
exchange ratio that was based on the fair value of the remarketable senior
notes.The $63 million difference between the principal amounts of senior
notes issued and remarketable senior notes redeemed was recorded as a
debt discount.

(8) Represents weighted-average coupon rates for debt outstanding as of
December 31, 2002.

The scheduled principal payments of long-term debt at

December 31, 2002 were as follows (in millions):

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 Thereafter Total

$2,125 $1,290 $969 $1,675 $1,091 $7,055 $14,205

In December 2002, Dominion issued $600 million of

senior notes, of which $500 million of proceeds was deposited

into an escrow account solely for the purpose of being used to

repay approximately one half of the aggregate principal amount

of Dominion’s 2001 Series A 6.0 percent senior notes maturing

in January 2003.

Dominion’s short-term credit facilities and long-term debt

agreements contain customary covenants and default provi-

sions. As of December 2002, there were no events of default

under these covenants.

Equity—Linked Securities
In 2002 and 2000, Dominion issued equity-linked debt securi-

ties, consisting of stock purchase contracts and senior notes.

The stock purchase contracts obligate the holders to purchase

shares of Dominion common stock from Dominion by a settle-

ment date, two years prior to the senior notes’ maturity date.

The purchase price is $50 and the number of shares to be pur-

chased will be determined under a formula based upon the

average closing price of Dominion common stock near the set-

tlement date. The senior notes, or treasury securities in some

instances, are pledged as collateral to secure the purchase of

common stock under the related stock purchase contracts. The

holders may satisfy their obligations under the stock purchase

contracts by allowing the senior notes to be remarketed with

the proceeds being paid to Dominion as consideration for

the purchase of stock. Alternatively, holders may choose to

continue holding the senior notes and use other resources

as consideration for the purchase of stock under the stock

purchase contracts.

Dominion makes quarterly interest payments on the senior

notes and quarterly payments on the stock purchase contracts at

the rates described below. Dominion has recorded the present

value of the stock purchase contract payments as a liability, off-

set by a charge to common stock in shareholders’ equity. Interest

payments on the senior notes are recorded as interest expense

and stock purchase contract payments are charged against the

liability. Accretion of the stock purchase contract liability is

recorded as interest expense. In calculating diluted earnings

per share, Dominion applies the treasury stock method to the

equity-linked debt securities. These securities did not have a

significant effect on diluted earnings per share for 2002.

Under the terms of the stock purchase contracts,

Dominion will issue between 6.7 million and 8.1 million shares

of its common stock in November 2004 and between 4.1 mil-

lion and 5.5 million shares of its common stock in May 2006.

A total of 13.6 million shares of Dominion common stock

has been reserved for issuance in connection with the stock

purchase contracts.

Selected information about Dominion’s equity-linked debt

securities is presented below:
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Senior Stock
Total Notes Purchase

Long- Annual Contract Total Maturity
Date of Units Total Net term Interest Annual Equity Stock Purchase of Senior
Issuance Issued Proceeds Debt Rate Rate Charge Settlement Date Notes

(millions, except percentages)

2000 8.3 $400.1 $412.5 8.05% 1.45% $20.7 11/04 11/06

2002 6.6 $320.1 $330.0 5.75% 3.00% $36.3 5/06 5/08



22 Company Obligated Mandatorily
Redeemable Preferred Securities of
Subsidiary Trusts

From 1997 through 2002, Dominion established five subsidiary

capital trusts that sold trust preferred securities that represented

preferred beneficial interests and 97 percent beneficial owner-

ship in the assets held by the capital trusts. In exchange for the

funds realized from the sale of the trust preferred securities

and common securities that represent the remaining 3 percent

beneficial ownership interest in the assets held by the capital

trust, Dominion issued various junior subordinated debt instru-

ments. The junior subordinated debt instruments constitute

100 percent of each capital trust’s assets. The trust must redeem

the trust preferred securities when the junior subordinated

notes are repaid at maturity or if redeemed prior to maturity.

The following table provides summary information about

the capital trusts and junior subordinated debt instruments

outstanding as of December 31, 2002:
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In 2002, Virginia Power redeemed $139 million of junior

subordinated debt instruments held by Virginia Power Capital

Trust I. The trust redeemed all outstanding trust preferred secu-

rities for $135 million and redeemed $4 million of its common

securities held by Virginia Power.

Distribution payments on the trust preferred securities are

guaranteed by the respective company that issued the debt

instruments held by each trust, but only to the extent that the

trusts have funds legally and immediately available to make dis-

tributions. The trust’s ability to pay amounts when they are due

on the trust preferred securities is solely dependent upon the

payment of amounts by Dominion, Virginia Power or CNG

when they are due on the junior subordinated debt instruments.

If the payment on the junior subordinated notes is deferred, the

company that issued them may not make distributions related

to its capital stock, including dividends, redemptions, repur-

chases, liquidation payments or guarantee payments. Also,

during the deferral period, it may not make any payments or

redeem or repurchase any debt securities that are equal in right

of payment with, or subordinated to, the junior subordinated

debt instruments.

23 Preferred Stock

Dominion is authorized to issue up to 20 million shares of pre-

ferred stock. Dominion issued 665,000 shares of Series A

mandatorily convertible preferred stock, liquidation preference

$1,000 per share, to Piedmont Share Trust (Piedmont Trust) in

connection with the formation of DFV and the issuance of

senior notes by DFV. Dominion is the beneficial owner of the

Piedmont Trust which is consolidated in the preparation of

Dominion’s Consolidated Financial Statements, thus eliminat-

ing these outstanding shares of preferred stock. See Note 30.

Virginia Power is authorized to issue up to 10 million shares

of preferred stock, $100 liquidation preference. Upon involun-

tary liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of Virginia Power,

each share is entitled to receive $100 per share plus accrued

dividends. Dividends are cumulative.

Holders of the outstanding preferred stock of Virginia

Power are not entitled to voting rights except under certain pro-

visions of the amended and restated articles of incorporation

and related provisions of Virginia law restricting corporate

action, or upon default in dividends, or in special statutory

proceedings and as required by Virginia law (such as mergers,

consolidations, sales of assets, dissolution and changes in voting

rights or priorities of preferred stock).

Trust
Preferred Common

Date Securities Securities
Established Capital Trusts Units Rate Amount Amount

(thousands) (millions)

December, 1997 Dominion Resources Capital Trust I(1) 250 7.83% $ 250 $ 8
January, 2001 Dominion Resources Capital Trust II(2) 12,000 8.4% 300 9
January, 2001 Dominion Resources Capital Trust III(3) 250 8.4% 250 8
October, 2001 Dominion CNG Capital Trust I(4) 8,000 7.8% 200 6
August, 2002 Virginia Power Capital Trust II(5) 16,000 7.375% 400 12

1,400
Unamortized discount (3)

Total at December 31, 2002 $1,397

Junior subordinated notes/debentures held as assets by each capital trust were as follows:
(1) $258 million—Dominion Resources, Inc. 7.83% Debentures due 12/1/2027.
(2) $309 million—Dominion Resources, Inc. 8.4% Debentures due 1/30/2041.
(3) $258 million—Dominion Resources, Inc. 8.4% Debentures due 1/15/2031.
(4) $206 million—CNG 7.8% Debentures due 10/31/2041.
(5) $412 million—Virginia Power 7.375% Debentures due 7/30/2042.
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In 2002, Virginia Power purchased and redeemed, at par,

all shares of its variable rate preferred stock October 1988 Series,

June 1989 Series, September 1992A Series and September

1992B Series for $250 million, at the redemption price of $100

per share. The dividend rates for these series were variable and

set every 49 days via an auction process. The combined

weighted average rates for all series outstanding during 2002,

2001 and 2000, including fees for broker/dealer agreements,

were 4.00 percent, 4.32 percent and 5.71 percent, respectively.

In 2002, Virginia Power issued 1,250 units consisting of

1,000 shares per unit of cumulative preferred stock for $125 mil-

lion. The preferred stock has a dividend rate of 5.50 percent

until the end of the initial dividend period on December 20,

2007. The dividend rate for subsequent periods will be deter-

mined according to periodic auctions. The preferred stock has a

liquidation preference of $100 per share plus accumulated and

unpaid dividends. Except during the initial dividend period,

and any non-call period, the preferred stock will be redeemable,

in whole or in part, on any dividend payment date at the option

of Virginia Power. Virginia Power may also redeem the preferred

stock, in whole but not in part, if certain changes are made to

federal tax law which reduce the dividends received percentage.

Presented below are the series of Virginia Power preferred

stock not subject to mandatory redemption that were outstand-

ing as of December 31, 2002.

Issued and Entitled Per
Outstanding Share Upon

Dividend Shares Liquidation

(thousands)

$5.00 107 $112.50
4.04 13 102.27
4.20 15 102.50
4.12 32 103.73
4.80 73 101.00
7.05 500 105.00(1)

6.98 600 105.00(2)

Flex MMP 12/02, Series A 1,250 100.00

Total 2,590

(1) Through 7/31/03; $103.53 commencing 8/1/03; amounts decline in steps
thereafter to $100.00.

(2) Through 8/31/03; $103.49 commencing 9/1/03; amounts decline in steps
thereafter to $100.00.

24 Shareholders’ Equity

Issuance of Common Stock
During 2002, Dominion issued 44 million shares of common

stock and received proceeds of $2.0 billion. This included the

issuance of approximately 38 million shares and receipt of pro-

ceeds of approximately $1.7 billion through two public equity

offerings. Net proceeds were used for general corporate pur-

poses, principally repayment of debt. The remainder of the

shares issued and proceeds received in 2002 occurred through

Dominion Direct® (a dividend reinvestment and open enroll-

ment direct stock purchase plan), employee savings plans and

the exercise of employee stock options.

Repurchases of Common Stock
Dominion is authorized by its Board of Directors to repurchase

up to $650 million of Dominion common stock outstanding.

As of December 31, 2002, Dominion had repurchased approxi-

mately 12 million shares for $537 million. During 2002,

Dominion repurchased 1 million shares for approximately

$66 million, primarily using proceeds received from the exercise

of employee stock options.

Immediately before the CNG merger in January 2000,

Dominion concluded a first step transaction in which 33 mil-

lion shares of Dominion common stock were exchanged for

approximately $1.4 billion. Dominion also repurchased approxi-

mately 3.2 million shares of stock in 2000 through a total return

swap facility at a cost of approximately $145 million. These

transactions were independent of the general repurchase

authority described above.

Shares Reserved for Issuance
At December 31, 2002, a total of 59 million shares was reserved

and available for issuance pursuant to Dominion Direct,® vari-

ous employee and director stock award and savings plans, stock

purchase contracts associated with equity-linked debt securities

and Dominion’s Series A Mandatorily Convertible Preferred

Stock. See Notes 23 and 30 for a discussion of Dominion’s

issuance of 665,000 shares of Series A Mandatorily Convertible

Preferred Stock, liquidation preference $1,000 per share to

Piedmont Share Trust.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
Presented in the table below is a summary of accumulated other

comprehensive income by component:

At December 31, 2002 2001

(millions)

Net unrealized gains (losses) on derivatives $(356) $315
Net unrealized losses on investment securities (72) (4)
Minimum pension liability adjustment (14) (12)
Foreign currency translation adjustments (4) (10)

Total accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) $(446) $289
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Stock-Based Awards
The adjacent table provides a summary of changes in amounts

of Dominion stock options outstanding as of and for the years

ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000. Generally, the exer-

cise price of Dominion employee stock options equals the mar-

ket price of Dominion common stock on the date of grant.

The fair value of the options was estimated on the dates of

grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the

following weighed-average assumptions for 2002, 2001 and

2000, respectively: expected dividend yield of 4.17 percent, 4.22

percent and 5.22 percent; expected volatility of 22.67 percent,

22.19 percent and 21.54 percent; contractual life of 10 years (all

periods); risk free interest rate of 4.38 percent, 5.15 percent and

5.18 percent; and expected lives of six years (all periods).

Weighted-
average Weighted-

Stock Exercise average 
Options Price Fair Value

(thousands)

Outstanding at January 1, 2000 7,147 $41.37
Granted—2000 5,389 $43.87 $6.86
Exercised, cancelled and forfeited (2,205) $40.07

Outstanding at December 31, 2000 10,331 $41.77

Exercisable at December 31, 2000 6,967 $41.51

Granted—2001(1)

Exercise price < market price 

on grant date 480 $33.21 $23.69
Exercise price = market price 

on grant date 11,471 $61.20 $11.24
Exercise price > market price 

on grant date 194 $62.27 $ 9.43
Exercised, cancelled and forfeited (1,484) $41.23

Outstanding at December 31, 2001 20,992 $52.90

Exercisable at December 31, 2001 7,955 $42.68

Granted—2002 3,122 $62.28 $10.91
Exercised, cancelled and forfeited (3,057) $44.54

Outstanding at December 31, 2002 21,057 $55.49

Exercisable at December 31, 2002 8,586 $47.95

(1) In connection with the acquisition of Louis Dreyfus, employee stock
options of Louis Dreyfus were converted into employee stock options of
Dominion. Based on the conversion formula, certain converted stock
options had exercise prices that either exceeded or were less than the market
price of Dominion common stock on the date of grant.The fair value of all
converted stock options was included in the purchase price of Louis Dreyfus.
See Note 5.
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The following table provides certain information about stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2002:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted-average 
Shares Remaining Weighted-average Shares Weighted-average 

Exercise Price Outstanding Contractual Life Exercise Price Exercisable Exercise Price
(thousands) (years) (thousands)

$ 0-$19.99 2 6.0 $19.10 2 $19.10
$20-$30.99 53 5.8 $25.00 53 $25.00
$31-$40.99 75 7.0 $39.25 75 $39.25
$41-$50.99 6,782 6.6 $43.02 5,905 $42.26
$51-$60.99 9,411 6.1 $59.88 1,673 $59.76
$61-$69 4,734 8.4 $65.24 878 $65.94

Total 21,057 6.8 $55.49 8,586 $47.95

During 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively, Dominion

granted approximately 14,000 shares, 341,000 shares and

171,000 shares of restricted stock with weighted-average fair

values of $60.62, $63.49 and $41.88.
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25 Dividend Restrictions

The 1935 Act and related regulations issued by the SEC impose

restrictions on the transfer and receipt of funds by a registered

holding company from its subsidiaries, including a general

prohibition against loans or advances being made by the sub-

sidiaries to benefit the registered holding company. Under the

1935 Act, registered holding companies and their subsidiaries

may pay dividends only from retained earnings, unless the SEC

specifically authorizes payments from other capital accounts.

Dominion received dividends from its subsidiaries of $945 mil-

lion, $806 million and $1.3 billion in 2002, 2001 and 2000,

respectively. At December 31, 2002, Dominion’s consolidated

subsidiaries had approximately $8.4 billion in capital accounts

other than retained earnings, representing capital stock, addi-

tional paid in capital and accumulated other comprehensive

income. Dominion Resources, Inc. had approximately $8.7

billion in capital accounts other than retained earnings at

December 31, 2002. Generally, such amounts are not available

for the payment of dividends by affected subsidiaries, or by

Dominion itself, without specific authorization by the SEC. In

response to a Dominion request, the SEC granted relief in

2000, authorizing payment of dividends by CNG from other

capital accounts to Dominion in amounts up to $1.6 billion,

representing CNG’s retained earnings prior to Dominion’s

acquisition of CNG. Furthermore, Dominion has submitted a

similar request to the SEC in 2002, seeking relief from this

restriction in regard to its subsidiary, into which Louis Dreyfus

was merged. The application requests relief up to approximately

$303 million, representing Louis Dreyfus’ retained earnings

prior to Dominion’s acquisition of Louis Dreyfus. Dominion’s

ability to pay dividends on its common stock at declared rates

was not impacted by the restrictions discussed above during

2002, 2001 and 2000.

The Virginia Commission may prohibit any public service

company, including Virginia Power, from declaring or paying a

dividend to an affiliate, if found not to be in the public interest.

At December 31, 2002, the Virginia Commission had not

restricted the payment of dividends by Virginia Power.

Certain agreements associated with Dominion’s credit

facilities contain restrictions on the ratio of debt to total capital-

ization. These limitations did not restrict Dominion’s ability

to pay dividends or receive dividends from its subsidiaries at

December 31, 2002.

See Note 22 for a description of potential restrictions on

dividend payments by Dominion and certain subsidiaries in

connection with the deferral of distribution payments on trust

preferred securities.

26 Employee Benefit Plans

Dominion and its subsidiaries provide certain benefits to eligible

active employees, retirees and qualifying dependents. Under the

terms of its benefit plans, Dominion and its subsidiaries reserve

the right to change, modify or terminate the plans. From time

to time in the past, benefits have changed, and some of these

changes have reduced benefits.

Dominion maintains qualified noncontributory defined

benefit retirement plans covering virtually all employees. Retire-

ment benefits are based primarily on years of service, age and

compensation. Dominion’s funding policy is to generally con-

tribute annually an amount that is in accordance with the provi-

sions of the Employment Retirement Income Security Act of

1974. The pension program also provides benefits to certain

retired executives under company-sponsored nonqualified

employee benefit plans. Certain of these nonqualified plans

are funded through contributions to a grantor trust.

Dominion provides retiree health care and life insurance

benefits with annual premiums based on several factors such as

age, retirement date and years of service.

In 2001, Dominion eliminated certain senior management

positions. Dominion paid these individuals special termination

benefits and accelerated the payment of benefits under

Dominion’s nonqualified pension plans. Dominion recognized

special termination benefits expense of $15 million, a loss of

$7 million related to the settlement of the related non-qualified

pension obligation and a curtailment loss of $2 million.

In 2000, Dominion offered an early retirement program

(ERP). The ERP provided up to three additional years of age

and three additional years of employee service for benefit for-

mula purposes, subject to age and service maximums under

Dominion and its subsidiaries’ postretirement medical and pen-

sion plans. Certain employees who satisfied certain minimum

age and years of service requirements were eligible under the

ERP. The effect of the ERP on Dominion’s pension and postre-

tirement benefit expenses was $81 million and $33 million,

respectively. These expenses were offset, in part, by curtailment

gains of approximately $20 million and $6 million from

pension plans and other postretirement benefit plans, respec-

tively, attributable to reductions in expected future years of

service as a result of ERP participation and involuntary

employee terminations.
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In addition, effective January 1, 2000, Dominion adopted a

change in the method of calculating the market-related value of

pension plan assets. The change was reported as a change in

accounting principle. See Note 3.

The following tables summarize the changes in Dominion’s

pension and other postretirement benefit plan obligations and

plan assets and a statement of the plans’ funded status:
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Pension Benefits Other Postretirement Benefits

(millions) Year Ended December 31, 2002 2001 2002 2001

Expected benefit obligation at beginning of year $2,593 $2,304 $ 996 $ 799
Acquired businesses 1 66 3 21

Actual benefit obligation at beginning of year 2,594 2,370 999 820
Service cost 77 71 44 39
Interest cost 177 173 68 63
Benefits paid (148) (153) (58) (51)
Actuarial loss during the year 89 114 84 107
Change in benefit obligation — (5) — —
Special termination benefits — 15 — —
Plan amendments 12 8 (18) 18

Expected benefit obligation at end of year 2,801 2,593 1,119 996

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 3,352 3,557 446 417
Actual return on plan assets (241) (91) (31) (11)
Contributions 111 39 60 65
Benefits paid from plan assets (148) (153) (32) (25)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year 3,074 3,352 443 446

Funded status 273 759 (676) (550)

Unrecognized net actuarial loss 1,374 698 308 164
Unrecognized prior service cost 14 3 4 11
Unrecognized net transition (asset) obligation (1) (5) 93 115

Prepaid (accrued) benefit cost $1,660 $1,455 $ (271) $(260)

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets at December 31:

Prepaid pension cost $1,710 $1,511 — —
Accrued benefit liability (84) (89) $ (271) $(260)
Intangible asset 10 12 — —
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 24 21 — —

Net amount recognized $1,660 $1,455 $ (271) $(260)

Dominion has nonqualified pension and supplemental

pension plans which do not have “plan assets” as defined by

generally accepted accounting principles. The total projected

benefit obligation for these plans was $97 million and $103 mil-

lion at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, and is

included in the table above. The total accumulated benefit

obligation for these plans was $88 million and $94 million at

December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The additional

minimum liability recognized relating to these plans was

$34 million and $33 million at December 31, 2002 and

2001, respectively.
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The components of the provision for net periodic benefit

cost were as follows:

Year Ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000

(millions)

Pension Benefits

Service cost $ 77 $ 71 $ 65
Interest cost 177 173 161
Expected return on plan assets (349) (331) (298)
Recognized loss 2 3 6
Amortization of prior service cost 1 2 3
Amortization of transition obligation (4) (4) (4)
Curtailment gains — — (20)
ERP benefit costs — — 81
Settlement loss — 7 —
Special termination benefits — 15 —
Curtailment loss — 2 —

Net periodic benefit credit $ (96) $ (62) $ (6)

Other Postretirement Benefits

Service cost $ 44 $ 40 $ 30
Interest cost 68 63 52
Expected return on plan assets (34) (32) (31)
Amortization of prior service cost 1 (1) —
Amortization of transition obligation 11 10 13
Amortization of unrecognized net loss 5 — —
Curtailment gains — — (6)
ERP benefit costs — — 33
Net amortization and deferral — — (2)

Net periodic benefit cost $ 95 $ 80 $ 89

Significant assumptions used in determining net periodic

cost, the projected benefit obligation and postretirement benefit

obligations were:

Other
Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits

2002 2001 2002 2001

Discount rates 6.75% 7.25% 6.75% 7.25%
Expected return on 

plan assets(1) 9.50% 9.50% 7.82% 7.88%
Rate of increase for 

compensation 4.70% 4.60% 4.70% 4.60%
Medical cost trend rate 9.00% 9.00%

Decreasing to 
4.75% in 2007 

and years 
thereafter

(1) Dominion has adopted 8.75 percent for pension benefits in 2003.

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant

effect on the amounts reported for the health care plans. A one-

percentage-point change in assumed health care cost trend rates

would have the following effects:

Other Postretirement Benefits

One percentage One percentage
point increase point decrease

(millions)

Effect on total service and interest 

cost components for 2002 $ 18 $ (14)
Effect on postretirement benefit 

obligation at December 31, 2002 $147 $(119)

In addition, Dominion sponsors defined contribution

thrift-type savings plans. During 2002, 2001 and 2000,

Dominion recognized $26 million, $27 million and $30 mil-

lion, respectively, as contributions to these plans.

Certain regulatory authorities have held that amounts

recovered in utility customers’ rates for other postretirement

benefits, in excess of benefits actually paid during the year, must

be deposited in trust funds dedicated for the sole purpose of

paying such benefits. Accordingly, certain subsidiaries fund

postretirement benefit costs through Voluntary Employees’

Beneficiary Associations. The remaining subsidiaries do not

prefund postretirement benefit costs but instead pay claims

as presented.

27 Commitments and Contingencies

As the result of issues generated in the ordinary course of busi-

ness, Dominion and its subsidiaries are involved in legal, tax and

regulatory proceedings before various courts, regulatory com-

missions and governmental agencies, some of which involve sub-

stantial amounts of money. Management believes that the final

disposition of these proceedings will not have a material adverse

effect on its financial position, liquidity or results of operations.

Cash Requirements for Planned Capital Expenditures
Dominion has made substantial commitments in connection

with its capital expenditures program. Cash requirements for

those expenditures are estimated to total approximately $2.4

billion, $2.2 billion and $2.1 for 2003, 2004 and 2005 respec-

tively. Purchases of nuclear fuel are included in Fuel Purchase
Commitments below. Dominion expects that these expenditures

will be met through a combination of sales of securities and

short-term borrowings to the extent not funded by cash flows

from operations.
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Power Purchase Contracts
Dominion has entered into contracts for long-term purchases

of capacity and energy from other utilities, qualifying facilities

and independent power producers. As of December 31, 2002,

Dominion had 42 non-utility purchase contracts with a com-

bined dependable summer capacity of 3,758 megawatts. The

table below reflects Dominion’s minimum commitments as of

December 31, 2002 under these contracts.

Commitment

Capacity Other

(millions)

2003 $ 643 $ 44
2004 635 29
2005 629 22
2006 614 18
2007 589 11
Later years 5,259 113

Total 8,369 237

Present value of the total $4,836 $140

Capacity and other purchases under these contracts totaled

$691 million, $680 million and $740 million for 2002, 2001

and 2000, respectively.

In 2001, Dominion completed the purchase of three gener-

ating facilities and the termination of seven long-term power

purchase contracts with non-utility generators. Dominion

recorded an after-tax charge of $136 million in connection with

the purchase and termination of long-term power purchase

contracts. Cash payments related to the purchase of three gener-

ating facilities totaled $207 million. The allocation of the pur-

chase price was assigned to the assets and liabilities acquired

based upon estimated fair values as of the date of acquisition.

Substantially all of the value was attributed to the power pur-

chase contracts which were terminated and resulted in a charge

included in operation and maintenance expense.

Fuel Purchase Commitments
Dominion enters into long-term purchase commitments for fuel

used in electric generation and natural gas for purposes other

than trading. Estimated payments under these commitments

for the next five years are as follows: 2003—$599 million;

2004—$311 million; 2005—$253 million; 2006—$205 mil-

lion; 2007—$89 million; and years beyond 2007—$215 mil-

lion. These purchase commitments include those required for

regulated operations. Dominion recovers the costs of those pur-

chases through regulated rates. The natural gas purchase com-

mitments of Dominion’s field services operations are also

included, net of related sales commitments. In addition,

Dominion has committed to purchase certain volumes of nat-

ural gas at market index prices determined in the period the

natural gas is delivered. These transactions have been designated

as normal purchases and sales under SFAS No. 133.

Natural Gas Pipeline and Storage Capacity Commitments
Dominion enters into long-term commitments for the purchase

of natural gas pipeline and storage capacity for purposes other

than trading. Estimated payments under these commitments

for the next five years are as follows: 2003—$34 million;

2004—$23 million; 2005—$13 million. There were no signifi-

cant commitments beyond 2005.

Production Handling and Firm Transportation Commitments
In connection with its gas and oil production operations,

Dominion has entered into certain transportation and produc-

tion handling agreements with minimum commitments

expected to be paid in the following years: 2003—$23 million;

2004—$57 million; 2005—$56 million; 2006—$53 million;

2007—$44 million; and years after 2007—$68 million.

Lease Commitments
Dominion leases various facilities, vehicles, aircraft and equip-

ment under both operating and capital leases. Future minimum

lease payments under operating and capital leases that have

initial or remaining lease terms in excess of one year as of

December 31, 2002 are as follows: 2003—$94 million; 2004—

$94 million; 2005—$82 million; 2006—$67 million; 2007—

$62 million; and years beyond 2007—$79 million. Rental

expense included in other operations and maintenance expense

was $84 million, $75 million and $107 million for 2002, 2001,

and 2000, respectively.

As of December 31, 2002, Dominion, through certain sub-

sidiaries, has entered into agreements with special purpose enti-

ties (lessors) in order to finance and lease several new power

generation projects, as well as its corporate headquarters and air-

craft. The lessors have an aggregate financing commitment from

equity and debt investors of $2.2 billion, of which $1.6 billion

has been used for total project costs to date. Dominion, in its

role as construction agent for the lessors, is responsible for com-

pleting construction by a specified date. In the event a project

is terminated before completion, Dominion has the option to

either purchase the project for 100 percent of project costs or

terminate the project and make a payment to the lessor of

approximately but no more than 89.9 percent of project costs.

Upon completion of each individual project, Dominion has use

of the project assets subject to an operating lease. Dominion’s

lease payments to the lessors are sufficient to provide a return to

the investors. At the end of each individual project’s lease term,

Dominion may renew the lease at negotiated amounts based on

project costs and current market conditions, subject to investors’

approval; purchase the project at its original construction cost;

or sell the project, on behalf of the lessor, to an independent

third party. If the project is sold and the proceeds from the

sale are insufficient to repay the investors, Dominion may be

required to make a payment to the lessor up to an amount rang-

ing from 81 percent to 85 percent of the project cost depending
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on the individual project and applicable agreement. Dominion

has guaranteed a portion of the obligations of its subsidiaries to

the lessors during the construction and post-construction peri-

ods. Neither the guarantees nor the underlying transaction doc-

uments contain any type of credit rating or stock price trigger

events. Total project costs at December 31, 2002 included

approximately $288 million of costs advanced by Dominion

that will be reimbursed by the lessor during the second quarter

of 2003.

The projects are accounted for as operating leases for finan-

cial accounting purposes. Accordingly, neither the project assets

nor related obligations are reported on Dominion’s Consolidated

Balance Sheets.

In February 2003, pursuant to the terms of its lease agree-

ment, Dominion purchased the electric generation facility

under construction in Dresden, Ohio for $266 million. This

amount was included in total project costs of $1.6 billion as of

December 31, 2002. Dominion expects to complete construc-

tion in 2005 at an estimated cost of $350 million.

The future minimum lease payments described above

include annual minimum lease payments under these leases for

assets currently in use total approximately $38 million. Projects

being developed under leasing arrangements are scheduled for

completion in 2003 and 2004. Annual lease payments for these

projects are estimated to be $7 million for 2003 and $79 million

by 2005. See Note 4.

Energy Trading
Subsidiaries of Dominion enter into purchases and sales of com-

modity-based contracts in the energy-related markets, including

natural gas, electricity and oil. These agreements may cover cur-

rent and future periods. The volume of these transactions varies

from day to day, based on market conditions. See Note 15 for a

discussion of Dominion’s energy trading activities and risk

management policies.

Environmental Matters
Dominion is subject to costs resulting from a steadily increasing

number of federal, state and local laws and regulations designed

to protect human health and the environment. These laws and

regulations can result in increased capital, operating and other

costs as a result of compliance, remediation, containment and

monitoring obligations.

Historically, Dominion recovered such costs arising from

regulated electric operations through utility rates. However,

to the extent environmental costs are incurred in connection

with operations regulated by the Virginia State Corporation

Commission during the period ending June 30, 2007, in

excess of the level currently included in Virginia jurisdictional

rates, Dominion’s results of operations will decrease. After

that date, Dominion may seek recovery through rates of only

those environmental costs related to transmission and

distribution operations.

Superfund Sites—In 1987, the Environmental Protection

Agency (EPA) identified Dominion and a number of other enti-

ties as Potentially Responsible Parties (PRPs) at two Superfund

sites located in Kentucky and Pennsylvania. Current cost stud-

ies estimate total remediation costs for the sites to range from

$98 million to $152 million. Dominion’s proportionate share

of the total cost is expected to be in the range of $2 million to

$3 million, based on allocation formulas and the volume of

waste shipped to the sites. The majority of remediation activities

at the Kentucky site are complete and remediation design is

ongoing for the Pennsylvania site. Dominion has accrued a

reserve of $2 million to meet its obligations at these two sites.

Although each PRP can be held jointly, severally and strictly

liable for all costs, Dominion has determined that it is probable

that the PRPs will fully pay their share of the costs based on

a financial assessment of the PRPs involved at these sites.

Dominion generally seeks to recover its costs associated with

environmental remediation from third party insurers. At

December 31, 2002, any pending or possible claims were not

recognized as an asset or offset against such obligations.

Other EPA Matters—During 2000, Virginia Power received

a Notice of Violation from the EPA, alleging that Virginia

Power failed to obtain New Source Review permits under the

Clean Air Act prior to undertaking specified construction pro-

jects at the Mt. Storm Power Station in West Virginia. The

Attorney General of New York filed a suit against Virginia Power

alleging similar violations of the Clean Air Act at the Mt. Storm

Power Station. Virginia Power also received notices from the

Attorneys General of Connecticut and New Jersey of their

intentions to file suit for similar violations. In December 2002,

the Attorney General of Connecticut filed a motion to intervene

as a plaintiff in the action filed by the New York State Attorney

General. This action has been stayed. Management believes that

Virginia Power has obtained the necessary permits for its gener-

ating facilities. Virginia Power has reached an agreement in

principle with the federal government and the state of New York

to resolve this situation. The agreement in principle includes

payment of a $5 million civil penalty, a commitment of $14 mil-

lion for environmental projects in Virginia, West Virginia, Con-

necticut, New Jersey and New York and a 12-year, $1.2 billion

capital investment program for environmental improvements at

the Company’s coal-fired generating stations in Virginia and

West Virginia. Virginia Power had already committed to a sub-

stantial portion of the $1.2 billion expenditures for sulfur diox-

ide and nitrogen oxide emissions controls. The negotiations over

the terms of a binding settlement have expanded beyond the

basic agreement in principle and are ongoing. As of December

31, 2002, Virginia Power has recorded, on a discounted basis,

$18 million for the civil penalty and environmental projects.
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In 2002, EPA issued a Section 114 request for informa-

tion about whether projects undertaken at Virginia Power’s

Chesterfield, Chesapeake, Yorktown, Possum Point and

Bremo Bluff power stations were properly permitted under

the Clean Air Act’s New Source Review requirements, to

which Virginia Power responded in a timely manner.

In 2002, the EPA issued a Section 114 request for informa-

tion about whether Morgantown Energy Associates’ (MEA)

facility in Morgantown, West Virginia is in compliance with

environmental requirements. EPA made a site visit and at that

time received the requested information. In September 2002,

MEA received a copy of EPA’s inspection report summarizing

the facts surrounding the visit. MEA is prepared to resolve fol-

low-up questions from EPA. MEA is a 50 percent-owned invest-

ment accounted for by Dominion under the equity method.

Other—Before being acquired by Dominion, Louis Dreyfus

was one of numerous defendants in several lawsuits pending in

the Texas 93rd Judicial District Court in Hildago County,

Texas. The lawsuit alleges that gas wells and related pipeline

facilities operated by Louis Dreyfus and facilities operated by

other defendants caused an underground hydrocarbon plume in

McAllen, Texas. The plaintiffs claim that they have suffered

damages, including property damage and lost profits, as a result

of the plume. Although the results of litigation are inherently

unpredictable, Dominion does not expect the ultimate outcome

of the case to have a material adverse impact on its results of

operations, cash flows or financial position.

Spent Nuclear Fuel
Under provisions of the Nuclear Waste Policy Act of 1982,

Dominion has entered into contracts with the DOE for the dis-

posal of spent nuclear fuel. The DOE failed to begin accepting

the spent nuclear fuel on January 31, 1998, the date provided by

the Nuclear Waste Policy Act and by Dominion’s contract with

the DOE. Dominion will continue to safely manage its spent

fuel until accepted by the DOE.

Retrospective Premium Assessments
Under several of Dominion’s nuclear insurance policies,

Dominion is subject to retrospective premium assessments in

any policy year in which losses exceed the funds available to

these insurance companies. For additional information, see

Note 16.

Guarantees, Letters of Credit and Surety Bonds
As discussed in Note 4, FIN No. 45 requires disclosures related

to the issuance of certain types of guarantees, beginning with

financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2002. For

purposes of consolidated financial statements, guarantees issued

by a parent on behalf of its consolidated subsidiary, guarantees

issued by a consolidated subsidiary on behalf of its parent or

guarantees issued by a consolidated subsidiary on behalf of a

sister consolidated subsidiary are not subject to the FIN No. 45’s

disclosure requirements.

Nevertheless, Dominion is providing the following infor-

mation about the guarantees that it and certain of its sub-

sidiaries may issue in the ordinary course of business to provide

financial or performance assurance to third parties on behalf of

certain subsidiaries. These agreements include guarantees,

stand-by letters of credit and surety bonds. The amounts subject

to certain of these agreements vary depending on the covered

contracts actually outstanding at any particular point in time.

Guarantees and stand-by letters of credit are used, when neces-

sary, to support or enhance a subsidiary’s stand-alone creditwor-

thiness. Accordingly, Dominion and certain subsidiaries have

entered into guarantees and stand-by letters of credit so that

third parties would be willing to enter into contracts with the

subsidiaries and to extend sufficient credit to facilitate the sub-

sidiaries’ accomplishment of intended commercial purposes. In

such instances, guarantees may be used to limit exposures

resulting from subsidiary business activities to pre-defined

amounts. While the majority of these guarantees do not have a

termination date, Dominion may choose at any time to limit

the applicability of such guarantees to future transactions.

To the extent a liability subject to a guarantee has been

incurred by a consolidated subsidiary, that liability is included

in Dominion’s Consolidated Financial Statements. Dominion

believes it unlikely that it would be required to perform or

otherwise incur any losses associated with guarantees of its

subsidiaries’ obligations. On behalf of consolidated subsidiaries,

as of December 31, 2002, Dominion and its subsidiaries had

issued $5.2 billion of guarantees; purchased $117 million of

surety bonds; and authorized the issuance of standby letters of

credit by financial institutions of $606 million.

Only in those limited instances where Dominion or

certain subsidiaries enter into a guarantee on behalf of a party

that is not consolidated in the preparation of Dominion’s

Consolidated Financial Statements would performance under

the agreement result in the recognition of additional liabilities

in Dominion’s Consolidated Financial Statements. As of

December 31, 2002, Dominion has guaranteed $70 million

related to officers’ borrowings under executive stock loan pro-

grams, for which individual officers are personally liable for

repayment. Substantially all of this guarantee is scheduled to

expire in 2005.

Dominion has also guaranteed $32 million for obligations

of certain equity method investments—Dominion Telecom,

Inc., MEA and Elwood Energy.

Indemnifications
In addition, as part of commercial contract negotiations in the

normal course of business, Dominion may sometimes agree to

make payments to compensate or indemnify other parties for

possible future unfavorable financial consequences resulting
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from specified events. The specified events may involve an

adverse judgment in a lawsuit or the imposition of additional

taxes due to a change in tax law or interpretation of the tax law.

Dominion is unable to develop an estimate of the maximum

potential amount of future payments under these contracts

because events that would obligate Dominion have not yet

occurred or, if any such event has occurred, Dominion has not

been notified of its occurrence. However, at December 31,

2002, management believes future payments, if any, that could

ultimately become payable under these contract provisions,

would not have a material impact on its results of operations,

cash flows or financial position.

Stranded Costs
Under the Virginia Restructuring Act, the generation portion

of Dominion’s Virginia jurisdictional operations is no longer

subject to cost-based regulation, effective January 1, 2002.

Dominion’s base rates (excluding fuel costs and certain other

allowable adjustments) will remain capped until July 2007,

unless terminated sooner or otherwise modified consistent with

the Virginia Restructuring Act. Under the Act, Dominion may

request a termination of the capped rates at any time after Janu-

ary 1, 2004, and the Virginia State Corporation Commission

may grant Dominion’s request to terminate the capped rates, if

it finds that a competitive generation services market exists in

Dominion’s service area. Dominion believes capped electric

retail rates and, where applicable, wires charges provided under

the Virginia Restructuring Act provide an opportunity to

recover a portion of its potentially stranded costs, depending on

market prices of electricity and other factors. Stranded costs are

those costs incurred or commitments made by utilities under

cost-based regulation that may not be reasonably expected to be

recovered in a competitive market.

Even in the capped rate environment, Dominion remains

exposed to numerous risks, including, among others, exposure

to potentially stranded costs, future environmental compliance

requirements, changes in tax laws, inflation and increased

capital costs. At December 31, 2002, Dominion’s exposure to

potentially stranded costs included: long-term power purchase

contracts that could ultimately be determined to be above mar-

ket (see Power Purchase Contracts above); generating plants that

could possibly become uneconomic in a deregulated environ-

ment; and unfunded obligations for nuclear plant decommis-

sioning and postretirement benefits not yet recognized in the

financial statements. See Notes 16 and 26.

28 Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Substantially all of Dominion’s financial instruments are

recorded at fair value, with the exception of the instruments

described below. Fair value amounts have been determined

using available market information and valuation methodolo-

gies considered appropriate by management. Dominion reports

the following financial instruments based on historical cost

rather than fair value.

The financial instruments’ carrying amounts and fair

values as of December 31, 2002 and 2001 were as follows:

2002 2001

Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated
Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value

(millions)

Long-term debt(1) $14,185 $14,990 $13,473 $13,725
Preferred securities of 

subsidiary trusts(2)(3) 1,397 1,441 1,132 1,154

(1) Fair value is estimated using market prices, where available; otherwise,
interest rates, currently available for issuance of debt with similar terms and
remaining maturities, are used.The carrying amount of debt issues with
short-term maturities and variable rates repriced at current market rates is
a reasonable estimate of fair value.

(2) Fair value is based on market quotations.
(3) The 2002 carrying value of $1,397 million represents principal outstanding

of $1,400 million, less an unamortized discount of $3 million, and the 2001
carrying value of $1,132 million represents principal outstanding of $1,135
million, less an unamortized discount of $3 million.

29 Concentration of Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to Dominion if counter-

parties fail to perform their contractual obligations. Dominion

engages in transactions for the purchase and sale of products

and services with major companies in the energy industry and

with commercial and residential energy consumers. These

transactions principally occur in the Northeast, Midwest and

Mid-Atlantic regions of the United States. Management does

not believe that this geographic concentration contributes sig-

nificantly to Dominion’s overall exposure to credit risk. Credit

risk associated with trade accounts receivable from energy con-

sumers is limited due to the large number of customers.

Dominion maintains credit policies with respect to its

counterparties that management believes minimize overall

credit risk. Where appropriate, such policies include the evalua-

tion of a prospective counterparty’s financial condition, collat-

eral requirements and the use of standardized agreements that

facilitate the netting of cash flows associated with a single coun-

terparty. Dominion also monitors the financial condition of

existing counterparties on an ongoing basis. Dominion main-

tains a provision for credit losses based upon factors surrounding

the credit risk of its customers, historical trends and other infor-

mation. Management believes, based on Dominion’s credit
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policies and its December 31, 2002 provision for credit losses,

that it is unlikely that a material adverse effect on its financial

position, results of operations or cash flows would occur as a

result of counterparty nonperformance.

Dominion calculates its gross credit exposure for each

counterparty as the unrealized fair value of derivative and

energy trading contracts plus any outstanding receivables (net

of payables, where netting agreements exist), prior to the appli-

cation of collateral. In the calculation of net credit exposure,

Dominion’s gross exposure is reduced by collateral made avail-

able by counterparties, including letters of credit and cash

received by Dominion and held as margin deposits. Presented

below is a summary of Dominion’s gross and net credit exposure

as of December 31, 2002. The amounts presented exclude

accounts receivable for retail electric and gas sales and services,

regulated transmission services and Dominion’s provision for

credit losses.

At December 31, 2002

Credit Exposure
before Credit Net Credit

Credit Collateral Collateral Exposure

(millions)

Investment grade(1) $486 $31 $455
Non-investment grade(2) 100 24 76
No external ratings:

Internal rated—

investment grade(3) 206 — 206
Internal rated—

non-investment grade(4) 143 — 143

Total $935 $55 $880

(1) This category includes counterparties with minimum credit ratings of Baa3
assigned by Moody’s Investor Service (Moody’s) and BBB—assigned by
Standard & Poor’s Rating Group, a division of the McGraw-Hill Companies,
Inc. (Standard & Poor’s).The five largest counterparty exposures,
combined, for this category represented approximately 13 percent of the
total gross credit exposure.

(2) This category includes counterparties with credit ratings that are below
investment grade.The five largest counterparty exposures, combined,
for this category represented approximately 6 percent of the total gross
credit exposure.

(3) This category includes counterparties that have not been rated by Moody’s
or Standard & Poor’s, but are considered investment grade based on
Dominion’s evaluation of the counterparty’s creditworthiness.The five
largest counterparty exposures, combined, for this category represented
approximately 18 percent of the total gross credit exposure.

(4) This category includes counterparties that have not been rated by Moody’s
or Standard & Poor’s, and are considered non-investment grade based on
Dominion’s evaluation of the counterparty’s creditworthiness.The five
largest counterparty exposures, combined, for this category represented
approximately 3 percent of the total gross credit exposure.

30 Dominion Fiber Ventures, LLC

Dominion has a 50 percent voting interest in DFV, a joint ven-

ture with a third-party investor trust (Investor Trust). DFV was

established to fund the development of its principal investment,

Dominion Telecom, Inc. (DTI), a telecommunications busi-

ness. DTI is a facilities-based interchange and emerging local

carrier that provides broadband solutions to wholesale cus-

tomers throughout the eastern United States. Due to the veto

rights and substantive equity at risk from the Investor Trust,

Dominion’s investment in DFV is accounted for using the

equity method. See Note 31.

In connection with its formation, DFV issued $665 million

of 7.05 percent senior secured notes due March 2005 (DFV

Senior Notes).

The DFV Senior Notes were secured in part by Dominion

convertible preferred stock held in trust. Dominion was the

beneficial owner of the trust and included it in the preparation

of its Consolidated Financial Statements. Prior to Dominion’s

repurchase of substantially all of the outstanding DFV Senior

Notes in February 2003, as described below, the preferred stock

would have been subject to being remarketed in an amount

sufficient to retire the DFV Senior Notes at maturity or earlier

if the credit ratings for Dominion Resources, Inc. senior unse-

cured debt were BBB– or Baa3 during a period when the clos-

ing price of Dominion’s common stock was below $45.97 for

ten consecutive trading days. If the remarketing of the preferred

stock occurred, the convertible preferred stock would have

been considered in the calculation of diluted earnings per

share of Dominion’s common stock or could have resulted 

in the issuance of additional shares of Dominion common

stock, if converted.

At the end of 2002 and 2001, DTI and DFV had loaned

Dominion a total of $140 million and $367 million, respec-

tively, which are reported as notes payable—affiliates and securi-

ties due within one year on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. In

2002 and 2001, Dominion incurred $13 million and $23 mil-

lion of interest expense on the loans, respectively. For manage-

ment and other support services, Dominion billed DTI $35

million and $20 million in 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Subsequent Event
On January 23, 2003, Dominion and DFV made a tender and

consent offering for the DFV Senior Notes. Under the terms

of the offering, DFV sought the consent of the note holders to

remove the stock price and credit downgrade trigger described

above as well as certain other related modifications to the

indenture. Dominion offered to purchase for cash all of the out-

standing notes. The consent and tender offer was successful,
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resulting in the removal of the stock price and credit downgrade

trigger and the purchase of $633 million of the outstanding

notes by Dominion in February 2003. Dominion paid a total

of $664 million for the notes acquired, using proceeds from the

sale of $700 million of senior notes.

In connection with this transaction, Dominion and

Investor Trust agreed to certain amendments to the DFV lim-

ited liability company agreement. Pursuant to one of these

amendments, Dominion agreed that upon the earlier of the

scheduled maturity date of the DFV Senior Notes or upon cer-

tain default events, Dominion will contribute the $644 million

of DFV Senior Notes it holds to DFV in exchange for an addi-

tional equity interest in DFV.

As a result of this transaction, Dominion will consolidate

the results of DFV in its financial statements beginning in Feb-

ruary 2003. The DFV Senior Notes held by Dominion will be

eliminated in consolidation. After the transaction, $21 million

of the DFV Senior Notes remain outstanding in the hands of

third parties. Dominion will recognize a pre-tax charge of

approximately $60 million on the effective extinguishment of

the acquired notes in the first quarter of 2003. The charge will

primarily consist of the premium paid to acquire the notes, the

consent fee paid to the note holders and the write-off of

unamortized debt costs related to the original issuance of the

DFV Senior Notes. Furthermore, since Dominion holds sub-

stantially all of the DFV Senior Notes, it is unlikely that the

remarketing of the Dominion convertible preferred stock held

in trust, discussed above, would ever occur.

31 Equity Method Investments and 
Affiliated Transactions

At December 31, 2002 and 2001, Dominion’s equity method

investments totaled $503 million and $523 million, respec-

tively, and equity earnings on these investments totaled $11 mil-

lion in 2002, $36 million in 2001 and $47 million in 2000.

Dominion’s equity method investments are reported on the

Consolidated Balance Sheets in other investments. In addition,

Dominion has equity method investments that are held for sale,

representing primarily its interest in certain Australian natural

gas pipelines. As of December 31, 2002 and 2001, equity

method investments that are held for sale totaled $83 million

and $68 million, respectively, and are included in other current

assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Other than transac-

tions involving its telecommunications joint venture described

in Note 30, transactions between Dominion and its affiliates, as

well as amounts due from those affiliates, were not significant.

32 Operating Segments

Dominion manages its operations along three primary

business lines:

Dominion Energy manages Dominion’s generation portfolio,

consisting primarily of generating units and power purchase

agreements. It also manages Dominion’s energy trading and

marketing, hedging and arbitrage activities; and gas pipeline

and certain gas production and storage operations.

Dominion Delivery manages Dominion’s electric and gas

distribution systems, as well as customer service and electric

transmission. Dominion Delivery also includes Dominion’s

investment in DFV, see Note 30.

Dominion Exploration & Production manages Dominion’s

onshore and offshore gas and oil exploration, development and

production operations. Operations are located in several major

producing basins in the lower 48 states, including the outer

continental shelf and deep-water areas of the Gulf of Mexico,

and Western Canada.

Effective January 1, 2003, Dominion’s electric transmis-

sion operations will be managed by the Dominion Energy

operating segment.

In addition, Dominion also reports the operations of

DCI and Dominion’s corporate and other operations as a

segment. Amounts included in the Corporate and Other

category include:

■ corporate expenses of the Dominion and CNG holding

companies (including interest not allocated to other segments);

■ the operations of Corby (UK), prior to its sale on Septem-

ber 29, 2000 (see Note 6);

■ 2002 and 2001 restructuring costs and 2000 restructuring

and acquisition-related costs (see Note 8);

■ 2001 costs associated with termination of long-term power

purchase contracts (see Note 27);

■ 2001 provision for credit exposure in connection with

Enron bankruptcy (see Note 15);

■ 2002, 2001 and 2000 impairment and re-valuation of

certain DCI investments (see Note 9);

■ 2000 cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle

(see Note 3).

Dominion’s management evaluates performance based on a

measure of profit and loss that represents each segment’s contri-

bution to Dominion’s net income. Intersegment sales and trans-

fers are based on underlying contractual arrangements and

agreements and may result in intersegment profit or loss.
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The following table presents segment information pertaining to Dominion’s operations:

Dominion Dominion Dominion Corporate Adjustments & Consolidated
Energy Delivery E&P and Other Eliminations Total

(millions)

2002
Total revenue from external customers $5,781 $2,526 $1,629 $ 215 $ 67 $10,218
Intersegment revenue 159 26 90 568 (843)

Total operating revenue 5,940 2,552 1,719 783 (776) 10,218
Interest and related charges 258 202 88 653 (256) 945
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 368 328 502 60 — 1,258
Equity in earnings of equity method investees 29 (32) 5 9 — 11
Income tax expense (benefit) 462 236 165 (182) — 681
Net income 770 455 380 (243) — 1,362
Investment in equity method investees 216 74 53 160 — 503
Capital expenditures 836 455 1,492 45 — 2,828
Total assets (billions) $ 15.5 $ 8.2 $ 7.8 $15.1 $ (8.7) $ 37.9

2001
Total revenue from external customers $6,001 $2,948 $1,354 $ 255 — $10,558
Intersegment revenue 143 15 106 626 $ (890)

Total operating revenue 6,144 2,963 1,460 881 (890) 10,558
Interest and related charges 292 225 64 621 (205) 997
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 379 339 364 163 — 1,245
Equity in earnings of equity method investees 39 (3) 5 (5) — 36
Income tax expense (benefit) 477 200 145 (452) — 370
Net income 723 366 320 (865) — 544
Investment in equity method investees 208 102 71 142 — 523
Capital expenditures 793 435 898 42 — 2,168
Total assets (billions) $ 13.7 $ 8.0 $ 7.4 $ 10.8 $ (5.5) $ 34.4

2000
Total revenue from external customers $4,731 $2,798 $1,279 $ 438 $ 9,246
Intersegment revenue 163 28 51 398 $ (640)

Total operating revenue 4,894 2,826 1,330 836 (640) 9,246
Interest and related charges 230 221 83 519 (29) 1,024
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 340 318 352 166 — 1,176
Equity in earnings of equity method investees 23 12 12 — 47
Income tax expense (benefit) 262 187 97 (363) — 183
Net income 489 339 255 (647) — 436
Capital expenditures 330 457 751 27 — 1,565
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As of December 31, 2002 and 2001, approximately 3 and 2

percent of Dominion’s total long-lived assets, respectively,

were associated with international operations. For the years

ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, approximately 1 and 2

percent of operating revenues were associated with 

international operations.



33 Gas and Oil Producing Activities (unaudited)

Capitalized Costs
The aggregate amounts of costs capitalized for gas and oil pro-

ducing activities, and related aggregate amounts of accumulated

depreciation, depletion and amortization, at December 31,

2002 and 2001 follow:

(millions) 2002 2001

Capitalized costs of:

Proved properties $6,265 $4,707
Unproved properties 1,440 1,508

7,705 6,215

Accumulated depreciation of:

Proved properties 1,212 447
Unproved properties 151 120

1,363 567

Net capitalized costs $6,342 $5,648

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Continued

Total Costs Incurred
The following costs were incurred in gas and oil producing activities during the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000:

2002 2001 2000

United United United 
Total States Canada Total States Canada Total States Canada

(millions)

Property acquisition costs:

Proved properties $ 243 $ 243 — $1,586 $1,586 — $1,475 $1,459 $16
Unproved properties 177 170 $ 7 908 897 $ 11 125 125 —

420 413 7 2,494 2,483 11 1,600 1,584 16
Exploration costs 267 260 7 305 305 159 115 44
Development costs(1) 760 679 81 512 395 117 261 236 25

Total $1,447 $1,352 $95 $3,311 $3,183 $128 $2,020 $1,935 $85

(1) Development costs incurred for proved undeveloped reserves were $223 million and $133 million for 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Results of Operations
Dominion cautions that the following standardized disclosures required by the FASB do not represent the results of operations

based on its historical financial statements. In addition to requiring different determinations of revenue and costs, the disclosures

exclude the impact of interest expense and corporate overhead.

2002 2001 2000

United United United 
Total States Canada Total States Canada Total States Canada

(millions)

Revenue (net of royalties) from:

Sales to nonaffiliated companies $1,396 $1,257 $139 $1,144 $ 920 $224 $861 $691 $170
Transfers to other operations 97 97 — 114 114 — 93 93 —

Total 1,493 1,354 139 1,258 1,034 224 954 784 170

Less:

Production (lifting) costs 272 220 52 220 162 58 158 133 25
Depreciation, depletion 

and amortization 502 452 50 358 307 51 345 294 51
Income tax expense 222 209 13 208 162 46 134 93 41

Results of operations $ 497 $ 473 $ 24 $ 472 $ 403 $ 69 $317 $264 $ 53
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Company-Owned Reserves
Estimated net quantities of proved gas and oil (including condensate) reserves in the United States and Canada at December 31,

2002, 2001 and 2000, and changes in the reserves during those years, are shown in the two schedules which follow.

2002 2001 2000

United United United 
Total States Canada Total States Canada Total States Canada

(billion cubic feet)

Proved developed and undeveloped 
reserves—Gas

At January 1 4,090 3,517 573 2,337 1,858 479 1,114 600 514
Changes in reserves:

Extensions, discoveries and 

other additions 874 769 105 503 394 109 274 232 42
Revisions of previous estimates 158 145 13 (24) (64) 40 (89) (59) (30)
Production (399) (346) (53) (295) (238) (57) (269) (222) (47)
Purchases of gas in place 381 379 2 1,578 1,576 2 1,322 1,322 —
Sales of gas in place (6) (6) — (9) (9) — (15) (15) —

At December 31 5,098 4,458 640 4,090 3,517 573 2,337 1,858 479

Proved developed reserves—Gas
At January 1 3,466 3,026 440 1,954 1,593 361 1,005 600 405
At December 31 4,035 3,549 486 3,466 3,026 440 1,954 1,593 361

2002 2001 2000

United United United 
Total States Canada Total States Canada Total States Canada

(thousands of barrels)

Proved developed and undeveloped 
reserves—Oil

At January 1 140,567 115,988 24,579 75,342 51,072 24,270 20,808 659 20,149
Changes in reserves:

Extensions, discoveries and 

other additions 24,326 24,273 53 40,676 37,401 3,275 14,213 12,813 1,400
Revisions of previous estimates 11,165 4,293 6,872 (1,617) (165) (1,452) (5,082) (2,443) (2,639)

Production (9,725) (8,653) (1,072) (7,663) (6,134) (1,529) (7,694) (6,436) (1,258)

Purchases of oil in place 2,928 2,928 — 34,619 34,604 15 54,977 48,359 6,618
Sales of oil in place (31) (31) — (790) (790) — (1,880) (1,880) —

At December 31 169,230 138,798 30,432 140,567 115,988 24,579 75,342 51,072 24,270

Proved developed reserves—Oil
At January 1 63,777 46,473 17,304 36,236 21,709 14,527 6,102 659 5,443
At December 31 65,823 47,759 18,064 63,777 46,473 17,304 36,236 21,709 14,527
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Continued

Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flows and Changes Therein
The following tabulation has been prepared in accordance with the FASB’s rules for disclosure of a standardized measure of dis-

counted future net cash flows relating to proved gas and oil reserve quantities owned by Dominion.

2002 2001 2000

United United United 
Total States Canada Total States Canada Total States Canada

(millions)

Future cash inflows $28,337 $25,344 $2,993 $12,350 $11,161 $1,189 $23,602 $19,117 $4,485
Less:

Future development costs(1) 1,092 1,005 87 845 770 75 503 405 98
Future production costs 3,603 2,979 624 3,571 3,091 480 2,055 1,540 515
Future income tax expense (benefit) 7,582 6,904 678 1,917 2,026 (109) 7,145 5,591 1,554

Future cash flows 16,060 14,456 1,604 6,017 5,274 743 13,899 11,581 2,318
Less annual discount (10% a year) 8,255 7,436 819 2,804 2,513 291 5,723 4,622 1,101

Standardized measure of discounted 

future net cash flows(2) $ 7,805 $ 7,020 $ 785 $ 3,213 $ 2,761 $ 452 $ 8,176 $ 6,959 $1,217

(1) Estimated future development costs, excluding abandonment, for proven undeveloped reserves are estimated to be $236 million, $239 million and $203 million
for 2003, 2004 and 2005, respectively.

(2) Amounts exclude the effect of derivative instruments designated as hedges of future sales of production at year end.
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In the foregoing determination of future cash inflows, sales

prices for gas and oil were based on contractual arrangements

or market prices at year-end. Future costs of developing and

producing the proved gas and oil reserves reported at the end

of each year shown were based on costs determined at each

such year end, assuming the continuation of existing economic

conditions. Future income taxes were computed by applying

the appropriate year-end or future statutory tax rate to future

pretax net cash flows, less the tax basis of the properties

involved, and giving effect to tax deductions, permanent

differences and tax credits.

It is not intended that the FASB’s standardized measure of

discounted future net cash flows represent the fair market value

of Dominion’s proved reserves. Dominion cautions that the dis-

closures shown are based on estimates of proved reserve quanti-

ties and future production schedules which are inherently

imprecise and subject to revision, and the 10 percent discount

rate is arbitrary. In addition, costs and prices as of the measure-

ment date are used in the determinations, and no value may be

assigned to probable or possible reserves.

The following tabulation is a summary of changes between

the total standardized measure of discounted future net cash

flows at the beginning and end of each year.

2002 2001 2000

(millions)

Standardized measure of discounted future 

net cash flows at January 1 $ 3,213 $ 8,176 $ 549
Changes in the year resulting from:

Sales and transfers of gas and oil produced 

during the year, less production costs (1,221) (1,038) (796)
Prices and production and development 

costs related to future production 3,975 (9,793) 9,544
Extensions, discoveries and other additions, 

less production and development costs 2,039 767 1,602
Previously estimated development costs 

incurred during the year 223 134 82
Revisions of previous quantity estimates (152) 62 (778)
Accretion of discount 426 1,117 259
Income taxes (2,639) 2,949 (3,309)

Acquisition of Louis Dreyfus and CNG 1,347 1,322
Other purchases and sales of proved 

reserves in place 799 102 994
Other (principally timing of production) 1,142 (610) (1,293)

Standardized measure of discounted future 

net cash flows at December 31 $ 7,805 $ 3,213 $ 8,176



34 Quarterly Financial and Common Stock Data (unaudited)

A summary of the quarterly results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 follows. Amounts reflect all

adjustments, consisting of only normal recurring accruals, necessary in the opinion of management for a fair statement of the

results for the interim periods. Results for interim periods may fluctuate as a result of weather conditions, changes in rates and other

factors. Amounts for 2001 reflect certain reclassifications to conform to the 2002 presentation.

First Second Third Fourth Full
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year

(millions, except per share amounts)

2002
Operating revenue $2,634 $2,332 $2,545 $2,707 $10,218
Income from operations 711 625 836 713 2,885
Net income 322 272 430 338 1,362

Earnings per share—basic 1.21 0.98 1.55 1.12 4.85

Earnings per share—diluted 1.20 0.97 1.54 1.12 4.82

Dividends paid per share 0.645 0.645 0.645 0.645 2.58
Common stock prices (high-low) $65.97-56.39 $67.06-60.59 $66.15-47.97 $55.74-35.40

2001
Operating revenue $3,198 $2,309 $2,544 $2,507 $10,558
Income from operations 496 518 780 (9) 1,785
Net income (loss) 162 155 344 (117) 544

Earnings (loss) per share—basic 0.66 0.63 1.38 (0.45) 2.17

Earnings (loss) per share—diluted 0.65 0.62 1.37 (0.45) 2.15

Dividends paid per share 0.645 0.645 0.645 0.645 2.58
Common stock prices (high-low) $68-55.31 $69.99-59.47 $64.15-55.13 $62.97-55.30
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The management of Dominion Resources, Inc. is responsible

for all information and representations contained in the

Consolidated Financial Statements and other sections of the

annual report. The Consolidated Financial Statements, which

include amounts based on estimates and judgments of manage-

ment, have been prepared in conformity with accounting prin-

ciples generally accepted in the United States of America. Other

financial information in the annual report is consistent with

that in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Management maintains a system of internal controls

designed to provide reasonable assurance, at a reasonable cost,

that Dominion’s and its subsidiaries’ assets are safeguarded

against loss from unauthorized use or disposition and that

transactions are executed and recorded in accordance with

established procedures. Management recognizes the inherent

limitations of any system of internal control, and therefore

cannot provide absolute assurance that the objectives of the

established internal controls will be met.

This system includes written policies, an organizational

structure designed to ensure appropriate segregation of responsi-

bilities, careful selection and training of qualified personnel

and internal audits. Management believes that during 2002

the system of internal control was adequate to accomplish the

intended objectives.

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been audited

by Deloitte & Touche LLP, independent auditors, who were

designated by the Board. Their audits were conducted in

accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the

United States of America and include a review of Dominion’s

and its subsidiaries’ accounting systems, procedures and inter-

nal controls, and the performance of tests and other auditing

procedures sufficient to provide reasonable assurance that

the Consolidated Financial Statements are not materially

misleading and do not contain material errors.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of

Dominion Resources, Inc., composed entirely of directors who

are not officers or employees of Dominion Resources, Inc. or its

subsidiaries, meets periodically with the independent auditors,

the internal auditors and management to discuss auditing,

internal accounting control and financial reporting matters

of Dominion and to ensure that each is properly discharging

its responsibilities. Both independent auditors and the internal

auditors periodically meet alone with the Audit Committee and

have free access to the Committee at any time.

Management recognizes its responsibility for fostering a

strong ethical climate so that Dominion’s affairs are conducted

according to the highest standards of personal corporate con-

duct. This responsibility is characterized and reflected in

Dominion’s code of ethics, which addresses potential conflicts

of interest, compliance with all domestic and foreign laws, the

confidentiality of proprietary information, and full disclosure

of public information.

Dominion Resources, Inc.

Thos. E. Capps

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

Thomas N. Chewning

Executive Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer

Steven A. Rogers

Vice President, Controller and

Principal Accounting Officer

Report of Management’s Responsibilities
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To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of

Dominion Resources, Inc.

Richmond, Virginia

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets

of Dominion Resources, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December

31, 2002 and 2001, and the related consolidated statements

of income, comprehensive income, common shareholders’

equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period

ended December 31, 2002. These financial statements are the

responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibil-

ity is to express an opinion on these financial statements based

on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing stan-

dards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those

standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain

reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements

are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining,

on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures

in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing

the accounting principles used and significant estimates made

by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial

statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a

reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements

present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of

Dominion Resources, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31,

2002 and 2001, and the results of their operations and their

cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended

December 31, 2002, in conformity with accounting principles

generally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Note 18 to the consolidated financial state-

ments, effective January 1, 2002, the Company adopted State-

ment of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill
and Other Intangible Assets. As discussed in Note 15 to the

consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2001,

the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting

Standards No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities, as amended. Also, as discussed in Note 3 to

the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its

method of accounting used to develop the market-related value

of pension plan assets in 2000.

Richmond, Virginia

January 21, 2003

(February 19, 2003 as to the last two paragraphs of the Lease

Commitments section of Note 27 and February 21, 2003 as to

the last three paragraphs of Note 30)

Independent Auditors’ Report
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Thos. E. Capps, 67
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

William S. Barrack, Jr., 73
Former Senior Vice President, Texaco, Inc.

Peter W. Brown, M.D., 60
Physician, Virginia Surgical Associates 

Ronald J. Calise, 54
Former Managing Director, Global Power Industry Group,

Investment Banking Division, Lehman Brothers

George A. Davidson, Jr., 64
Retired Chairman, Dominion Resources, Inc.

John W. Harris, 55
President, Lincoln Harris, LLC (real estate consulting firm)

Benjamin J. Lambert, III, 66
Optometrist

Richard L. Leatherwood, 63
Retired President and Chief Executive Officer, CSX Equipment

Margaret A. McKenna, 57
President, Lesley University

Steven A. Minter, 64
President and Executive Director,

The Cleveland Foundation (community foundation)

Kenneth A. Randall, 75
Corporate director of various companies

Frank S. Royal, M.D., 63
Physician

S. Dallas Simmons, 63
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer,

Dallas Simmons & Associates (management consulting firm)

Robert H. Spilman, 75
President, Spilman Properties, Inc. (private investments)

David A.Wollard, 65
Founding Chairman of the Board, Emeritus, Exempla Healthcare

Directors
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Thomas F. Farrell, II, 48
Executive Vice President

(President and Chief Executive Officer, Dominion Energy)

Jay L. Johnson, 56
Executive Vice President

(President and Chief Executive Officer, Dominion Delivery)

Duane C. Radtke, 54
Executive Vice President

(President and Chief Executive Officer,

Dominion Exploration & Production)

Thomas N. Chewning, 57
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Paul D. Koonce, 43
(Chief Executive Officer—Transmission, Dominion Energy)

Mark F. McGettrick, 45
(President and Chief Executive Officer—Generation, 

Dominion Energy)

Mary C. Doswell, 44
Senior Vice President and Chief Administrative Officer

(President, Dominion Resources Services)

Eva S. Hardy, 58
Senior Vice President—External Affairs 

& Corporate Communications

G. Scott Hetzer, 46
Senior Vice President and Treasurer

James L. Sanderlin, 61
Senior Vice President—Law

William C. Hall, Jr., 49
Vice President—External Affairs & Corporate Communications

Simon C. Hodges, 41
Vice President—Financial Planning

Karen E. Hunter, 48
Vice President—Tax

Steven A. Rogers, 41
Vice President, Controller and Principal Accounting Officer

James F. Stutts, 58
Vice President and General Counsel

Patricia A.Wilkerson, 47
Vice President and Corporate Secretary

Officers
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Dominion Resources Services, Inc. is the transfer agent and 

registrar for Dominion’s common stock. Our Shareholder 

Services staff provides personal assistance for any inquiries

Monday through Friday from 9a.m. to noon and from 1 p.m. to

4 p.m. (ET). In addition, automated information is available 

24 hours a day through our voice response system.

1-800-552-4034 (toll free)

1-804-775-2500

Major press releases and other company information may be

obtained by visiting our Web site at www.dom.com.

Shareholders may also obtain account-specific information by

visiting this site. To sign up for this service, visit www.dom.com

and click on “Investors;” then point to “Stock Information”

and select “Access Your Account.” Once you have accessed the

sign-in page, click on “First Time Visitor” in the upper left 

corner of the screen and follow the directions for “New

Member Sign Up.” After you have signed up, you will be able 

to monitor your account, make changes and review your

Dominion Direct® statements at your convenience.

Direct Stock Purchase Plan
You may buy Dominion common stock directly from the 

company through Dominion Direct. Please contact

Shareholder Services for a prospectus and enrollment form or

visit www.dom.com.

Common Stock Listing
New York Stock Exchange

Trading symbol: D

Common Stock Price Range

2002 2001

High Low High Low

First Quarter 65.97 56.39 68.00 55.31
Second Quarter 67.06 60.59 69.99 59.47
Third Quarter 66.15 47.97 64.15 55.13
Fourth Quarter 55.74 35.40 62.97 55.30

Year 67.06 35.40 69.99 55.13

Dividends on Dominion common stock are paid as declared 

by the board. Dividends are typically paid on the 20th of

March, June, September and December. Dividends can be paid

by check or electronic deposit, or they may be reinvested.

At December 31, 2002, there were approximately 180,000 regis-

tered shareholders, including approximately 88,000 certificate

holders.

Shareholder Information

Annual Meeting
The 2003 Annual Meeting of Shareholders of Dominion

Resources, Inc. will be held Friday, April 25 at 9:30 a.m. 

at Dominion’s Innsbrook Technical Center located at 5000

Dominion Boulevard, Glen Allen, Virginia.

Corporate Street Address
Dominion Resources, Inc.

120 Tredegar Street

Richmond, Virginia 23219

Mailing Address
Dominion Resources, Inc.

P.O. Box 26532

Richmond, Virginia 23261-6532

Web Site
www.dom.com

Dominion’s Annual Report is on the Web site,

Search Keyword: Annual Report

Independent Auditors
Deloitte & Touche LLP

Richmond, Virginia

Shareholder Inquiries
Shareholder_Services@dom.com

Dominion Resources Services, Inc.

Shareholder Services

P.O. Box 26532

Richmond, Virginia 23261-6532

Additional Information
Copies of Dominion’s reports on Form 10-K, Form 10-Q and

Form 8-K are available without charge. These items can be

viewed by visiting www.dom.com, or requests for these items

can be made by writing to:

Investor Relations Department

Dominion Resources, Inc.

P.O. Box 26532

Richmond, Virginia 23261-6532

Or by e-mail to:

Investor_Relations@dom.com

Electronic Reports
Our proxy statement and annual report are available electroni-

cally. Please refer to the proxy card that was mailed to 

shareholders with this annual report for more information.
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Dominion Resources is one of the

nation’s leading energy companies.

We’re traded under the symbol “D”on the New York Stock Exchange and 

are proud to have the confidence of more than 350,000 shareholders. 

We’re also privileged to serve 5 million retail energy customers in nine states.

As one of the nation’s largest producers of natural gas and electric power,

we’re an established wholesale energy marketer.

Integrated
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